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PART |

Forward-Looking Statements and Market Data

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwaaibking statements” within the meaning of SectioA 7 the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21theoSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetthedExchange Act. All statements other
than statements of historical facts contained im Amnual Report on Form 10-K, including statemeaetgarding our future results of operations
and financial position, business strategy, prospegroducts, product approvals, research and dpwsnt costs, timing and likelihood of
success, plans and objectives of management farefoperations, and future results of current ariiti@ated products are forward-looking
statements. These statements involve known andowrknisks, uncertainties and other important facthat may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially déffefrom any future results, performance or achiexats expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statement. The forward-looking staents are contained principally in the sectioniled “Risk Factors,” “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations” and “Business.” In some sageu can identify forward-looking
statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “sholltéxpect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend, “target,” “project,” “contemplates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” dcontinue” or the negative of these terms or other similaresgions. Although we believe
expectations reflected in these forward-lookingesteents are reasonable, such statements are itlgenginject to risk and we can give no
assurances that our expectations will prove todoeect. Given these risks, uncertainties and déagiors, you should not place undue reliance
on these forward-looking statements, which spedk as of the date of this Annual Report on FormKLO¢ou should read this Annual Report
on Form 10-K completely. As a result of many fastancluding without limitation those set forth wndRisk Factors” under Item 1A of this
Part | below, and elsewhere in this Annual ReporForm 10-K, our actual results may differ matdyifdlom those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements. Except as requiredgpfieable law, we undertake no obligation to updhtese forward-looking statements to
reflect events or circumstances after the datisfreport or to reflect actual outcomes. For aiard-looking statements, we claim the
protection of the safe harbor for forward-lookingtements contained in the Private Securities afitign Reform Act of 1995.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains eatés, projections and other information concermngindustry, our business, and the
markets for EVKO01, including data regarding the estimated sizha$e markets, their projected growth rates,ibelence of certain medic
conditions, statements that certain drugs or ctasbdrugs are the most widely prescribed in théddinStates or other markets, the perception
and preferences of patients and physicians regauagirtain therapies and other prescription, presciand patient data, as well as data
regarding market research, estimates and forepespaired by our management. Information that isdas estimates, forecasts, projections,
market research or similar methodologies is inhifyresubject to uncertainties and actual eventsroumstances may differ materially from
events and circumstances reflected in this infoionatJnless otherwise expressly stated, we obtatinedndustry, business, market and other
data from reports, research surveys, studies anithsidata prepared by market research firms ahdrdhird parties, industry, medical and
general publications, government data and simdarces

We use our registered trademark, EVOKE PHARMA his Annual Report on Form 10-K. This Annual ReportForm 10-K also includes
trademarks, tradenames and service marks thabagoperty of other organizations. Solely for camence, trademarks and tradenames
referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K agpeithout the®and ™ symbols, but those references are not intetwimdicate, in any
way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extantler applicable law, our rights or that the aggilie owner will not assert its rights, to these
trademarks and tradenames.

Unless the context requires otherwise, referentdsis Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Evoke,” “wélis” and “our” refer to Evoke Pharma,
Inc.

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focusathgly on the development of drugs to treat gaistestinal, or Gl, disorders and
diseases. We are developing EVK-001, a metocloglamasal spray for the relief of symptoms assotiaiéh acute and recurrent diabetic
gastroparesis in women with diabetes mellitus. Bligtgastroparesis is a Gl disorder afflicting rils of sufferers worldwide in which the
stomach takes too long to empty its contents riespilh serious digestive system symptoms. Metoeopde is the only product currently
approved in the United States to treat gastropgrasd is currently available only in oral andawgnous forms. EVK-001 is a novel
formulation of this drug, designed to provide systedelivery of metoclopramide through intranasdthinistration.

Gastroparesis is a condition of delayed gastrictgimg in the absence of mechanical obstruction.ti®paresis results in food remaining in the
stomach for a longer time than normal, yieldingaaety of symptoms. Gastroparesis is a common prolih individuals with diabetes, but a

is observed in patients with prior gastric surgarpreceding infectious iliness, pseudo-obstructioliagen vascular disorders and anorexia
nervosa. According to the American Motility Socidtgsk Force on Gastroparesis, the prevalence tfogasesis is estimated to be up to 49
the United States population. Symptoms of gastegiainclude nausea,
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vomiting, abdominal pain, bloating, early satidack of appetite, and weight loss. The disorderlead to considerable pain and discomfort,
poor nutrition, impaired glycemic control and dinsimed quality of life. According to a 2008 studybfished in the American Journal of
Gastroenterology, it is estimated that hospitalimatosts associated with gastroparesis exceedoiBdm annually.

We believe intranasal administration has the pa@ktt offer our target gastroparesis patientsedgored treatment option because, unlike oral
metoclopramide which might be delayed in absorptioe to gastroparesis itself, EVK-001 is desigmeeftectively bypass the digestive
system and allow for more predictable drug admiai&in across the thin mucosa in the nasal caFity patients suffering from nausea and
vomiting who might not be able to absorb therapsutia oral delivery, EVK-001 is designed to allfaw rapid and predictable drug
administration through the nasal route.

We have evaluated EVK-001 in a multicenter, randemj double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel grodose-ranging Phase 2b clinical trial
in 287 patients with diabetic gastroparesis whé&r&B01 was observed to be effective in improving thost prevalent and clinically relevant
symptoms associated with gastroparesis in womelewkhibiting a favorable safety profile. In Ap2i014, we commenced a Phase 3 clinical
trial of EVK-001 in female patients with symptonssaciated with acute and recurrent diabetic gastesis. This Phase 3 clinical trial is a
multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-oalted, parallel-group study evaluating the effigagafety and population pharmacokinetics
of EVK-001 in adult female subjects with diabetastroparesis when dosed four times a day for 28.d&ke Phase 3 trial is expected to enrol
200 patients at sites across the United Statesf Rebruary 2, 2015, we had randomized 74 subjaotswe anticipate fully enrolling this trial
in the second half of 2015. We will need to sustidlyy complete this trial before we are able tbrsit a new drug application, or NDA, to the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, for EMGO-L.

We reported in December 2014 that data from artreleardiogram, or ECG, study that assessed thajaitef EVK-001 to increase the
cardiac QT and corrected QT, or QTc, interval ez@sange of plasma concentrations met the prafggaeprimary endpoint, demonstrating
that EVK-001, at therapeutic and supratherapewtsesd, did not prolong the QT/QTc interval in heakhbjects. The QT interval represents
the amount of time the heart’s electrical systekesao repolarize, or recharge, after each bedtfteanQTc interval represents the QT interval
corrected for differences in heart rate. Proloragatf the QT interval may increase the risk fod@e arrhythmias. A thorough ECG (QT)
study is a specialized clinical trial designed $eess whether an investigational medication hapdtential to prolong the QT interval.

We are also conducting a companion clinical tridhveVK-001 in male patients with symptoms assaawith acute and recurrent diabetic
gastroparesis to assess the safety and efficagy§f001 in men. The male companion trial was atéd in May 2014 and is designed
similarly to the Phase 3 trial in women. Thisltvies requested by the FDA, but is not requiredstdsmission of the EVK-001 NDA for
women; however, we expect to include safety datanfthis trial in our NDA submission.

Business Strategy

Our objective is to develop and bring to marketoieis to treat acute and chronic Gl motility disedthat are not satisfactorily treated with
current therapies and that represent significamketapportunities. Our business strategy is to:

e  Continue development and pursue regulatory appréalE VK-001.We are currently conducting a Phase 3 trial of EMK- in female
patients suffering from diabetic gastroparesis,chtif successful, will allow us to file an NDA withe FDA.

e  Seek partnerships to accelerate and maximize ttengial for EVK-001As we continue to generate data on EVK-001, wesaeking
partnering opportunities with pharmaceutical conipsauthat have established development and salesiarigeting capabilities to
potentially enhance and accelerate the developam@htommercialization of EV-001.

e  Explore building irhouse capabilities to potentially commercializeke®01 in the United StateAs EVK-001 progresses through its
Phase 3 clinical program, in addition to partnepgortunities, we are evaluating the developméntio own specialty sales force
and marketing capabilities to allow us to directigrket EVK-001 in the United States, if approved by the FI

e  Explore regulatory approval of E\-001 outside the United State¥/e will initially seek approval of EVK-001 in tHénited States
and then will evaluate the market opportunity ihestcountries

e  Evaluate the development and/or commercializatiootlver therapies for Gl motility disorde. Similar to our initial focus on
gastroparesis, we will evaluate opportunities tidanse or acquire other product candidates, disase&eommercial products, to treat
patients suffering from predominantly Gl disordesseking to identify areas of high unmet medica&dsewith limited treatment
options.




The Gastrointestinal Market

The health of the Gl system has a major effectroimdividual's daily activities and quality of lifé\ retrospective review published by the
National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive andri€y Diseases estimated that in 2004 there were than 72 million ambulatory care vis
with a diagnosis of a Gl disorder in the Unitedt&aalone. The annual cost of these Gl disorde28@4, not including digestive cancers and
viral diseases, was estimated to be greater tha# Billion in direct and indirect expenditures,luding hospital, physician and nursing serv
as well as over-the-counter and prescription drugs.

In 2004, the total cost of Gl prescription drugshia United States was $12.3 billion, and over béthis cost ($7.7 billion) was associated v
drugs prescribed for Gastroesophageal Reflux DéiseasGERD. Peptic Ulcer disease, hepatitis Gabie bowel syndrome, or IBS, and
inflammatory bowel disease were major contributorthe remaining drug cost. Historically Gl proddetvelopment efforts have focused on
indications with the largest patient populationstsas GERD, constipation, peptic ulcers and IBSaAasult, limited innovation has occurred
in other segments of the Gl market, such as uppendility disorders, even though these disordéfsca several million patients worldwide.
Consequently, due to the limited treatment optirailable for upper Gl motility disorders, we bebethere is a substantial market opportunity
for us to address significant unmet medical nemitially for diabetic gastroparesis.

Gl Motility Disorders

Motility disorders are one of the most common Glodders. Motility disorders affect the orderly aaations or relaxation of the Gl tract whi
move contents forward and prevent backwards egféssis important in the normal movement of fobtbugh the Gl tract. Motility disorders
are sometimes referred to as functional Gl disartiehighlight that many abnormalities in stomaahction can occur even when anatomic
structures appear normal. Functional Gl disordfexthe upper and lower Gl tract and include ggsresis, GERD, functional dyspepsia,
constipation and IBS. It has been estimated byriteznational Foundation for Functional Gastroitited Disorders that one in four people in
the United States suffer from functional Gl disasjdaving symptoms such as abdominal pain, nausedting, constipation, diarrhea,
bloating, decreased appetite, early satiety, swallg difficulties, heartburn and/or incontinence.

Gastroparesis

Gastroparesis is a debilitating, chronic conditivet has a significant impact on patients’ livéss characterized by slow or delayed gastric
emptying and evidence of gastric retention in theeace of mechanical obstruction. Muscular coritrastin the stomach, which move food
into the intestine, may be too slow, out of rhytbntease altogether. The following graph depiatstitning associated the emptying of solids
in patients with diabetic gastroparesis compareatbtonal individuals:

consumed)

>ial

Solids In Stomach (% of &

Liguids or

Hours

Camallens M. New Eogland Journal of Medscme 200

The stomach is a muscular sac between the esophaduke small intestine where the digestion ofifbegins. The stomach makes acids anc
enzymes referred to as gastric juices which aredhivith food by the churning action of the stomaulscles. Peristalsis is the contraction anc
relaxation of the stomach muscles to physicallyakdewn food and propel it forward. The crushed aaixed food is liquefied to form chyme
and is pushed through the pyloric canal into thalsmtestine in a controlled and regulated manner.

In gastroparesis, the stomach does not perforne thegtions normally, causing characteristic symsdahat include nausea, vomiting, early
satiety, bloating and abdominal pain. As a resithese symptoms, patients may limit their food Agdid intake leading to poor nutrition and
dehydration with the patient ultimately requiringsipitalization. If left untreated or not adequately
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treated, gastroparesis causes significant acutelaodic medical problems, including additionall#itic complications resulting from poor
glucose control.

Gastroparesisin the Hospital Setting

When patients experience a flare of their gastegiarsymptoms that cannot be adequately managedhbgedications, they may be
hospitalized for hydration, parenteral nutritiondacorrection of abnormal blood glucose or elegteolevels. In this setting, intravenous
metoclopramide is the first line of treatment. Toglly, these diabetic patients with severe gastegis symptoms remain in the hospital until
they are stabilized and able to be effectivelytadavith oral metoclopramide. These hospitalizegiare costly and expose patients to increase
risks, including hospital-acquired infections. Tiember of patients with gastroparesis that reduiigpitalization due to their disease is
growing, according to a study published in #raerican Journal of Gastroenterology2008. Additionally, the study reported, from 539
2004, total hospitalizations with a primary diagisa¥ gastroparesis increased 158%. Hospital adomis$or patients with gastroparesis as the
secondary diagnosis increased 136%. The averagthlefistay for a patient is approximately six dayan estimated cost of approximately
$22,000. Compared to the other four most commoreu@b admission diagnoses (GERD, gastric ulcettrigigsor nonspecific
nausea/vomiting), gastroparesis had the longegthesf stay and one of the highest total chargestag. Additionally, the study estimates that
costs associated with gastroparesis as the priovagcondary diagnosis for admission exceededi$iticn in 2004.

A study of patients in clinics at the UniversityRittsburgh Medical Center between January 2004Dswdmber 2008, published in theurnal
of Gastroenterology and Hepatologghowed that patients with diabetic or post-swaigiastroparesis had significantly more emergenoynr
visits than other gastroparesis groups. The steihfarced the view that gastroparesis constitutgigrificant burden for patients and the
healthcare system, with more than one-third ofgdisi requiring hospitalization. The number of eraany room visits and annual days of
inpatient treatment were comparable to patients ®iohn’s disease. The study indicated that patieteived an average of 6.7 prescriptions
on admission. Eighty percent of the patients idieatiin the University of Pittsburgh study were wem

Etiology

Gastroparesis can be a manifestation of many sysi#nesses, arise as a complication of seleagisat procedures, or develop due to
unknown causes. Any disease inducing neuromusdytdunction of the Gl tract can result in gastr@s#s, with diabetes being one of the
leading known causes. In a 2007 study publishecliment Gastroenterology Report&9% of gastroparesis cases were found in asgotiat
with diabetes, 13% developed as a complicatiorugfexyy and 36% were due to unknown causes. Acogtdithe American Motility Society
Task Force on Gastroparesis, up to 4% of the WhBulption experiences symptomatic manifestatiorgasfroparesis. As the incidence of
diabetes rises worldwide, the prevalence of gaategis is expected to rise correspondingly.

The most common identified cause of gastroparsgisabetes mellitus. The underlying mechanism albelic gastroparesis is unknown, tho

it is thought to be related in part to neuropattianges in the vagus nerve and/or the myentenagld’rolonged elevated serum glucose le
are also associated with vagus nerve damage. Tthesverve controls the movement of food throughdtgestive tract and when it is
damaged, movement of food through the Gl tracelayed. The prevalence of diabetes in the UnitateStis rapidly rising, with the Centers
for Disease Control estimating that one in ten sdedrrently suffer from the disease. Sedentaegtifies, poor dietary habits and a consequer
rising prevalence of obesity are expected to céhiseaumber to grow substantially.

According to a study published in teurnal of Gastrointestinal and Liver Diseasesluly 2010, between 25% and 55% of Type 1 and 15%
and 30% of Type 2 diabetics suffer from symptonsoemted with the condition and diabetics are 29% e total gastroparesis population. A
2007 study published i@urrent Gastroenterology Reportates that approximately 36% of gastroparesigpitisuffer from idiopathic
gastroparesis. The development of idiopathic gpatesis is thought to be related to loss of my@ntgamglion cells in the distal large bowel
(myenteric hypoganglionosis) and reduction in titeristitial cells of Cajal, which help control caatttion of the smooth muscle in the Gl tract.
Post-surgical gastroparesis is a smaller subg&eadbtal patient pool and accounts for approxifgat8% of all cases of the disease, according
to a 2007 study published in Current GastroentgsolReports. Posturgical gastroparesis is often associated withigefcer surgery, bariatr
procedures or esophageal procedures and is thtugigult from damage/desensitization of the vamrse.

Prevalence

In 2012, the American Diabetes Association estich#ttat diabetes affects approximately 29.1 milli@ople of all ages in the United States,
equating to about 9.3% of the U.S. population. Baseprevalence data, the potential gastroparasisr pool in the United States is
approximately 12 to 16 million adults with womenkimay up 82% of this population, according to a 280xdy published i€urrent
Gastroenterology ReportsThere are 2.3 million diabetic patients with m@de or severe gastroparesis symptoms who arengeekatment in
the United States by a health care professionafrding to a study presented at the Digestive Bis&deek 2013 conference in Orlando,
Florida. When patients do receive treatment fotrgagaresis, multiple medications are frequentlyduse
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address the individual symptoms of gastroparesisekample, patients may receive anti-emetics &misea and vomiting and opioids for
abdominal pain, which can exacerbate delayed gammptying in patients with gastroparesis.

Unmet Needs in Gastroparesis Treatment

Market research and physician interviews demoresthett existing treatment options for diabetic gasiresis are inadequate and there is a
level of interest in effective outpatient optioms Managing patients with gastroparesis symptoins.riarket is currently served by oral and
intravenous metoclopramide, and the oral disintéggdablet, or ODT, formulation of metoclopramifietozolv® ODT), with approximately

5 million prescriptions in the United States pearyeccording to IMS Health. Due to the limited itadzility of FDA-approved treatments for
gastroparesis, physicians resort to using meditsitioff-label” in an attempt to address individsgmptoms experienced by patients. Off-labe
therapies are pharmaceuticals prescribed by playsidor an unapproved indication or in an unapp@ge group, unapproved dose or
unapproved form of administration. Examples of druged without FDA approval in gastroparesis inelad/thromycin and Botokinjected

via endoscopic procedure directly into the lowestga sphincter. Previously-approved drugs, suctisepride and tegaserod, are no longer
commercially available in the United States becaisafety concerns. Domperidone has never beemegq by the FDA but is obtained
through certain compounding pharmacies for indiglichatients under special FDA usage rules.

EVK-001 is a non-oral, promotility and anti-emetieatment that we believe has the potential toifiogmtly improve the standard of care for
female gastroparesis patients. If metoclopramidmingpray is approved for diabetic gastroparesigomen, patients and physicians will have
access to an outpatient therapy that could be ast@iad and absorbed even when patients are erperiedelayed gastric emptying or nauses
and vomiting.

Our Solution: EVK-001 (Metoclopramide Nasal Spray)

We are developing EVK-001, a dopamine antagoniskéd 5-HT3 antagonist / 5-HT4 agonist with prortigtiand anti-emetic effects, for the
relief of symptoms associated with acute and reciiiabetic gastroparesis in women with diabetellitors. Since its approval in 1980, oral
and intravenous metoclopramide have been the antjusts approved in the United States to treargpatesis. EVK-001 is a novel
formulation of metoclopramide offering systemicidety by intranasal administration.

We are developing the intranasal formulation ofounketpramide to provide our targeted patients withte or recurrent symptoms of diabetic
gastroparesis with a product that can be systelyidalivered as an alternative to the oral or imérgous routes of administration. Intranasal
delivery is possible because the mucosa of thd nasdty is a single epithelial cell layer whichviell vascularized and allows metoclopramide
molecules to be transferred directly to the systezitculation. There is no first pass liver metédol required prior to onset of action. Since
gastroparesis is a disease that halts or slomntvement of the contents of the stomach to thelsnasktine, oral drug administration is often
compromised. Unlike the oral tablet formulatiomeétoclopramide, we believe that EVK-001 may bertikd even when patients are
experiencing nausea and vomiting. The intranasalditation may also provide a predictable and caestesmeans of delivering
metoclopramide in patients with delayed gastric ging and/or frequent vomiting.

A nasal spray formulation of metoclopramide coufgan alternative route of administration for fale patients with severe symptoms of
diabetic gastroparesis receiving the parenterabddation of metoclopramide. Following hospitalizatifor intravenous metoclopramide, a
nasal spray formulation would also provide a noa-option for the transition to an outpatient treant.

Phase 2b Clinical Trial

We have evaluated EVK-001 in a multicenter, randeuhj double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel grodose-ranging Phase 2b clinical trial
in 287 subjects (71% female) with diabetic gastrepa. Subjects in the trial were between the afé8 and 75, with a history of diabetes
(type | and type Il) and diabetic gastroparesisp Wwad a baseline modified Gastroparesis Cardinalpym Index Daily Diary, or mGCSI-DD,
of > 2 and < 4 for the seven days prior to randaion on the drug or placebo.

In this trial, EVK-001 demonstrated effectivenessaducing the most common and clinically relesymiptoms associated with gastroparesis in
women, while exhibiting a favorable safety proft&/K-001 was shown to provide a statistically signiftaeimical benefit as defined by a reductiol
the symptoms of gastroparesis as measured by ti@&SCD in women ¢ <0.025). Male subjects treated with EVK-001 shosaahie improvement
in gastroparesis symptoms, but did not show asttatily significant difference compared to placebae to these results in men, the primary obje
of statistical significance in the overall popuwatiwas not achievedd(=0.15).

We believe this Phase 2b trial is the largest evaducted in a diabetic gastroparesis populatioary approved metoclopramide dosage fc
(oral tablet, orally disintegrating tablet and axenous). Previous metoclopramide studies enrsheall numbers of subjects and did not
evaluate gender. For example, fewer than 150 stshjezre enrolled across all studies included inNB& for Reglan, a branded form of
metoclopramide marketed in the United States byPXr@rmaceuticals. The results of the Phase 2kanéatonsistent with what is known about
gender effects in other Gl motility disorders. Gatitity and functional Gl disorders, including
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gastroparesis, are more common in females tharaiaanAlso, healthy females generally have slovastric emptying rates. In a study
conducted at Temple University (Parkman, et atgaemptying of solid food in normal young wom&as shown to be slower than in age-
matched men, even in the first 10 days of the mealstycle when estrogen and progesterone levellar, and the delay in gastric emptying
of solids in women appears to be primarily duelterad distal gastric motor function. One explamatinay be that less vigorous antral
contractions may contribute to slower breakdowfoofl particles and thus delay the rate of emptying.

Gastrointestinal disorders present differently amles and females and responses to therapy vargrideg There is general consensus among
thought leaders in Gl motility that women have ghleir prevalence of symptoms, their neural and sgmathways differ, and hormones, such
as estrogen and progesterone, play a role. Whl&K-001 Phase 2b trial is the first report ofemder-based difference in response to
metoclopramide among subjects with diabetic gastegis, gender effects have been reported in dudlies for other Gl disorders, such as
IBS. For example, products such as Lotrofiéadosetron), Zelnorfi (tegaserod) and Amitiza(lubiprostone) were approved by FDA based or
effectiveness in women, but not in men.

Phase 2b Trial Design

The Phase 2b clinical trial consisted of up to alda@ screening period and a seven-day washoutdydalbowed by 28 days of treatment with
study drug. We evaluated two dosage strengths &-B¥1: 10 mg and 14 mg; as well as placebo. Thaystilug was administered for the 28-
day treatment period as a single intranasal spraytimes daily, 30 minutes before meals and atitmed Subjects recorded the severity of tl
gastroparesis symptoms in a telephonic diary usinmteractive voice response system once eachlth@ysymptoms were analyzed using a
patient reported outcomes instrument, the GastegmaCardinal Symptom Index Daily Diary, or GCSI-Di2veloped for collecting and
analyzing data to evaluate the effectiveness atinents for gastroparesis. The GCSI-DD containe symptoms (nausea, retching, vomiting,
stomach fullness, not able to finish a normal sizedl, feeling excessively full after meal, lossappetite, bloating, and stomach or belly
visibly larger) grouped in three subscales. Théydsiore is calculated as a mean of three subsoaéms. Additional symptoms collected in the
daily diary included abdominal pain, abdominal diséort, number of hours of nausea, number of egisad vomiting, and overall severity of
gastroparesis symptoms. In close collaboration thighFDA and its Study Endpoint and Labeling Dimsithese additional symptom data w
used to further refine the patient reported outcomarument. The result is a mGCSI-DD compriseébaf symptoms (nausea, early satiety,
bloating, and upper abdominal pain) rated from Zeome) to five (very severe). The instrument haesrboptimized to detect symptom
variability on a severity continuum from nauseadmiting.

Phase 2b Efficacy Results

Two patient reported outcome endpoints (MGCSI-D® @R SI-DD) were examined in the intention-to-trpapulation based the protocol
design and FDA communications:

e  The primary efficacy endpoint was the change femven-day baseline to Week 4 of the treatmenbgeéni the mGCSI-DD total score
(mean of four symptoms

e  The second efficacy endpoint analyzed was thagd&rom seven-day baseline to Week 4 of the treatiperiod in the GC3IDD total
score (mean of three subset means with a totahefsymptoms)

Although an overall improvement in symptoms waseobsd in EVK-001-treated patients with diabetictggsaresis compared to placebo, the
difference was not statistically significant dueatbigh placebo response among male subjects. How&atistically significant improvement
gastroparesis symptoms was observed in femalecahjith diabetic gastroparesis as measured byntBESI-DD and GCSI-DD total scores
for both doses of EVK-001 compared to the placdlne beneficial effect of treatment in females appéa be uniform. The results are
consistent across the overall endpoints, the iddal components, and the two dose groups.
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The observed differences in efficacy were basedamuer and were not due to severity of baselireadis or other demographic characteristic:
No statistically significant differences were ohsat in efficacy between the 10 mg and 14 mg I-001 doses; thus the 10 mg dose was
considered the lowest effective dose in this stdye table below summarizes thevalues observed for both doses of EVK-001 comptred
placebo in the Phase 2b clinical trial acrossuijexcts and for male and female patients separately

EVK-001 Phase 2b Clinical Trial
Gastroparesis Study Endpoint Points -Value Summary
(EVK-001 vs. Placebo: Change from Baseline to WeeR

EVK-001 EVK-001

10 mg 14 mg

p -values p -values
mGCSI-DD Total Score (per FDA guidance) (1
All Subjects 0.150¢ 0.300¢
Females 0.024" 0.021¢
Males 0.449: 0.217:
GCSI-DD Total Score (per trial protocol) (2)
All Subjects 0.227: 0.526¢
Females 0.048¢ 0.043:
Males 0.405¢ 0.097:

P -values for pairwise comparisons are obtained faonanalysis of covariance, or ANCOVA, model witfeefs for treatment group and
Baseline value as a covariate.

(1) The mGCSI-DD was comprised of four symptomitected on a severity rating scale of O to 5. Bagelvas seven days prior to treatment
or qualifying days during washout and Week 4 wasd4 to 27 of treatmer

(2) The GCSIBD was comprised of nine symptoms collected onvarity rating scale of 0 to 5. Baseline was sevaysdrior to treatment
qualifying days during washout and Week 4 was @dyt 27 of treatmen
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The table below summarizes the key data from thkdcross all subjects and for female and maliepist separately:

EVK-001 Phase 2b Clinical Trial
Primary Endpoint: Mean mGCSI-DD Total Score Change
from Baseline to Week 4 by All Subjects and Gender
(intent-to-treat, last observation carried forward on treatment)

Metoclopramide

Metoclopramide

Placebo 10 mg IN 14 mg IN
Time Point (N=95) (N=96) (N=96)
ALL SUBJECTS
Baseline (1
N 9t 96 96
Mean (SD) 2.8 (0.57 2.9 (0.60 2.8 (0.62
Week 4
N 9t 96 96
Mean (SD) 1.8 (1.00 1.6 (1.06 1.7 (0.90
Change from Baseline to Weel
N 9t 96 96
Mean (SD) -1.0(0.89 -1.2 (1.18 -1.2 (0.94
Difference of Least Square Means (95% -0.20 +-0.47, 0.07 -0.14 +0.42, 0.13
Pairwisep -value vs. Placebo (: 0.150¢ 0.300¢
Difference of Least Square Means (95% 0.06-0.22, 0.33
Pairwisep -value vs. Metoclopramide 10 mg ( 0.683(
FEMALES
Baseline (1
N 68 65 70
Mean (SD) 2.7 (0.54 2.9 (0.62 2.9 (0.62
Week 4
N 68 65 70
Mean (SD) 1.9(1.02 1.6 (1.08 1.7(0.94
Change from Baseline to Weel
N 68 65 70
Mean (SD) -0.8(0.79 -1.2(1.18 -1.3(0.98
Difference of Least Square Means (95% -0.38 +0.71,-0.05 -0.38 -0.71,-0.06
Pairwisep -value vs. Placebo (: 0.024° 0.021¢
Difference of Least Square Means (95% -0.00 +0.33, 0.32
Pairwisep -value vs. Metoclopramide 10 mg ( 0.986¢
MALES
Baseline (1,
N 27 31 26
Mean (SD) 2.9 (0.63 2.8(0.54 2.5(0.56
Week 4
N 27 31 26
Mean (SD) 1.4 (0.84 1.6(1.05 1.7 (0.79
Change from Baseline to Weel
N 27 31 26
Mean (SD) -1.4(0.98 -1.2(1.21 -0.9 (0.78
Difference of Least Square Means (95% 0.18 +0.30, 0.66 0.32+0.19, 0.83
Pairwisep -value vs. Placebo (: 0.449° 0.217:
Difference of Least Square Means (95% 0.14 +0.35, 0.63
Pairwisep -value vs. Metoclopramide 10 mg ( 0.580¢

(1)
(2)

Baseline is defined as the mean mCG-DD total score during the washout per
p -values for pairwise comparisons are obtained fanrANCOVA model with effects for treatment grougldraseline value as a

covariate




Phase 2b Safety Observations

In the Phase 2b clinical trial, EVK-001 10 mg addmg doses were well-tolerated and no differencdké safety profiles were observed
between the two doses administered. No seriougs@exents occurred related to study treatmermtddiition, there were no clinically-
meaningful differences observed in clinical laborgtparameters, physical examination findings,lecteocardiogram recordings. Adverse
events that occurred more commonly in both EVK-00Ing and 14 mg doses compared to placet2if difference between treated
compared to placebo groups) were dysgeusia, headaabal discomfort, rhinorrhea, throat irritatifatigue, hypoglycemia and
hyperglycemia. The majority of adverse events vneitd to moderate and transient in nature.

Treatment-Emergent Adverse Events Reported by Mor¢éhan Two Subjects in Any Treatment Group

All Subjects
Placebo EVK-001 10 mg EVK-001 14 mg

System Organ Class Preferred Tern (N = 95) (N =95) (N = 95)
Nervous System Disorde

Dysgeusic 4(4.2%) 12(12.6%) 13(13.7%)

Headache 4(4.2%) 7(7.4%) 8(8.4%)

Dizziness 2(2.1%) 3(3.2%) 3(3.2%)
Gastrointestinal Disorde

Diarrhea 9(9.5%) 3(3.2%) 2(2.1%)

Nause: 4(4.2%) 1(1.1%) 4(4.2%)

Gastroesophageal reflux disei 1(1.1%) 4(4.2%) 0(0.0%)
Respiratory, Thoracic, and Mediastinal Disor:

Epistaxis 2(2.1%) 2(2.1%) 3(3.2%)

Cough 2(2.1%) 0(0.0%) 3(3.2%)

Nasal discomfor 0(0.0%) 3(3.2%) 2(2.1%)

Rhinorrhee 1(1.1%) 1(1.1%) 3(3.2%)

Throat irritation 1(1.1%) 0(0.0%) 3(3.2%)
Infections and Infestatior

Upper respiratory tract infectic 4(4.2%) 0(0.0%) 2(2.1%)

Nasopharyngiti 1(1.1%) 3(3.2%) 1(1.1%)
General Disorders and Admin Site Conditic

Fatigue 1(1.1%) 5(5.3%) 6(6.3%)
Metabolism & Nutrition Disorder

Hyperglycemie 1(1.1%) 1(1.1%) 3(3.2%)

Hypoglycemis 1(1.1%) 1(1.1%) 3(3.2%)
Psychiatric Disorder

Depressiot 3(3.2%) 0(0.0%) 0(0.0%)

Phase 1 Comparative Bioavailability Bridging Stt

Our Phase 1 clinical trial of EVK-001 was an opehéll, four-treatment, four-period, four-sequenassover study conducted at a single stud
center. Forty healthy volunteers were enrolled rmdlomly assigned to one of four treatment sequemféer an overnight fast, subjects
received a single dose of each of the metoclopraitn@htments (10 mg EVK-001, 20 mg EVK-001, 10 g tablet, and 5 mg/mL injection)

in random sequence with a seven-day washout pbatwieen doses. Thirty nine subjects received at @ dose of metoclopramide. The
pharmacokinetic analysis population consisted ofdjects who received all four treatments andsulgjects who received three of the four
treatments.




After intranasal administration of the 10 mg andn2§ doses of EVK-001, mean plasma metoclopramideerations increased in a dose-
related manner, as did mean values for C max an@ ff). The absolute bioavailability of EVK-001tef intranasal administration was
comparable for the 10 mg (47.4%) and 20 mg (52.886ks as were the bioavailabilities relative todtes tablet (60.1% and 66.5%,

respectively). The graphs below illustrate the mglasma concentrations of the active ingrediethétwo doses of EVK-001 as well as the
oral and injection forms.

EVK-001 Phase 1 Clinical Trial
Mean Plasma Concentrations of Metoclopramide
(15 minute intervals 0-2h)

EVK-001 Phase 1 Clinical Trial
Mean Plasma Concentrations of Metoclopramide
(15 minute intervals 0-2h)
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Thorough ECG (QT) Study

We conducted a randomized, double-blind, double+dynfour-way crossover thorough ECG (QT) study ¥KEOO1 in 2014. The study was
designed in accordance with the FDA'’s publishedignce on clinical evaluation of QT/QTc intervaldarompared the effects of EVK-001 on
the QT/QTc interval when administered at therapeartid supratherapeutic doses in 48 healthy fenmalereale volunteers. Moxifloxacin, an
antibiotic known to prolong the QT/QTc interval, svased as the positive control. In December 2014ewerted that data from the study met
the pre-specified primary endpoint, demonstratireg EVK-001, at therapeutic and supratherapeutic dosesadigrolong the QT/QTc interv
in healthy subjects. The study was conductedtisfga safety requirement by the FDA in supporbof submission of an NDA for

EVK - 001.

Prior Developmen

From 1985 to present, we, or our predecessors, tmviducted 24 clinical studies to evaluate thetgafad pharmacokinetic profile of nasal
spray formulations of metoclopramide in healthywdéers and the safety, efficacy, pharmacokineticgharmacodynamic profile of
metoclopramide nasal spray in patients. A totdl,003 patients have been dosed in these studiesniianasal formulations of
metoclopramide at doses ranging from 10 mg to 80Imgne study, a Phase 2, multicenter, randomizpen-label, parallel design study,
Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Questcor (nawgbaMallinckrodt plc), compared the efficacy asafety of two doses of metoclopramide
nasal spray, 10 mg and 20 mg, with the FDA-apprdv¥@thg metoclopramide tablet. For the primary efficendpoint in the per protocol
population analysis, a statistically significanffelience in the total symptom score between baselitd week 6 for both the nasal 10 mg (p =
0.026) and nasal 20 mg (p = 0.008) cohorts comparéte oral 10 mg group was observed. Metocloplamasal spray was initially develo)
by Nastech Pharmaceutical Company, Inc. in precdesmulations to EVK-001 and subsequently acquaad developed by Questcor.

We acquired rights to this product candidate frooefcor in 2007. We then optimized the acquirethtdation of metoclopramide nasal spray
to improve stability and remove inactive ingredgettt improve the palatability and tolerability o¥E-001 for patients. We also developed the
current formulation with excipients that are abetow the levels listed in the FDA'’s Inactive Indient Database for intranasal products. We
evaluated the current formulation of EVK-001 in 328ients in our completed Phase 1 and Phasei2atlirials and are evaluating the same
formulation in our ongoing Phase 3 clinical tri@imilarly, the nasal spray pump used in our conggl®®hase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials was
identical and is also being used in our ongoingsBl&clinical trial.
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The primary container closure system for EVK-00&dmprised of an amber glass vial directly attadioea pre-assembled spray pump unit
with a protection cap. Each multi dose sprayeresystomes preassembled and capable of deliveri@gday supply (120 doses at 4 doses per
day.) The sprayer is a standardized metered sptagienology utilized in other nasal spray prodactsvell as the amber vial.

Our Ongoing Four-Week Phase 3 Clinical Trial in FedenSubjects with Diabetic Gastroparesis

Based on discussions with the FDA, we have iniiatee Phase 3 trial in women, which we believeudcessful, will be sufficient for NDA
submission. In April 2014, we began enrolling tbarfweek, multicenter, randomized, double-blinécgbo-controlled, parallel Phase 3
clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy, safety gmupulation pharmacokinetics of EVK-001 in adulinfde subjects with diabetic gastroparesis.
We plan to enroll approximately 200 patients atrapinately 60 sites across the United States. fikpopulation will consist of female
diabetic patients with gastroparesis, identifiedhm presence of relevant symptoms and delayed@asiptying. Female subjects with diab
gastroparesis meeting the protocol-specified esritgria will be studied in a parallel-group desigith randomization in a 1:1 ratio to EVK-
001 10 mg or placebo administered as a singlenasal spray four times daily, 30 minutes beforelmaad at bedtime.

On February 2, 2015, we disclosed the current icent status of the Phase 3 trial. While the wisdgrogressing according to plan at many
of the clinical trial sites with previous gastrogsis study experience, overall enrollment has k&mmer than previously anticipated. As of
February 2, 2015, we had randomized 74 subjectsywananticipate fully enrolling this trial in thesond half of 2015. Although the trial sites
have been screening significant numbers of subjpatgents with diabetic gastroparesis typicallyghaymptoms that vary in timing and
severity, unpredictable gastric emptying delays, @mplex medical histories. This combinationasftbrs creates a challenge for enroliment
into diabetic gastroparesis trials.

Based on our discussions with the FDA, we planst® specific symptoms from a composite score, trer@aaresis Symptom Assessment, or
GSA, as a patient-reported outcomes instrumengsess efficacy in this patient population. The pryrefficacy endpoint for this Phase 3
clinical trial will be based upon a change fromddae in total composite score of the specific stonms included in the GSA. Also based on
discussions with FDA, and to assess safety in nverare conducting a similar and concurrent compasiody for safety and efficacy in
diabetic men with gastroparesis. The trial desiguides an early stop for futility. The FDA hasigated that completion of the male
companion study is not required for submissiorhefNIDA seeking approval of EVRO1 for use in women. Whether the male study steply
for futility or continues to enroll, we plan to ilide safety data from the male companion studjténNDA seeking approval for the drug for
use in women.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights
Overview

We are building an intellectual property portfolgy EVK-001 in the United States and abroad. Weék g@dent protection in the United States
and internationally for our product candidate pitsthods of use and processes for its manufactndefoa other technologies, where
appropriate. Our policy is to actively seek to pabtour proprietary position by, among other thjfiisg patent applications in the United
States and abroad relating to proprietary technedotipat are important to the development of owiress. We also rely on trade secrets, knov
how, continuing technological innovation andicensing opportunities to develop and maintain pnaprietary position. We cannot be sure
patents will be granted with respect to any of pemding patent applications or with respect to gamgnt applications filed by us in the future,
nor can we be sure that any of our existing patengny patents that may be granted to us in thedwill be commercially useful in

protecting our technology.

Our success will depend significantly on our apilii obtain and maintain patent and other propmygpaotection for the technologies we
consider important to our business, defend oumpst@reserve the confidentiality of our trade stexand operate our business without
infringing the patents and proprietary rights afdtparties.

Patent Portfolio
Our patent portfolio currently includes the follogi patents and applications:
e U.S. Patent 6,770,2—Nasal Administration of Agents for the TreatmenGafstroparesis. This patent expires in 2(
e U.S. Patent 5,760,0—Nasal Administration for the Treatment of Delayeas@ Emesis. This patent expires in 2(
e U.S. Patent 8,334,2—Nasal Formulations of Metoclopramide. This pateqires in 2030
e Non-Provisional Patent Application No. PCT/US2012/08@6-Treatment of Symptoms Associated with FemalerGparesis. If
granted, this patent would expire in 20
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We have also been granted patents in the Europe#m Ebr the method of use of metoclopramide vigah@elivery for gastroparesis. These
patents provide protection through 2021. We hase sdceived patents in the European Union covehiegntranasal use of metoclopramide
delayed onset emesis. These patents offer protetttiough 2016.

The United States patent system permits the fidihgrovisional and non-provisional patent applioasi. A nonprovisional patent application
examined by the U.S. Patent and Trademark OfficelSPTO, and can mature into a patent once the @Sd#Termines that the claimed
invention meets the standards for patentabilityprévisional patent application is not examineddatentability, and automatically expires

12 months after its filing date. As a result, ayisimnal patent application cannot mature into #&p& The requirements for filing a provisional
patent application are not as strict as thoseilfagfa non-provisional patent application. Prowisal applications are often used, among other
things, to establish an earlier filing date foudsequent non-provisional patent application. Enmtof individual patents depends upon the
legal term of the patents in the countries in whigdy are obtained. In most countries in which ileg the patent term is 20 years from the
earliest date of filing a non-provisional patenplgation. In the United States, a patent’s terny ina lengthened by patent term adjustment, o
PTA, which compensates a patentee for adminiseaelays by the USPTO in granting a patent. In \aéa recent court decision, the USPTO
is under greater scrutiny regarding its calculatiotmere the USPTO erred in calculating the patant adjustment for the patents in question
denying the patentee a portion of the patent termttich it was entitled. Alternatively, a patenterm may be shortened if a patent is termit
disclaimed over another patent.

The effective filing date of a non-provisional pattapplication is used by the USPTO to determinatvififormation is prior art when it
considers the patentability of a claimed inventibicertain requirements are satisfied, a non-giowvial patent application can claim the benefi
of the filing date of an earlier filed provisiorgdtent application. As a result, the filing dateaded by the provisional patent application may
supersede information that otherwise could precthdepatentability of an invention.

Other Intellectual Property Rights
We currently have a registered trademark for EVGMEARMA in the United States.

Confidential Information and I nventions Assignment Agreements

We require our employees and consultants to exeaunfdentiality agreements upon the commencemieamployment, consulting or
collaborative relationships with us. These agredmprovide that all confidential information deveéal or made known during the course of
the relationship with us be kept confidential andl disclosed to third parties except in specificuwmstances.

In the case of employees, the agreements provaathinventions resulting from work performed fes, utilizing our property or relating to
our business and conceived or completed by theitheéal during employment shall be our exclusivepamy to the extent permitted by
applicable law. Our consulting agreements alsoigeofor assignment to us of any intellectual propegsulting from services performed for
us.

Sales and Marketing

We are initially seeking to commercialize EVK-00ilthe United States alone, or in partnership withrmaceutical companies that have
established development and sales and marketirapi#ips. Our strategy for EVK-001, if approvedilwe to establish EVK-001 as the
prescription product of choice for diabetic gastngsis in women. If the product candidate is appdpwur expectation is that EVK-001 would
initially be sold to gastrointestinal and internadicine specialists, primary care physicians @hecs health care providers. We may also
utilize contract sales forces to assist in the mi@mky of EVK-001 to approved patient populations.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of EVK-001, nor do we have plemdevelop our own manufacturing
operations in the foreseeable future. We curratilyend on third-party contract manufacturers foofabur required raw materials, drug
substance and finished product for our clinicallsii We do not have any current contractual retatigps for the manufacture of commercial
supplies of EVK-001. We intend to enter into agreats with third-party contract manufacturers fag tommercial production of EVK-001
prior to regulatory approval. We currently utiliaghird-party consultant, which we engage on aneesied, hourly basis, to manage our
manufacturing contractors.

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgrisé competition and rapid innovation. Our potérbanpetitors include large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, sggg@hbrmaceutical and generic drug companies, agiadastitutions, government agenc
and research institutions. We believe the key cditiye factors that will affect the development and
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commercial success of our product candidates éioaey, safety and tolerability profile, reliabifitconvenience of dosing, coverage pricing
and reimbursement.

Many of our potential competitors have substantigteater financial, technical and human resoutitas we do and significantly greater
experience in the discovery and development ofyrbdandidates, obtaining FDA and other regulagmprovals of products and the
commercialization of those products. Accordinglyr oompetitors may be more successful than we reag bbtaining FDA approval for
drugs and achieving widespread market acceptangec@npetitors’ drugs may be more effective, or ensffectively marketed and sold, than
any drug we may commercialize and may render ceatysrt candidates obsolete or non-competitive bef@ean recover the expenses of
developing and commercializing any of our prodwaididates. We anticipate that we will face intesuse increasing competition as new drugs
enter the market and advanced technologies becwailalale. Finally, the development of new treatmmethods for the diseases we are
targeting could render our drugs non-competitivelzsolete.

We expect that, if approved, EVK-001 will competeedtly with metoclopramide oral, erythromycin aghimperidone as a treatment for
gastroparesis. Metoclopramide is the only productently approved in the United States to treatrgpsaresis. Metoclopramide is available
from a number of generic pharmaceutical manufacsuae well in branded form in the United Stateseurile tradename Regl&from Ani
Pharmaceuticals.

Previously, Propulsil (cisapride) and Zelnorh(tegaserod) were prescribed off-label by physiciarseat gastroparesis. Propul8id
(cisapride) was approved for use in the treatmédyspepsia and GERD. Zelnofiitegaserod) was approved for use in IBS and idiipat
chronic constipation. Both of these products haaenbwithdrawn from the market because of carditetyséssues.

Salix Pharmaceuticals launched an orally dissoltéidet formulation of metoclopramide in 2009. Gtheograms in the gastroparesis pipeline

include new chemical entities in earlier-stageichhtrials. In addition to our EVK-001 product chdate, we are aware of four other
development candidates. All are in Phase 2 clirdegklopment.

Gastroparesis Treatment Development Pipeline

Product Class Route Company Status
EVK-001 dopamine antagonist /mixed intranasal Evoke Pharma Phase 3
5-HT3 antagonist-HT4 agonisi
RM-131 ghrelin agonist sub-cutaneous  Rhythm/Actavis Phase 2b
Pharmaceutical

GSK96204( motilin agonist oral GlaxoSmithKline Phase :
TD-5108 5-HT4 receptor agonis oral Theravance Phase :
IW-9179 GC-C agonis! oral I[ronwood Phase 2i

RM-131 is a smalpeptide analog of ghrelin, a hormone producedérstomach that stimulates gastrointestinal actidibe compound is bei
developed for Gl motility disorders and has shoWfic&cy in surgical and opiate-induced ileus inraal models due to a direct prokinetic
effect. RM-131 reverses body weight loss in cachexodels.

Two other ghrelin analogs were previously beingalieped by Tranzyme Pharma: an intravenous ghrglmiat, ulimorelin, in post-operative
ileus and a different oral ghrelin agent, TZP-li@%jiabetic gastroparesis. Development of both pebdandidates has been discontinued afte
ulimorelin was unsuccessful in two Phase 3 stuaiesTZP-102 was unsuccessful in two Phase 2b.trials

GSK962040 is a selective non-peptide motilin reaepgonist under development for the treatmenbafitions associated with slow rates of
gastric emptying. Motilin is an endogenous pepteduced mainly in the duodenum, whose physiokigiction is mediated by motilin
receptors located on enteric neurons, periphemalin@ls of the vagus, and on the smooth musclaettomach. Motilin and non-peptide
agonists of motilin receptors increase gastric gingtand may offer a new approach to the treatrn&delayed gastric emptying conditions.

TD-5108, also called Velusetrag, is a 5-HT4 receptwnist compound under development for the treatraof gastroparesis by Theravance in
collaboration with Alfa Wassermann S.p.A. Previgu3ID-5108 was under development for chronic cquagton.

IW-9179 is an investigational guanylate cyclaseO3C-C, agonist and is under development for itbattnent of functional dyspepsia and
diabetic gastroparesis by Ironwood Pharmaceuticals.

TC-6499, is a neuronal nicotinic receptor modulatoder development by Targacept. The programd@ntly entered exploratory phase 1/2
trials for gastroparesis and previously was tekiedonstipation-predominant IBS.

13




Erythromycin is a motilin receptor agonist andragiuently used off-label in the treatment of ggsiresis. Erythromycin is well known to
induce nausea and vomiting across all indicatiomkis particularly associated with exacerbated @awghen used in gastroparesis. Repeated
administration of macrolides is also linked to destization of the motilin receptor and tachyphysaExtended dosing with antibiotics can |
to the development of resistant organisms as wgtlaghologic changes in intestinal flora.

Tegaserod, another 5-HT4 agonist, was approvdueitunited States and other countries for treatmeatronic idiopathic constipation and
IBS-C. In 2007, Tegaserod was removed from the gtarkthe United States by the FDA for cardiac safencerns.

One additional medication, Motilium (domperidone)opamine receptor modulator, is not FDA-approbeid js available in the United States
through various compounding pharmacies under afSpE®A restricted-access program. The safety effidacy of Motilium as a promotility
agent is not fully established.

Technology Acquisition Agreement

In June 2007, we acquired all worldwide rights adatatents and other related assets associate@WiKF001 from Questcor pursuant to an
asset purchase agreement. We have paid Questd0$65n the form of an upfront payment and $500,00May 2014 as a milestone
payment based upon the initiation of the firstguattidosing in our Phase 3 clinical trial for EVK100In August 2014, Mallinckrodt plc, or
Mallinckrodt, acquired Questcor. As a result atthcquisition, Questcor transferred its rightduded in the asset purchase agreement with L
to Mallinckrodt. In addition to the payments wedado Questcor, we may also be required to makiiawnia milestone payments totaling up
to $51.5 million. These milestones include up tb$4illion in payments if EVK-001 achieves the fnlling development targets:

e  $1.5 million upon the FD’s acceptance for review of an NDA for E-001; anc

e  $3 million upon the FD/'s approval of EVI-001.

The remaining $47 million in milestone paymentsetgpon EVK-001's commercial success and will ordplg if EVK-001 receives
regulatory approval. In addition, we will be reaqdrto pay to Mallinckrodt a low single digit royalin net sales of EVK1. Our obligation t
pay such royalties will terminate upon the expoatof the last patent right covering EVK-001, whiskexpected to occur in 2030.

Government Regulation
FDA Approval Process

In the United States, pharmaceutical products abgest to extensive regulation by the FDA. The FablEood, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or
FFDCA, and other federal and state statutes andatgns, govern, among other things, the reseaebelopment, testing, manufacture,
storage, recordkeeping, approval, labeling, proomoéind marketing, distribution, pospproval monitoring and reporting, sampling, angant
and export of pharmaceutical products. Failureotmgly with applicable FDA or other requirements nsapject a company to a variety of
administrative or judicial sanctions, such as tb&\B refusal to approve pending applications, aichl hold, warning letters, recall or seizure
of products, partial or total suspension of proaugtwithdrawal of the product from the marketuingtions, fines, civil penalties or criminal
prosecution.

FDA approval is required before any new unappraired) or dosage form, including a new use of a ey approved drug, can be marketec
in the United States. The process required by bws Before a drug may be marketed in the UnitedeStgenerally involves:

e completion of pre-clinical laboratory and anirtedting and formulation studies in compliance wfith FDA’s good laboratory practit
regulations

e  submission to the FDA of an Investigational NemadApplication, or IND, for human clinical testimghich must become effective
before human clinical trials may begin in the Udit&tates

e approval by an independent institutional reviewrdoar IRB, at each clinical trial site before edadhl may be initiated

° performance of adequate and well-controlled huotanical trials in accordance with good clinicabptice, or GCP, regulations to
establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed @groduct for each intended u

e  satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approvalgaction of the facility or facilities at which tipeoduct is manufactured to assess
compliance with the FDA current good manufacturing practices, or cGM&ulagions, including, for devices and device congras
the Quality System Regulation, or QSR, and to asthat the facilities, methods and controls arejadee to preserve the product’s
identity, strength, quality and purit

° submission to the FDA of an ND;
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e  satisfactory completion of an FDA advisory comn@tteview, if applicable; an

e  FDA review and approval of the ND,

The pre-clinical and clinical testing and apprgwaicess requires substantial time, effort and fir@lmesources, and we cannot be certain that
any approvals for our product candidates will benggd on a timely basis, if at all. Pre-clinicatteinclude laboratory evaluation of product
chemistry, formulation, stability and toxicity, a®ll as animal studies to assess the characterestid potential safety and efficacy of the
product. The results of piical tests, together with manufacturing infotioa, analytical data and a proposed clinical tpiadtocol and othe
information, are submitted as part of an IND to Ffiz®A. Some pre-clinical testing may continue evéarghe IND is submitted. The IND
automatically becomes effective 30 days after mdaj the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-dawdiperiod, raises concerns or questions
relating to one or more proposed clinical trialgl @faces the clinical trial on a clinical hold, imding concerns that human research subjects
will be exposed to unreasonable health risks. & sucase, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolyeoutstanding concerns before the
clinical trial can begin. As a result, our submigsof an IND may not result in FDA authorizationcdmmmence a clinical trial. A separate
submission to an existing IND must also be made&wh successive clinical trial conducted duriradpct development.

Further, an IRB covering each site proposing tadeehthe clinical trial must review and approve pien for any clinical trial and informed
consent information for subjects before the tr@hmences at that site, and it must monitor theystundil completed. The FDA, the IRB or the
sponsor may suspend a clinical trial at any timeanious grounds, including a finding that the sab§ or patients are being exposed to an
unacceptable health risk or for failure to compiyfmthe IRB’s or regulatory requirements, or fonet reasons, or the FDA or IRB may impose
other conditions.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to human subjects undestpervision of qualified investigators in
accordance with GCP requirements, which includedljeirement that all research subjects providi thesrmed consent in writing for their
participation in any clinical trial. Sponsors oinital trials generally must register and reporthe National Institutes of Health-maintained
website ClinicalTrials.gov, key parameters of dertdinical trials. For purposes of an NDA submissand approval, human clinical trials are
typically conducted in the following sequential pha, which may overlap or be combined:

e Phase 1The drug is initially introduced into healthy humsubjects or patients and tested for safety, duesesince, absorption,
metabolism, distribution and excretion and, if ploigs to gain an early indication of its effectiess.

e Phase 2The drug is administered to a limited patient pafioh to identify possible adverse effects andtgafeks, to preliminarily
evaluate the efficacy of the product for specidigeted indications and to determine dose tolerandeoptimal dosage. Multiple
Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted by thespoto obtain information prior to beginning larged more extensive Phase 3
clinical trials.

e Phase 3These are commonly referred to as pivotal studidsen Phase 2 evaluations demonstrate that a doge od the product
appears to be effective and has an acceptable safdtle, Phase 3 trials are undertaken in larggept populations to further evaluate
dosage, to obtain additional evidence of clinidfitacy and safety in an expanded patient poputasibmultiple, geographically-
dispersed clinical trial sites, to establish therall risk-benefit relationship of the drug andtovide adequate information for the
labeling of the drug

e Phase 4In some cases, the FDA may condition approval diiB for a product candidate on the sponsor’s agexg to conduct
additional clinical trials to further assess thagls safety and effectiveness after NDA approvattSpost-approval trials are typically
referred to as Phase 4 stud

The results of product development, pre-clinicatliis and clinical trials are submitted to the F&part of an NDA. NDAs must also contain
extensive information relating to the product’s phacology, chemistry, manufacturing and controlsC®C, and proposed labeling, among
other things.

Under federal law, the submission of most NDAsuisjsct to a substantial application user fee, &ednanufacturer and/or sponsor under an
approved NDA are also subject to annual productestablishment user fees. The FDA has 60 daysitoraceipt of an NDA to determine
whether the application will be accepted for filibgsed on the agency’s threshold determinationttissufficiently complete to permit
substantive review. The FDA may request additiamfarmation rather than accept an NDA for filing.this event, the NDA must be
resubmitted with the additional information andifbject to payment of additional user fees. Thaelbwstted application is also subject to
review before the FDA accepts it for filing.

Once the submission has been accepted for filegE-DA begins an in-depth substantive review. UtliePrescription Drug User Fee Act, or
PDUFA, the FDA agrees to specific performance gim$IDA review time through a two-tiered classifiion system, Standard Review and
Priority Review. Standard Review NDAs have a gddleing completed within ten months of the dateegkipt by FDA (for drugs that do not
contain new molecular entities) and ten month&efa0-day filing date (for drugs that contain newleuoular entities). A Priority Review
designation is given to drugs that treat a semauslition and, if approved, would provide a sigrafit
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improvement in safety or effectiveness. The goatémmpleting a Priority Review is six months frone tdate of receipt by FDA (for drugs that do
not contain new molecular entities) and six mowththe 60-day filing date (for drugs that contagwnmolecular entities). However, the FDA doe:
not always complete its review within these timedimand the Agency’s review can take substantiatigér.

It is likely that our product candidates will beagted a Standard Review. The review process mayteaded to allow the FDA to request and
review additional information or obtain clarificati regarding information provided in the originabmission. The FDA may refer applications
for novel drug products or drug products which preglifficult questions of safety or efficacy to ativisory committee for review, evaluation
and recommendation as to whether the applicationldtbe approved and under what conditions. The FED#ot bound by the
recommendation of an advisory committee, but itsiders such recommendations carefully when makéaisebns.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA may inspect thaliiy or facilities where the product is manufaed. The FDA will not approve an
application unless it determines that the manufagjuprocesses and facilities are in compliancéw&MP requirements, including QSR
requirements for the device component of the prycund are adequate to assure consistent produaftitve product within required
specifications. Additionally, the FDA will typicallinspect one or more clinical sites to assure dmmpe with GCP requirements before
approving an NDA.

After the FDA evaluates the NDA and, in some cafesrelated manufacturing facilities, it may issureapproval letter or a Complete
Response Letter, or CRL, to indicate that the reigcle for an application is complete or that #pplication is not ready for approval. CRLs
generally outline the deficiencies in the submissiad may require substantial additional testinopfarmation in order for the FDA to
reconsider the application. Even with submissiothisf additional information, the FDA ultimately sndecide that the application does not
satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval. Ifdawhen the deficiencies have been addressed f6DAés satisfaction, the FDA will typically
issue an approval letter. An approval letter autlesrcommercial marketing of the drug with spegifiescribing information for specific
indications.

Once issued, the FDA may withdraw product apprdw@hgoing regulatory requirements are not mef gafety problems are identified after
the product reaches the market. In addition, thé Riay require post-approval testing, including Rhastudies, and surveillance programs to
monitor the effect of approved products which hbgen commercialized, and the FDA has the powergegnt or limit further marketing of a
product based on the results of these puatketing programs. Drugs may be marketed onlyiferapproved indications and in accordance
the provisions of the approved label, and, evendfFDA approves a product, it may limit the apmaindications for use for the product or
impose other conditions, including labeling or digition restrictions or other risk-management naagsms. Further, if there are any
modifications to the drug, including changes iniégations, labeling, or manufacturing processesoilifies, we may be required to submit and
obtain FDA approval of a new or supplemental NDAjak may require us to develop additional dataaordeict additional pre-clinical studies
and clinical trials.

Post-Approval Requirements

Once an NDA is approved, a product will be subjegiervasive and continuing regulation by the Fidbw|uding, among other things,
requirements relating to drug/device listing, rel@eping, periodic reporting, product sampling disdribution, advertising and promotion &
reporting of adverse experiences with the product.

In addition, drug manufacturers and other entitieslved in the manufacture and distribution of epy@d products are required to register t
establishments with the FDA and state agenciesaendubject to periodic unannounced inspectiorthdy¥DA and these state agencies for
compliance with cGMP requirements. Changes to theufacturing process are strictly regulated anag@ly require prior FDA approval
before being implemented. FDA regulations also ireguvestigation and correction of any deviatiéreen cGMP and impose reporting and
documentation requirements upon us and any thiry-paanufacturers that we may decide to use. Adoghg, manufacturers must continue to
expend time, money, and effort in the area of petidn and quality control to maintain cGMP comptian

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may suspesttjct or withdraw the approval, require a prodectll, or impose additional restrictions
or limitations if compliance with regulatory regeiinents and standards is not maintained or if prodleccur after the product reaches the
market. Later discovery of previously unknown pesbé with a product, including adverse events ohtioiated severity or frequency, or
with manufacturing processes, or failure to comit regulatory requirements, may result in, amotiger things:

e restrictions on the marketing or manufacturinghaf product, complete withdrawal of the product fribv@ market or product recal

e fines, warning letters or holds on g-approval clinical trials

° refusal of the FDA to approve pending application supplements to approved applications, or sisépe or revocation of product
license approvals
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e  product seizure or detention, or refusal to peth@timport or export of products;

e injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminpknalties

The FDA may require post-approval studies and adinirials if the FDA finds that scientific dataciuding information regarding related
drugs, deem it appropriate. The purpose of sudtiegwould be to assess a known serious risk aals@f serious risk related to the drug ¢
identify an unexpected serious risk when availalale indicate the potential for a serious risk. FB& may also require a labeling change if it
becomes aware of new safety information that iielvek should be included in the labeling of a drug.

The Food and Drug Administration Amendments Ac20®7 gave the FDA the authority to require a RigklEation and Mitigation Strategy,
or REMS, from manufacturers to ensure that the fitsref a drug outweigh its risks. In determiningether a REMS is necessary, the FDA
must consider the size of the population likelyise the drug, the seriousness of the disease diticonto be treated, the expected benefit of
the drug, the duration of treatment, the seriousoé&nown or potential adverse events, and whetteedrug is a new molecular entity. If the
FDA determines a REMS is necessary, the drug sponsst agree to the REMS plan at the time of apgdrdv REMS may be required to
include various elements, such as a medicatioregutighatient package insert, a communication pladticate health care providers of the
drug’s risks, limitations on who may prescribe or disgmethe drug, or other measures that the FDA deegesrary to assure the safe use ¢
drug. In addition, the REMS must include a timetatol assess the strategy at 18 months, three yearseven years after the strategy’s
approval. The FDA may also impose a REMS requirg¢raera drug already on the market if the FDA deteas, based on new safety
information, that a REMS is necessary to ensuretligadrug’s benefits continue to outweigh its sisk

In March 2009, the FDA informed drug manufacturteet it will require a REMS for metoclopramide dnoigpducts. The FDA's authority to
take this action is based on risk management asdrparket safety provisions within the Food anddaministration Amendments Act. The
REMS consists of a Medication Guide, elements sa@ssafe use (including an education programresguibers and materials for prescribers
to educate patients), and a timetable for submissi@ssessments of at least six months, 12 moatissannually after the REMS is approved.
We intend to submit a proposed REMS at the timth®MNDA submission for EVK-001.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, adising and promotion of products that are plasedhe market, and the FDA imposes a
number of complex regulations on entities that atibe and promote pharmaceuticals, which includerag others, standards for direct-to-
consumer advertising, off-label promotion, industponsored scientific and educational activitie&l promotional activities involving the
internet. While physicians may prescribe for otfidhuses, manufacturers may only promote for thpgayed indications and in accordance
with the provisions of the approved label. The F&#d other agencies actively enforce the laws agdlagons prohibiting the promotion of
off-label uses, and a company that is found to hiangeoperly promoted off-label uses may be subjestgnificant liability. Indeed, the FDA
has very broad enforcement authority under the F&LDADd failure to abide by these regulations caultén penalties, including the issuance
of a warning letter directing entities to correevihtions from FDA standards, a requirement thatreuadvertising and promotional materials
are pre-cleared by the FDA, and state and fedanifdlnd criminal investigations and prosecutions.

The distribution of prescription pharmaceuticaldurots is also subject to the Prescription Drug Mérig Act, or PDMA, which regulates the
distribution of drugs and drug samples at the feldewvel and sets minimum standards for the reggistn and regulation of drug distributors by
the states. Both the PDMA and state laws limitdisé¢ribution of prescription pharmaceutical prods@mples and impose requirements to
ensure accountability in distribution, includingliaug pedigree which tracks the distribution of prggion drugs.

Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applications

As an alternate path to FDA approval for modifioas to formulations or uses of products previoaglgroved by the FDA, an applicant may
submit an NDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the FFDG&ction 505(b)(2) was enacted as part of the Prige Competition and Patent Term
Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch«Wan Amendments, and permits the filing of an NDiere at least some of the
information required for approval comes from stgdiet conducted by or for the applicant and foraltthe applicant has not obtained a right
of reference. The applicant may rely upon publisiitecature and the FDA'’s findings of safety antkefiveness based on certain piigical or
clinical studies conducted for an approved prodlice FDA may also require companies to performtamthl studies or measurements to
support the change from the approved product. Dy Fay then approve the new product candidatelfaraome of the label indications for
which the referenced product has been approvedekhsis for any new indication sought by the Setb05(b)(2) applicant.

To the extent that a Section 505(b)(2) NDA reliasstudies conducted for a previously approved grnogluct, the applicant is required to
certify to the FDA concerning any patents listedtfe approved product in the FDA Orange Book. FBé& Orange Book is where patents
associated with a FDA-approved product are lisikcifically, the applicant must certify for eaddtdd
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patent that (1) the required patent information iatsbeen filed; (2) the listed patent has expi(8§ithe listed patent has not expired, but will
expire on a particular date and approval is soafiat patent expiration; or (4) the listed paterninivalid, unenforceable or will not be infringed
by the new product. A certification that the newdurct will not infringe the already approved produtisted patent or that such patent is
invalid is known as a Paragraph IV certificatioithie applicant does not challenge the listed gatémough a Paragraph IV certification, the
Section 505(b)(2) NDA application will not be appedl until all the listed patents claiming the refezed product have expired. The

Section 505(b)(2) NDA application also will not @ecepted or approved until any non-patent excltysisuich as exclusivity for obtaining
approval of a New Chemical Entity, listed in thea@®ge Book for the referenced product has expired.

If the 505(b)(2) NDA applicant has provided a Paaad IV certification to the FDA, the applicant maso send notice of the Paragraph IV
certification to the referenced NDA and patent koddonce the 505(b)(2) NDA has been acceptedliiog foy the FDA. The NDA and patent
holders may then initiate a legal challenge toRheagraph IV certification. Under the FFDCA, tHa§ of a patent infringement lawsuit with
45 days of the NDA and patent holdenesteipt of a Paragraph 1V certification in mostesaautomatically prevents the FDA from approvirng
Section 505(b)(2) NDA for 30 months, or until a dadecision or settlement finding that the paterinivalid, unenforceable or not infringed,
whichever is earlier. The court also has the ahititshorten or lengthen the 30-month stay if eifiaty is found not to be reasonably
cooperating in expediting the litigation. Thus, Bection 505(b)(2) applicant may invest a significamount of time and expense in the
development of its product only to be subject gmgicant delay and patent litigation before iteguct may be commercialized.

The 505(b)(2) NDA applicant also may be eligibleits own regulatory exclusivity period, such asettyear exclusivity. Specifically, a
product may be granted three-year Hatch-Waxmarusiy if one or more clinical studies, other tHainavailability or bioequivalence
studies, was essential to the approval of the egitin and was conducted/sponsored by the appliSaould this occur, the FDA would be
precluded from making effective any other applimatior the same condition of use or for a changheadrug product that was granted
exclusivity until after that three-year exclusivgriod has expired. Additional exclusivities mésoaapply.

Additionally, the 505(b)(2) NDA applicant may hassevant patents in the Orange Book, and if scaiit initiate patent infringement litigation
against those applicants that challenge such matehtch could result in a 30-month stay delayimgse applicants.

Manufacturing Requirements

We and our third-party manufacturers must compnapplicable FDA regulations relating to the FDAGMP regulations including
applicable QSR requirements. The cGMP regulatinakide requirements relating to, among other thingganization of personnel, buildings
and facilities, equipment, control of componentd drug product containers and closures, produei@hprocess controls, packaging and
labeling controls, holding and distribution, labtorg controls, records and reports, and returneshbiraged products. The manufacturing
facilities for our products must meet cGMP requieens to the satisfaction of the FDA pursuant teeagpproval inspection before we can use
them to manufacture our products. We and our thandy manufacturers are also subject to periodanaounced inspections of facilities by
FDA and other authorities, including procedures apeérations used in the testing and manufactuceioproducts to assess our compliance
with applicable regulations. Failure to comply watiatutory and regulatory requirements subjectaaufacturer to possible legal or regulatory
action, including, among other things, warningdedf the seizure or recall of products, injunctjamnsent decrees placing significant
restrictions on or suspending manufacturing openatand civil and criminal penalties.

Other Regulatory Requirements

We are also subject to various laws and regulatiegarding laboratory practices, the experimergalaf animals, and the use and disposal of
hazardous or potentially hazardous substancesimemtion with our research. In each of these aesaabove, the FDA has broad regulatory
and enforcement powers, including, among otheghithe ability to levy fines and civil penaltissispend or delay issuance of approvals,

or recall products, and withdraw approvals, any anmore of which could have a material adverseatfbn us.

Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of our products, if approved, will dependpant, on the extent to which our products willdmeered by third-party payors, such as
government health care programs, commercial inggrand managed healthcare organizations. Thesepthity payors are increasingly
limiting coverage and reducing reimbursements fedital products and services. In addition, the ddvernment, state legislatures and
foreign governments have continued implementing-coastainment programs, including price controéstrictions on coverage and
reimbursement and requirements for substitutiogesferic products. Adoption of price controls andt@mntainment measures, and adoptic
more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with efihg controls and measures, could further limitmet revenue and results. Decreases in third-
party reimbursement for our drug candidates orcisa® by a third-party payor

18




to not cover our drug candidates could reduce pharsiutilization of our products and have a matexitverse effect on our sales, results of
operations and financial condition.

Other Healthcare Laws

Although we currently do not have any productstenrmarket, if our drug candidates are approvedasmbegin commercialization, we will be
subject to healthcare regulation and enforcemenh&yederal government and the states and fogagarnments in which we conduct our
business. These laws include, without limitatidatesand federal anti-kickback, fraud and abudsefaaims and physician sunshine laws and
regulations.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, amanber things, any person from knowingly and willjubffering, soliciting, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, ittduce either the referral of an individual, foritem or service or the purchasing or ordering
of a good or service, for which payment may be mauter federal healthcare programs such as thedsledand Medicaid programs. The
Anti-Kickback Statute is subject to evolving integtations. In the past, the government has enfdteednti-Kickback Statute to reach large
settlements with healthcare companies based on sbasulting and other financial arrangements withsicians. Further, a person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of thetstatuspecific intent to violate it in order to leaeommitted a violation. In addition, the
government may assert that a claim including itemservices resulting from a violation of the fealeknti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false
or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federakEaClaims Act. The majority of states also havélkinkback laws which establish similar
prohibitions and in some cases may apply to itenseovices reimbursed by any third-party payorluding commercial insurers.

Additionally, the False Claims Act prohibits knowglg presenting or causing the presentation of sefdictitious or fraudulent claim for
payment to the U.S. government. Actions under @ileg=Claims Act may be brought by the Attorney Gaiher as a qui tam action by a priv
individual in the name of the government. Violasaf the False Claims Act can result in very sigaifit monetary penalties and treble
damages. The federal government is using the EA&ms Act, and the accompanying threat of sigaifidiability, in its investigation and
prosecution of pharmaceutical and biotechnologymamres throughout the country, for example, in emtion with the promotion of products
for unapproved uses and other sales and marketaugiges. The government has obtained multi-milkow multi-billion dollar settlements
under the False Claims Act in addition to indivitlo@minal convictions under applicable criminadisttes. Given the significant size of actual
and potential settlements, it is expected thagthesrnment will continue to devote substantial veses to investigating healthcare providers’
and manufacturers’ compliance with applicable frand abuse laws.

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdabitity Act of 1996, or HIPAA, also created newdé&al criminal statutes that prohibit
among other actions, knowingly and willfully exeiogt, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defeanychealthcare benefit program, incluc
private third-party payors, knowingly and willfulgmbezzling or stealing from a healthcare benefigmam, willfully obstructing a criminal
investigation of a healthcare offense, and knowiragld willfully falsifying, concealing or coveringp a material fact or making any materially
false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in corti@twith the delivery of or payment for healthcéenefits, items or services. Similar to the
federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entibes not need to have actual knowledge of the statuspecific intent to violate it in order to
have committed a violation.

In addition, there has been a recent trend of aseré federal and state regulation of payments teepleysicians and other healthcare
providers. The Patient Protection and AffordableeCact, as amended by the Health Care and EducR&oonciliation Act, or collectively, tt
Affordable Care Act, among other things, imposes neporting requirements on drug manufacturerpfyments made by them to physicians
and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership anesiment interests held by physicians and theirediate family members. Failure to submit
required information may result in civil monetamgralties of up to an aggregate of $150,000 per (gearp to an aggregate of $1 million per
year for‘knowing failures”), for all payments, transferswaflue or ownership or investment interests thatat timely, accurately and
completely reported in an annual submission. Dragufacturers are required to submit reports tajtheernment by the 90day of each
calendar year. Certain states also mandate implkatiem of commercial compliance programs, impos#rigtions on drug manufacturer
marketing practices and/or require the tracking raparting of gifts, compensation and other rematien to physicians.

The shifting commercial compliance environment Hrelneed to build and maintain robust and expaedadtems to comply with different
compliance and/or reporting requirements in mudtjprisdictions increase the possibility that altheare company may violate one or more of
the requirements. If our operations are found ttbaolation of any of such laws or any other gowraental regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to penalties, including, withoutitation, civil and criminal penalties, damagesgefinthe curtailment or restructuring of our
operations, exclusion from participation in fedexafl state healthcare programs and imprisonmepifanhich could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our finan@alits.
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Employees

We currently have seven employees and several tantiin the regulatory, clinical, manufacturingddinance areas. We expect that a
number of consultants previously engaged in theldgment of EVK-001 will participate in the ongoinlinical and manufacturing
development for the product candidate. None ofemnployees are represented by a collective bargparirangement, and we believe our
relationship with our employees is good.

About Evoke

We were formed as a Delaware corporation on Jar2@rg007. Our principal executive offices are tedsat 505 Lomas Santa Fe Drive, Suite
270, Solana Beach, California 92075, and our telapmumber is (858) 345-1494.

Financial Information about Segments

We have one operating segment, which is the demadap of pharmaceutical products. See Note 2 tdinancial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. For financial infornwatiregarding our business, see “Management’s Dssmusnd Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and thosenfima statements and related notes.

Available Information

We file electronically with the Securities and Eaolge Commission, or SEC, our annual reports on Bdrid, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q
and current reports on Form 8-K pursuant to Sestii8{(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Ad984, as amended. We make available
copies of these reports, free of charge, on ousitehtwww.evokepharma.conas soon as reasonably practicable after we efgctlly file
such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Tgublic may read or copy any materials we file wita SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference
Room at 100 F Street NE, Washington, D.C. 2054@. dublic may obtain information on the operatiorthef Public Reference Room by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SE@330. The SEC maintains a website that containsrt®proxy and information statements, and othfarimatior
regarding issuers that file electronically with BEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gbe.ififormation in or accessible through the
SEC and our website are not incorporated into,aaadot considered part of, this report. Further,references to the URLSs for these website:
are intended to be inactive textual references.only
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a dynamic and rapidly changing envinent that involves numerous risks and uncertan@rtain factors may have a matel
adverse effect on our business prospects, finaooiadlition and results of operations, and you staarefully consider them. Accordingly, in
evaluating our business, we encourage you to censiegt following discussion of risk factors, inétstirety, in addition to other information
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and atlner public filings with the Securities and Eaolge Commission, or SEC. Other event:
that we do not currently anticipate or that we amtly deem immaterial may also affect our busingssspects, financial condition and results
of operations.

Risks Related to our Business, including the Devgdment, Regulatory Approval and Potential Commercialzation of our Product
Candidate, EVK-001

Our businessis entirely dependent on the success of a single product candidate, EVK-001, for which we initiated a Phase 3 clinical trial in
April 2014. We cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, EVK-001.

We have only one product candidate: EVK-001, a siepyamide nasal spray to treat female patients syimptoms associated with acute anc
recurrent diabetic gastroparesis. We are entirepeddent on successful continued development gudatery approval of this product
candidate for our future business success. We inaested, and will continue to invest, a signifitportion of our time and financial resources
in the development of EVK-001. We will need to segsfully enroll and complete our ongoing Phasércell trial of EVK-001, which we
commenced in April 2014, and, if required, rais#isient funds for the completion of this trial. €uture regulatory and commercial success
of this product candidate is subject to a numbeiséif, including the following:

e we may not have sufficient financial and other teses to complete the Phase 3 clinical t
e we may not be able to provide acceptable evidehsafety and efficacy for EV-001;

e the results of our planned and ongoing clinigald may not confirm the positive results of earklinical trials, particularly because
we are utilizing a modified patient report outcommsPRO, instrument for our current Phase 3 dihigal compared to our Phase 2b
clinical trial;

e variability in patients, adjustments to clinicahtmprocedures and inclusion of additional clinitrél sites;
e the results of our clinical trial may not meet teeel of statistical or clinical significance reged by the FDA for marketing approv.

e we may be required to undertake additional ctihidals and other studies of EVK-001 before we sabmit an NDA, to the FDA or
receive approval of the ND/

° patients in our clinical trials may die or suftgher adverse effects for reasons that may ormoape related to EVK-001, such as
dysgeusia, headache, diarrhea, nasal discomfamotr, myoclonus, somnolence, rhinorrhea, throdaiion, and fatigue

° if approved, EVK-001 will compete with well-esteed products already approved for marketingheyRDA, including oral and
intravenous forms of metoclopramide, the same adtigredient in the nasal spray for E-001;

e we may not be able to obtain, maintain and enforoepatents and other intellectual property rightsj

e we may not be able to obtain and maintain comialemtanufacturing arrangements with third-party ofacturers or establish
commercie-scale manufacturing capabilitie

Of the large number of drugs in development in ithikistry, only a small percentage result in thensission of an NDA to the FDA and even
fewer are approved for commercialization. Furthereneven if we do receive regulatory approval tokeeEVK-001, any such approval may
be subject to limitations on the indicated usesafbich we may market the product.

We will require substantial additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would force us to suspend our Phase 3
clinical trial and otherwise delay, reduce or eliminate our development program for EVK-001.

Our operations have consumed substantial amournsdf since inception. To date, our operations baea primarily financed through the
proceeds from the sale of our common and prefest@zk, and borrowings under our loan and finaneiggeements. We believe, based on our
current operating plan, that our existing cash @ash equivalents, together with interest theredihbe sufficient to fund our operations
through December 31, 2015, although there can ssarance in that regard. Since our ongoing Phabeical trial of EVK-001, which
commenced in April 2014, has an approximately 18#m@nrollment period, we may need to obtain addéi funds to complete this trial, as
well as finance any additional development requésts requested by the FDA. As of February 2, 2@&5had randomized 74 subjects, anc
anticipate fully enrolling this trial in the secohdlf of 2015.

21




Our estimates of the amount of cash necessarnntbdur activities may prove to be wrong, and weddapend our available financial
resources much faster than we currently expectf@ure funding requirements will depend on margtdes, including, but not limited to:

e the rate of progress and cost of our Phase 3 alitvial and any other clinical requirements fork-001;
e the timing of regulatory approval, if granted, ofkE-001 or any other product candidat

e the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending antbecing any patent claims and other intellectualperty rights associated with EVK-
001;

e the costs and timing of completion of outsourceche@rcial manufacturing supply arrangements for -001;
e  costs associated with any other product candidhtgave may develop, -license or acquire
e the effect of competing technological and marketdigpments; an

e the terms and timing of any collaborative, licegsioc-promotion or other arrangements that we may estal

The results observed in female patients with symptoms associated with acute and recurrent diabetic gastroparesisin our Phase 2b clinical
trial of EVK-001 may not be predictive of the safety and efficacy resultsin our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial.

A number of companies in the pharmaceutical antebfmology industries have suffered significanbaeks in late-stage clinical trials even
after achieving promising results in earlier-stdggelopment. We commenced our Phase 3 clinicalitrfzmale patients with symptoms
associated with acute and recurrent diabetic gaetesis in April 2014. Our Phase 2b clinical tdAEVK-001 for the treatment of diabetic
gastroparesis showed statistically significant iovement in clinically meaningful endpoints in femglatients. This was a pre-specified
analyses of the primary efficacy endpoint perforraadh gender subgroup of the intent to treat, drpdpulation. Due to a large placebo
response in male patients, EVK-001 did not achteeeprimary endpoint in the ITT population for sillbjects in this Phase 2b clinical trial.

This risk may be particularly significant for usdagse the primary endpoint in our ongoing Phada@al trial is not identical to the primary
endpoint used in our Phase 2b trial. In our Phasdigical trial, the primary endpoint was the GE&HD, a PRO instrument. The GCSI-DD is a
composite of clinically relevant diabetic gastragms symptoms which patients rate according torggvBased on our discussions with the
FDA, the primary endpoint for our Phase 3 triall\w# the GSA, which is a PRO instrument derivednftbe GCSI-DD. We have analyzed our
Phase 2b data utilizing the G&Anethodology. Although we observed statisticaliygicant and nearly identical statistical improwent in the
GSA compared to the GCSI-DD in females in our Pl2stial, we cannot assure you that our Phasel3 will achieve positive results.

A number of factors could contribute to a lack@fdrable safety and efficacy results in our ongdthgse 3 trial. For example:
e a multicenter trial could result in increased vhility due to varying site characteristics, suchazsil standards of car

e  amulticenter trial could result in increasediability due to varying patient characteristicsliding demographic factors, health
status, underlying reason for disease state antbogitant medications; ar

e diagnosis of diabetic gastroparesis by physicisntduding use of gastric emptying tests, coulle@atefor a patient population that
differs from those patients included within pre\salinical trials.

If we are not able to obtain regulatory approval for EVK-001, we will not be able to commercialize this product candidate and our ability to
generate revenue will be limited.

We have not submitted an NDA or received regulagggroval to market any product candidates in angdiction. We are not permitted to
market EVKOOL1 in the United States until we receive apprafan NDA for the product candidate in a particuratication from the FDA. T
date, we have completed one Phase 2b clinicalftridtVK-001 in diabetic subjects with gastropasemnd acquired the results from a separat
Phase 2 clinical trial in diabetic patients witlsggaparesis. In the Phase 2b clinical trial thap@egormed ourselves, which concluded in 2011,
EVK-001 failed to meet the primary endpoint for thal. Although an overall improvement in symptomas observed in EVK-001-treated
patients with diabetic gastroparesis compareddogtio in this Phase 2b clinical trial, the differemvas not statistically significant due to a
high placebo response among male subjects. ThereRflase 2 clinical trial performed by Questcoswanulticenter, randomized, open-label,
parallel design study. This head-to-head study @etbthe efficacy and safety of two doses of mefwelmide nasal spray, 10 mg and 20 mg,
with the FDA-approved 10 mg metoclopramide tabAdhough data from the earlier Phase 2 clinicalltwill be referenced in the EVK-001
NDA, the ope-label study design limits the importance of thiécaty results in the NDA.

We commenced our Phase 3 clinical trial in femalgemts with symptoms associated with acute anarrect diabetic gastroparesis in April
2014. There is no guarantee that this Phase 2alitrial or any other future trials will be sucsisg or that regulators will agree with our
assessment of the clinical trials for EVK-001 coctéd to date. In addition, we have only limited ex@nce in filing
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the applications necessary to gain regulatory ajgiscand expect to rely on consultants and thirtypaontract research organizations to assis
us in this process. The FDA and other regulatove Isabstantial discretion in the approval proceskmay refuse to accept any application or
may decide that our data are insufficient for appt@nd require additional clinical trials, or pliacal or other studies.

Varying interpretation of the data obtained froreginical and clinical testing could delay, limit prevent regulatory approval of a product
candidate. Furthermore, we have acquired our righE/K-001 from Questcor, who acquired its rightsm a predecessor. Thus, much of the
preclinical and a portion of the clinical data talg to EVK-001 that we would expect to submit mMDA for EVK-001 was obtained from
studies conducted before we owned the rights t@tbduct candidate and, accordingly, was prepanéd@anaged by others. These
predecessors may not have applied the same resandegiven the same attention to this developmegram as we would have if we had
been in control from inception.

EVK-001 and the activities associated with its depment and potential commercialization, includitsgtesting, manufacture, safety, efficacy,
recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, adsiagi promotion, sale and distribution, are subjectomprehensive regulation by the FDA
other regulatory agencies in the United Statesbgnctbmparable authorities in other countries. Faito obtain regulatory marketing approval
for EVK-001 will prevent us from commercializingetiproduct candidate, and our ability to generaterrae will be materially impaired.

The FDA may impose requirements on our clinical trials that are difficult to comply with, which could harm our business.

The requirements that the FDA may impose on clirtitgas for EVK-001 are uncertain. We are condagtone Phase 3 trial in adult female
subjects with diabetic gastroparesis, which, alith a thorough ECG (QT) trial, we believe will bafficient for NDA submission seeking an
indication of treatment of symptoms associated wittbetic gastroparesis in women. In April 2014,c@enmenced a multicenter, randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-groupaBé 3 clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy, $and population pharmacokinetics of EVK-
001 in adult female subjects with diabetic gastrepia when dosed four times a day for 28 dayshoaigh we believe successful results from
this single Phase 3 clinical trial, along with therough ECG (QT) trial, will be sufficient to allous to submit an NDA for EVK-001, it is
possible the FDA will require additional clinicasting before submission or approval of the NDA.adldition, based on discussions with the
FDA, we also are conducting a similar study foesafind efficacy in adult male subjects with diabgastroparesis which is not required for
an NDA submission. If we are unable to comply wtita FDA'’s requirements, we will not be able toabtapproval for EVK-001 and our
ability to generate revenue will be materially irpd.

Any termination or suspension of, or delaysin the enrollment or completion of, our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial could result in increased
coststo us, delay or limit our ability to generate revenue and adver sely affect our commercial prospects.

Delays in the enroliment or completion of our omgpPhase 3 clinical trial for EVK-001 could signdintly affect our product development
costs. We do not know whether this trial will cortigl enroliment or produce data on schedule, ifl.atlae commencement and completion of
clinical trials can be delayed for a number of cges including delays related to:

e the FDA placing the clinical trial on hol

e  subjects failing to enroll or remain in our trélthe rate we expect (for example, due to vagighlient frequency and severity of
disease and variability in gastric emptying testil

e  subjects choosing an alternative treatment feiiridication for which we are developing EVK-00t participating in competing
clinical trials;

e  subjects experiencing severe or unexpected-related adverse effect

e afacility manufacturing EVK-001 or any of itsraponents being ordered by the FDA or other goventroeregulatory authorities to
temporarily or permanently shut down due to violas of cGMP or other applicable requirements, faditions or cross-
contaminations of product candidate in the manufatg process

e any changes to our manufacturing process that mayebessary or desire

e third-party clinical investigators losing theiténse or permits necessary to perform our cliritals, not performing our clinical trials
on our anticipated schedule or consistent withctimécal trial protocol, GCP and regulatory requirents, or other third parties not
performing data collection and analysis in a tim@lyaccurate manne

° inspections of clinical trial sites by the FDAtbe finding of regulatory violations by the FDA @n IRB that require us to undertake
corrective action, result in suspension or ternigmabf one or more sites or the imposition of aickl hold on the entire trial, or that
prohibit us from using some or all of the datauport of our marketing applicatior
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e third-party contractors becoming debarred or sndpd or otherwise penalized by the FDA or othe@egument or regulatory
authorities for violations of regulatory requirerntgnn which case we may need to find a substitotdéractor, and we may not be able
to use some or any of the data produced by sudinambors in support of our marketing applications

e one or more IRBs refusing to approve, suspendirtgrminating the trial at an investigational sfieecluding enroliment of additional
subjects, or withdrawing its approval of the tr

Product development costs will increase if we hdelays in testing or approval of EVK-001, or if weed to perform more or larger clinical
trials than planned. Additionally, changes in regoity requirements and policies may occur and wg mead to amend clinical trial protocols
to reflect these changes. Amendments may requite resubmit our clinical trial protocols to IRBsrfreexamination, which may impact the
costs, timing or successful completion of a clihtdal. If we experience delays in completion ofibwe, the FDA or other regulatory
authorities, the IRB, or other reviewing entities any of our clinical trial sites suspend or teraie any of our clinical trials, the commercial
prospects for our product candidate may be harmddar ability to generate product revenues wilbetayed. In addition, many of the factors
that cause, or lead to, termination or suspendioor@ delay in the commencement or completiortiajcal trials may also ultimately lead to
the denial of regulatory approval of a product é¢datk. Also, if one or more clinical trials are agtd, our competitors may be able to bring
products to market before we do, and the commev@aility of EVK-001 could be significantly redude

On February 2, 2015, we announced that overallllemeat in our Phase 3 clinical trial of EVK-001 hasen slower than anticipated and that
enrollment is projected to be completed in the sddualf of 2015. As of February 2, 2015, we hadlcamized 74 subjects, and we anticipate
fully enrolling this trial in the second half of 25. Continued delays in the enrollment and commtetif the Phase 3 trial, as well as potential
delays in any other clinical trials and studiesjldde harmful to our business and cause us tdreeqdditional funding sooner than anticipa

Final marketing approval for EVK-001 by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for commercial use may be delayed, limited, or denied,
any of which would adversely affect our ability to generate operating revenues.

After the completion of our Phase 3 clinical tdald, assuming the results of the trial are sucekdbt submission of an NDA, we cannot
predict whether or when we will obtain regulatoppeoval to commercialize EVK-001 and we cannotréfare, predict the timing of any
future revenue. Because EVK-001 is our only prodactdidate this risk is particularly significant iess. We cannot commercialize EVK-001
until the appropriate regulatory authorities hasdewed and approved marketing applications far pnoduct candidate. We cannot assure yo
that the regulatory agencies will complete thewie® processes in a timely manner or that we witein regulatory approval for EVK-001. In
addition, we may experience delays or the appticatiay be rejected based upon additional governmegntation from future legislation or
administrative action or changes in FDA policy dgrihe period of product development, clinicall&riand FDA regulatory review. For
example, in 2009 following an FDA review of metqmlamide spontaneous safety reports, the FDA redjaitgoxed warning be added to the
metoclopramide product label concerning the chari¢ardive dyskinesia, or TD, for patients takihgs$e products. The FDA requires a boxec
warning (sometimes referred to as a “Black Box” Wiag) for products that have shown a significask 0f severe or life-threatening adverse
events. Recently, the European Medicines Agencgim@ittee on Medicinal Products for Human Use, oMFH has reviewed and has
proposed labeling changes for marketed metocloglaimioducts in the European Union based on agsgigsidelines or indications. Based
on their assessment of the limited efficacy andtgadata currently available to the CHMP, the CHMBommended to the European Medic
Agency that indications with limited or inconclusiefficacy data, including GERD, dyspepsia andrgpstesis, be removed from the apprc
product label in the European Union. There candassurance as to whether the FDA will re-reviepraped metoclopramide product labels
as a result of any such regulatory actions in thipgean Union or otherwise. If marketing approealEVK-001 is delayed, limited or denied,
our ability to market the product candidate, andahility to generate product sales, would be asbigraffected.

If the FDA does not conclude that EVK-001 satisfies the requirements for the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if the
requirements under Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for our primary product candidate will likely take
significantly longer, cost significantly more and entail significantly greater complications and risks than anticipated, and in either case may
not be successful.

We intend to seek FDA approval through the Sedsi@®(b)(2) regulatory pathway for our primary prodcandidate, EVK-001. EVK-001 is a
drug/device combination product that will be regedaunder the drug provisions of the FFDCA, enaplia to submit an NDA for its approval.
The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoraict of 1984, also known as the Hatch-Waxman Adments, added Section 505(b)
(2) to the FDCA.. Section 505(b)(2) permits thenfijliof an NDA where at least some of the informatiequired for approval comes from
studies not conducted by or for the applicant amdvhich the applicant has not obtained a rightedéérence.
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If the FDA does not allow us to pursue the Sechi6f(b)(2) regulatory pathway as anticipated, we magd to conduct additional clinical
trials, provide additional data and information aneet additional standards for regulatory appra¥ahis were to occur, the time and financial
resources required to obtain FDA approval for EMKEQOand the complications and risks associated evitHead product candidate, would
likely substantially increase. We may need to ebsaiditional funding, which could result in sigodit dilution to the ownership interests of
our then existing stockholders to the extent weassquity securities or convertible debt. We camssure you that we would be able to obtain
such additional financing on terms acceptable tdf i all. Moreover, inability to pursue the Seat505(b)(2) regulatory pathway could result
in competitive products reaching the market befew#-001, which could impact our competitive positiand prospects. Even if we are
allowed to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulapathway, we cannot assure you that EVK-001 or aiyré product candidates will receive
the requisite approvals for commercialization.

Even if we obtain marketing approval for EVK-001, it could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market and we may be subject
to penaltiesif we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problemswith our product candidate, when
and if EVK-001 is approved.

Even if U.S. regulatory approval is obtained, tiAFmay still impose significant restrictions on EM}01's indicated uses or marketing or
impose ongoing requirements for potentially coathg time consuming post-approval studies, post-atakrveillance or clinical trials. EVK-
001 will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirensegdverning the labeling, packaging, storage, itligtion, safety surveillance, advertising,
promotion, recordkeeping and reporting of safety ather post-market information. In addition, mautfirers of drug products and their
facilities are subject to continual review and pdit inspections by the FDA and other regulatotharities for compliance with cGMP
requirements relating to quality control, qualigsarance and corresponding maintenance of recotldauments. If we or a regulatory
agency discovers previously unknown problems wipiaaluct, such as adverse events of unanticipa&egtisy or frequency, or problems with
the facility where the product is manufacturedegutatory agency may impose restrictions on thadpet, the manufacturing facility or us,
including requesting recall or withdrawal of th@guct from the market or suspension of manufacgurin

If we or the manufacturing facilities for EVK-00aifFto comply with applicable regulatory requirertgra regulatory agency may:
e  issue warning letters or untitled lette
e seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkigg or monetary fines
e  suspend or withdraw regulatory appro\
e  suspend any ongoing clinical tria
e refuse to approve pending applications or supplésn@napplications filed by u
e  suspend or impose restrictions on operations, dietucostly new manufacturing requirements
e  seize or detain products, refuse to permit the itnmoexport of product, or request us to initiatproduct recall

The occurrence of any event or penalty describeg@inay inhibit our ability to commercialize ouioducts and generate revenue.

The FDA has the authority to require a REMS asralitmn of approval of an NDA or following approyathich may impose further
requirements or restrictions on the distributioruse of an approved drug, such as limiting presugilo certain physicians or medical centers
that have undergone specialized training, limitigtment to patients who meet certain safe-userieriand requiring treated patients to enroll
in a registry. In March 2009, the FDA informed dmgnufacturers that it will require a REMS for neépramide drug products, including a
Medication Guide, elements to assure safe usauflimgj an education program for prescribers and maddefor prescribers to educate patients)
and a timetable for submission of assessmentsleést six months, 12 months, and annually afleiREMS is approved. We intend to submit
a proposed REMS at the time of the NDA submissiorEVK-001.

In addition, if EVK-001 is approved, our produdbéding, advertising and promotion would be subfeategulatory requirements and
continuing regulatory review. The FDA strictly rdgtes the promotional claims that may be made ap@gcription products. In particular, a
product may not be promoted for uses that are pyotoaved by the FDA as reflected in the product’sraped labeling. If we receive marketing
approval for EVK-001, physicians may neverthelagsgribe it to their patients in a manner thah&nsistent with the approved label. If we
are found to have promoted such off-label usesnag become subject to significant liability. The A&ABnd other agencies actively enforce the
laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion fiflabel uses, and a company that is found to haygoperly promoted offabel uses may |
subject to significant sanctions. The federal goment has levied large civil and criminal finesiagacompanies for alleged improper
promotion and has enjoined several companies frogaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has alsquested that companies enter into
consent decrees or permanent injunctions underhwggecified promotional conduct is changed or deda
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Even if we receive regulatory approval for EVK-001, we still may not be able to successfully commercialize it and the revenue that we
generate from its sales, if any, will be limited.

EVK-001's commercial success will depend upon tteeptance of the product candidate by the medaaheunity, including physicians,
patients and health care payors. The degree ofeanhadceptance of our product candidate will depend number of factors, including:

e demonstration of clinical efficacy and safety conggbto other morestablished product
e the limitation of our targeted patient populationstomer-only;

° limitations or warnings contained in any FDA-apyed labeling, including the potential boxed waghan all metoclopramide product
labels concerning the chance of TD for patientstakhese products, or any limitations with resgeanetoclopramide product labels
in the European Uniot

e  acceptance of a new formulation by health careigers and their patient

e the prevalence and severity of any adverse eff

e new procedures or methods of treatment that maydre effective in treating or may reduce the inoickss of diabetic gastropares
e  pricing and cos-effectiveness

e the effectiveness of our or any future collabor’ sales and marketing strategi

e  our ability to obtain and maintain sufficientrdhiparty coverage and reimbursement from governtnealth care programs, including
Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers @thér thirc-party payors; an

e the willingness of patients to pay -of-pocket in the absence of th-party coverage

If EVK-001 is approved, but does not achieve argadee level of acceptance by physicians, health payors and patients, we may not
generate sufficient revenue, and we may not betaldehieve or sustain profitability. Our effortsdducate the medical community and third-
party payors on the benefits of EVK-001 may regsigmificant resources and may never be succedsfatldition, our ability to successfully
commercialize our product candidate will dependuonability to manufacture our products, differaitdi our products from competing prodt
and defend the intellectual property of our product

It will be difficult for usto profitably sell EVK-001 if coverage and reimbursement are limited.

Market acceptance and sales of our product caredigiéitdepend on coverage and reimbursement psliaie may be affected by healthcare
reform measures. Government authorities and thartlygpayors, such as private health insurers aatthhmaintenance organizations, decide
which medications they will pay for and establisimtbursement levels. A primary trend in the U.Qltieare industry and elsewhere is cost
containment. Government authorities and these-fhartly payors have attempted to control costsritilig coverage and the amount of
reimbursement for particular medications. Increglginthird-party payors have been challenging thegs charged for products. They may als
refuse to provide any coverage of uses of apprpveducts for medical indications other than thagenfhich the FDA has granted marketing
approval. This trend may impact the reimbursementréatments for Gl disorders especially, inclgdit\VK-001, as physicians typically focus
on symptoms rather than underlying conditions wineating patients with these disorders and drug®#ien prescribed for uses outside of
their approved indications. In instances whereaadtive products are available, it may be requihed those alternative treatment options are
tried before coverage and reimbursement are avaifabEVK-001. Although EVK-001 is a novel nasaray formulation of metoclopramide,
this is the same active ingredient that is alresahjlable in other formulations approved for theatment of gastroparesis that are already
widely available at generic prices. We cannot bre sliat coverage will be available for EVK-001 aifidtoverage is available, the level of
reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the derfwaindr the price of, this product candidate. Inligidn, in certain foreign countries,
particularly the countries of the European Unitw pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is scibje governmental control. If
reimbursement is not available or is available daliimited levels, we may not be able to succdgswmmercialize our product candidate.

We rely and will continueto rely on outsourcing arrangements for many of our activities, including clinical development and supply of EVK-
001.

We have only seven full-time employees and, asaltieve rely on outsourcing arrangements for aifigant portion of our activities,
including clinical research, data collection andlgsis and manufacturing, as well as functioning asiblic company. We may have limited
control over these third parties and we cannotajuee that they will perform their obligations im éffective and timely manner.
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We have retained SynteractHCR, a contract reseaganization, or CRO, to conduct our ongoing Pl8asknical trial of EVK-001. We rely
on our CRO to recruit suitable patients to partibépin the trial at each trial site. Enrollmenbimr Phase 3 clinical trial of EVK-001 has
progressed more slowly than anticipated, and athave have undertaken additional initiatives toé@ase enrollment and to further assist
clinical trial sites in the identification of eligle study subjects, our CRO is ultimately respdesibr recruitment efforts.

The manufacture of pharmaceutical products reqeigesficant expertise and capital investment,udahg the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. dMeotlown or operate manufacturing facilities tog production of any component of EVK-
001, including metoclopramide, the nasal sprayaewr associated bottle, nor do we have plansueldpe our own manufacturing operations
in the foreseeable future. We currently depenchod-party contract manufacturers for all of ougu&ed raw materials, drug substance and
drug product for our clinical trials. For EVK-00die are currently using, and relying on, single $igpp and single manufacturers for starting
materials, the final drug substance and nasal gpehlyery device. Although potential alternativeppliers and manufacturers for some
components have been identified, we have not ge@lihese vendors to date. If we were requirechémge vendors, it could result in a failure
to meet regulatory requirements or projected tinediand necessary quality standards for successfulifacturing of the various required lots
of material for our development and commercialmagfforts.

We do not have any current contractual relatiorsfop the manufacture of commercial supplies of EQXKL. If EVK-001 is approved for sale
by any regulatory agency, we intend to enter igieeaments with third-party contract manufacturerccbmmercial production. The number of
third-party manufacturers with the expertise, reggiiregulatory approvals and facilities to manufeebulk drug substance on a commercial
scale is limited. We have identified one manufaatdior potentially providing commercial suppliesE¥K-001; however, no alternative
providers have been identified to date. If we arahle to come to terms on becoming our commeragapléer with this manufacturer, we wou
have to find replacements, which could delay thermercialization of our product candidate.

In addition, our reliance on third party CROs andtcact manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, ésfairther risks including:
e nor-compliance by third parties with regulatory andlgyaontrol standards
e  breach by third parties of our agreements with tt
e termination or no-renewal of an agreement with third parties;

e  sanctions imposed by regulatory authorities ihpounds supplied or manufactured by a third parppBer or manufacturer fail to
comply with applicable regulatory standar

We face substantial competition, which may result in others selling their products more effectively than we do, and in others discovering,
developing or commercializing product candidates before, or more successfully, than we do.

Our future success depends on our ability to detratesand maintain a competitive advantage witpeesto the design, development and
commercialization of EVK-001. We anticipate thati&@01, if approved, would compete directly with melbpramide, erythromycin and
domperidone, each of which is available under wariwvade names sold by several major pharmacegtcapanies, including generic
manufacturers. Metoclopramide is the only moleculeently approved in the United States to treatrgparesis. Metoclopramide is
genericallyavailable and indicated for the relief of symptoassociated with acute and recurrent diabetic gaestesis, without the limitation
use in women only.

Many of our potential competitors have substantigtkater financial, technical and personnel resesithan we have. In addition, many of
these competitors have significantly greater coneiakinfrastructures than we have. We will not bdeao compete successfully unless we
successfully:

e assure health care providers, patients and healthpayors that EV-001 is beneficial compared to other products inntlaeket;

e  obtain patent and/or other proprietary protectmmBEVK-001;

e obtain and maintain required regulatory approvatEVK-001; anc

e collaborate with others to effectively market, seitl distribute EVI-001.
Established competitors may invest heavily to qyickscover and develop novel compounds that cowddte our product candidate obsolete.
In addition to our EVK-001 product candidate, we aware of other development candidates in clirdeaklopment. Any of these product
candidates could advance through clinical developrfaster than EVK-001 and, if approved, couldiatfaster and greater market acceptance

than our product candidate. If we are not ableotoete effectively against our current and futwmnpetitors, our business will not grow and
our financial condition and operations will suffer.
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We have no sales, marketing or distribution capabilities currently and we will have to invest significant resources to develop these
capabilities.

Currently, we have no internal sales, marketindistribution capabilities. If EVK-001 ultimately ceives regulatory approval, we may not be
able to effectively market and distribute the pretdtandidate. We will have to invest significantamts of financial and management
resources to develop internal sales, distributimh marketing capabilities, some of which will beruitted prior to any confirmation that
EVK-001 will be approved. We may not be able tehionsultants or external service providers tesassiin sales, marketing and distribution
functions on acceptable financial terms or atEken if we determine to perform sales, marketing) @istribution functions ourselves, we co
face a number of additional related risks, inclgdin

e inability to attract and build an effective markegtidepartment or sales for«

e the cost of establishing a marketing departmesttes force may exceed our available financedueces and the revenues generatec
by EVK-001 or any other product candidates that we magldpyir-license or acquire; ar

e  our direct sales and marketing efforts may notuzeassful

If wefail to attract and retain senior management and key commercial personnel, we may be unable to successfully complete the
development of EVK-001 and commercialize this product candidate.

Our success depends in part on our continuedyatilidttract, retain and motivate highly qualifiénagement, clinical and commercial
personnel. We are highly dependent upon our semémragement team composed of three individuals:daviGonyer, R.Ph., our President
and Chief Executive Officer, Matthew J. D’Onofrayr Executive Vice President and Chief Businessc®ff and Marilyn Carlson, D.M.D.,
M.D., our Chief Medical Officer. The loss of sergfcof any of these individuals could delay or prevbe successful development of E\OR4
or the commercialization of this product candiditapproved.

We will need to hire and retain qualified personiéé could experience problems in the future afitigcand retaining qualified employees.
example, competition for qualified personnel in iietechnology and pharmaceuticals field is inteipseticularly in the San Diego, California
area where we are headquartered. We may not bécahtact and retain quality personnel on acd#etierms who have the expertise we r
to sustain and grow our business.

We may encounter difficultiesin managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully.

Because we currently have only seven fulle employees, we will need to grow our organ@asubstantially to continue the development
pursue the potential commercialization of EVK-08%.we seek to advance EVK-001, we will need to exipaur development, regulatory,
manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilitiesomtract with third parties to provide these caliiids for us. As our operations expand, we
expect that we will need to manage additional i@fships with various strategic partners, supplérs other third parties. Future growth will
impose significant added responsibilities on memloémanagement and require us to retain additiotednal capabilities. Our future financ
performance and our ability to commercialize EVKEGhd to compete effectively will depend, in part,our ability to manage any future
growth effectively. To that end, we must be ablentinage our development efforts and clinical trédisctively and hire, train and integrate
additional management, clinical and regulatoryafiicial, administrative and sales and marketinggreral. We may not be able to accomplish
these tasks, and our failure to accomplish anheitcould prevent us from successfully growingampany.

Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for usto obtain marketing approval of and commercialize EVK-
001 and affect the prices we may obtain.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictidihere have been a number of legislative and a¢gyl changes and proposed changes
regarding the healthcare system that could presedelay marketing approval for EVK-001, restrictregulate post-approval activities and
affect our ability to profitably sell our producardidate, assuming we obtain marketing approval.

Legislative and regulatory proposals have been n@d&pand post-approval requirements and resiets and promotional activities for
pharmaceutical products. We are not sure whethditiaal legislative changes will be enacted, oettter the FDA regulations, guidance or
interpretations will be changed, or what the impgctuch changes on the marketing approvals of BGK-if any, may be. In addition,
increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the Elavproval process may significantly delay or pneévearketing approval, as well as sub
us to more stringent product labeling and post-etamg testing and other requirements.

In the United States, the Medicare Modernizatioh, Ac MMA, changed the way Medicare covers and gaygpharmaceutical products. The
legislation expanded Medicare coverage for outpatieug purchases by Medicare beneficiaries unaevaPart D and introduced a new
reimbursement methodology based on average sates ffor Medicare Part B physician-administeredgdrun addition, this legislation
authorized Medicare Part D prescription drug plansse formularies where they can limit the nundfedrugs that will be covered in any
therapeutic class. As a result of this legislatod the expansion of federal coverage of drug prsdwe expect that there will be additional
pressure to contain and reduce costs. These chsttien initiatives and other
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provisions of this legislation could decrease theetage and price that we receive for any apprgveducts and could seriously harm our
business. While the MMA applies only to drug betsefior Medicare beneficiaries, private payors oftdlow Medicare coverage policy and
payment limitations in setting their own reimbursarrates, and any reduction in Medicare reimbuesgmay result in a similar reduction in
payments from private payors.

In early 2010, President Obama signed into lawPtiigent Protection and Affordable Care Act, as aadrby the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act, or collectively, the Affordableare Act, a sweeping law intended to broaden adeelsealth insurance, reduce or constrair
the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedigisst fraud and abuse, add new transparencireetgnts for healthcare and health
insurance industries, impose new taxes and fediseonealth industry and impose additional healficpoeforms. The Affordable Care Act,
among other things, increased the Medicaid relmtesi by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug ReBabgram for both branded and
generic drugs and revised the definition of “averaganufacturer price” for reporting purposes, wtdohld further increase the amount of
Medicaid drug rebates to states. Further, the m@wimposes a significant annual fee on companigsntianufacture or import branded
prescription drug products, increased the numbentfies eligible for discounts under the 340Bgsean and included a 50% discount on bi
name drugs for Medicare Part D beneficiaries incibmerage gap, or “donut hole.” Substantial newisions affecting compliance have also
been enacted, which may require us to modify oginmss practices with healthcare practitionersh@lgh it is too early to determine the full
effect of the Affordable Care Act, the new law apselikely to continue the pressure on pharmacalupidcing, especially under the Medicare
program, and may also increase our regulatory Imsrded operating costs.

In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted in the United States sinceffioedAble Care Act was enacted. In Aug
2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011 among othérgh, created the Joint Select Committee on DeReituction to recommend proposals in
spending reductions to Congress. The Joint Selectriittee did not achieve its targeted deficit raauncof at least $1.2 trillion for the years
2013 through 2021, triggering the legislation’scamatic reduction to several government programss ificludes aggregate reductions to
Medicare payments to providers of two percent eaf year, which went into effect on April 1, 20E3d due to subsequent legislative
amendments, will remain in effect through 2024 esledditional Congressional action is taken. Omidgn2, 2013, President Obama signed
into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 20%&ich, among other things, further reduced Medigangments to several providers,
including hospitals, imaging centers and cancatitnent centers. These new laws and the regulagiothgolicies implementing them, as well
as other healthcare reform measures that may hgextim the future, may have a material adverseceéin our industry generally and on our
ability to successfully develop and commercialige products, if approved.

If we market productsin a manner that violates healthcare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate government price reporting laws, we may
be subject to civil or criminal penalties.

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of phmaceutical products, several other types of statefederal healthcare fraud and abuse law
have been applied in recent years to restrict icemarketing practices in the pharmaceutical ingusthese laws include false claims, anti-
kickback and physician payment transparency lawisragulations. Because of the breadth of these $adghe narrowness of the safe harbor:
it is possible that some of our business activitimsld be subject to challenge under one or mothesfe laws.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, amanger things, knowingly and willfully offering, p&g, soliciting or receiving remuneration
to induce, or in return for, purchasing, leasinglesing or arranging for the purchase, lease ocerooflany healthcare item or service
reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other feltiefinanced healthcare programs. This statuteleen interpreted to apply to
arrangements between pharmaceutical manufactuneteeane hand and prescribers, purchasers andimymmanagers on the other.
Although there are several statutory exceptionsragdlatory safe harbors protecting certain comandivities from prosecution, the
exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowlypaaetices that involve remuneration intended ttuae prescribing, purchasing or
recommending may be subject to scrutiny if theyndbqualify for an exception or safe harbor. Owgtices may not in all cases meet all of
criteria for safe harbor protection from anti-kieldk liability. Further, the Affordable Care Act, ang other things, amends the intent
requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statutel dime criminal healthcare fraud statutes that fiblkixecuting a scheme to defraud any
federal healthcare benefit program or making fatagements relating to healthcare matters. A pessemtity no longer needs to have actual
knowledge of these statutes or specific intentistate them in order to have committed a violatibmaddition, the Affordable Care Act
provides that the government may assert that endlagluding items or services resulting from a a&tan of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute
constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purgoskthe federal False Claims Act.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fikgrawingly presenting, or causing to be presentddisa claim for payment to the federal
government or knowingly making, or causing to belea false statement to get a false claim paidlations of the False Claims Act can
result in very significant monetary penalties amdble damages. Over the past few years, severahpleautical and other healthcare compe
have been prosecuted under these laws for a vafietyeged promotional and marketing activitias;ls as: allegedly providing free trips, free
goods, sham consulting fees and grants and otheetawy benefits to prescribers; reporting to pdcservices inflated average wholesale pi
that were then used by federal programs to seta@isement rates; engaging in off-
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label promotion that caused claims to be submittddedicaid for non-covered, off-label uses; andmiiting inflated best price information to
the Medicaid Rebate Program to reduce liabilityNrdicaid rebates. Most states also have statutesgalations similar to the federal anti-
kickback law and false claims laws, which applytémns and services reimbursed under Medicaid amer atate programs, or, in several state:
apply regardless of the payor.

In addition, the Affordable Care Act included tleeléral Physician Payment Sunshine Act, which reguinanufacturers of drugs, devices,
biologics and medical supplies for which paymeraiailable under Medicare, Medicaid or the Childséitealth Insurance Program (with
certain exceptions) to report annually to the gowreent information related to payments or othematisfers of value fade to physicians
(defined to include doctors, dentists, optometristaliatrists and chiropractors) and teaching halkspiand applicable manufacturers and grouj
purchasing organizations to report annually togbeernment ownership and investment interests helshysicians (as defined above) and
their immediate family members. Manufacturers aired to report such data to the government &€ calendar day of each year. There
are also several states with similar laws thatireqirug manufacturers to report information redaie payments and other transfers of value tc
physicians and other healthcare providers or mianggetxpenditures, and/or require pharmaceuticalpzonies to comply with the
pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance gliites and the relevant compliance guidance proatedbby the federal government or
otherwise restrict payments that may be made tiiHueae providers.

The risk of our being found in violation of thesevs and regulations is increased by the fact tlzatynof them have not been fully interpreted
by the regulatory authorities or the courts, aradrthrovisions are open to a variety of interpiietad. If our operations are found to be in
violation of any of the laws described above or ather governmental regulations that apply to usyway be subject to penalties, including
civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, esidn from governmental health care programs, aadtintailment or restructuring of our
operations, any of which could adversely affectatitity to operate our business and our finanealilts.

Federal legislation and actions by state and local governments may permit re-importation of drugs from foreign countriesinto the United
States, including foreign countries where the drugs are sold at lower pricesthan in the United States, which could materially adversely affect
our operating results and our overall financial condition.

We may face competition in the United States foKE)01, if approved, from lower priced products frémneign countries that have placed
price controls on pharmaceutical products. This msy be particularly applicable to drugs such ¥&®01. The MMA contains provisions
that may change U.S. importation laws and expardrphcists’ and wholesalers’ ability to import loweiced versions of an approved drug
and competing products from Canada, where thergamernment price controls. These changes to thoitation laws will not take effect
unless and until the Secretary of Health and HuBemwvices certifies that the changes will pose riitachal risk to the public’s health and
safety and will result in a significant reductionthe cost of products to consumers. The Secrefdrgalth and Human Services has not yet
announced any plans to make this required cettiifica

A number of federal legislative proposals have bmade to implement the changes to the U.S. impontéaws without any certification and
broaden permissible imports in other ways. Evahdfchanges do not take effect, and other charrgasoé enacted, imports from Canada and
elsewhere may continue to increase due to markkpaliical forces, and the limited enforcemenbrgses of the FDA, U.S. Customs and
Border Protection and other government agenciasekample, Pub. L. No. 111-83, which was signed latv in October 2009 and provides
appropriations for the Department of Homeland Sgctor the 2010 fiscal year, expressly prohibitsSUCustoms and Border Protection from
using funds to prevent individuals from importingrh Canada less than a 90-day supply of a pre&mrigtug for personal use, when the drug
otherwise complies with the Federal Food, Drug, @oedmetic Act, or FDCA. Further, several stateslandl governments have implemented
importation schemes for their citizens and, indbeence of federal action to curtail such actisjtige expect other states and local governr
to launch importation efforts.

The importation of foreign products that competehiiVK-001 could negatively impact our revenue anafitability, possibly materially.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of
EVK-001.

We face an inherent risk of product liability aseault of the clinical testing of EVK-001 and wigice an even greater risk if we commercialize
the product candidate. For example, we may be $lEedK-001 allegedly causes injury or is found te btherwise unsuitable during product
testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any spidduct liability claims may include allegationsdefects in manufacturing, defects in
design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent eghoduct candidate, negligence, strict liabilitylaa breach of warranties. Claims could also b
asserted under state consumer protection acts.

In particular, products containing metoclopramidednbeen reported to cause side effects, inclubingt is possible that a patient taking
EVK-001 will be found to experience a variety adeieffects. In 2009, the FDA required a boxed waymn all metoclopramide product labels
concerning the chance of TD for patients takingé¢hgroducts. We expect that the label for EVK-001,
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if approved, will likely contain a similar warnimggarding TD. Several manufactures of metoclopramitducts have been sued by patients
regarding TD.

If we cannot successfully defend ourselves agaireiuct liability claims, we may incur substantiabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of our product candidate. Eveccessful defense would require significant finahared management resources. Regardles
of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claimay result in:

e decreased demand for E-001;

e  injury to our reputation

e withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

e  costs to defend the related litigatic

e adiversion of managem¢s time and our resource

e  substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients

e  product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketargoromotional restriction:
e loss of revenue

e the inability to commercialize EV-001; anc

e adecline in our stock pric

We may form strategic alliances in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such alliances.

We may form strategic alliances, create joint vegglor collaborations or enter into licensing ageanents with third parties that we believe
will complement or augment our existing businessluding for the continued development or comméimztion of EVK-001. These
relationships or those like them may require us¢ar non-recurring and other charges, increasaear- and long-term expenditures, issue
securities that dilute our existing stockholderslisrupt our management and business. In additferface significant competition in seeking
appropriate strategic partners and the negotigtioness is time-consuming and complex. Moreovemag not be successful in our efforts to
establish a strategic partnership or other alteraa@rrangements for EVRO1 because third parties may view the risk of esisén our ongoin
Phase 3 clinical trial as too significant or thenteercial opportunity for our product candidateaslimited. We cannot be certain that,
following a strategic transaction or license, wé achieve the revenues or specific net incomejtistifies such transaction.

Our business and operations would suffer in the event of system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresjraarnal computer systems and those of our ctiaed any future CROs and other
contractors and consultants and collaborators @lreexable to damage from computer viruses, unaizthdaccess, natural disasters, terrorism
war and telecommunication and electrical failuk&sile we have not experienced any such materiaésy$ailure, accident or security breach
to date, if such an event were to occur and causeruptions in our operations, it could resulaimaterial disruption of our development
program for EVKO01 and our business operations. For examplep#sedf clinical trial data from completed or futwtmical trials could resu

in delays in our regulatory approval efforts arghgficantly increase our costs to recover or repoadthe data. Likewise, we rely on third
parties to manufacture EVK-001 and conduct clinidals, and similar events relating to their congpsystems could also have a material
adverse effect on our business. To the extenstiatisruption or security breach were to result lnss of, or damage to, our data or
applications, or inappropriate disclosure of coafitial or proprietary information, we could inciatility and the further development and
commercialization of our product candidate couldiblyed.

Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenues and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.

Our operations could be subject to earthquakesepstortages, telecommunications failures, watertages, floods, hurricanes, typhoons,
fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidsraitd other natural or manmade disasters or bussim@sruptions, for which we are
predominantly self-insured. The occurrence of afiphese business disruptions could seriously harmoperations and financial condition and
increase our costs and expenses. We rely on thirty-manufacturers to produce our EVK-001. Ourigbib obtain clinical supplies of EVK-
001 could be disrupted, if the operations of ttegepliers are affected by a man-made or naturaktis or other business interruption. Our
operations are located in Solana Beach, Califaraa& major earthquake faults and fire zones. Ttate impact on us, our significant
suppliers and our general infrastructure of bedugited near major earthquake faults and fire zand$eing consolidated in certain
geographical areas is unknown, but our operatiadgiaancial condition could suffer in the eventeofnajor earthquake, fire or other natural
disaster.
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If wefail to develop and commercialize other product candidates, we may be unable to grow our business.

As part of our growth strategy, we plan to evaluht=development and/or commercialization of otherapies for Gl motility disorders.
Similar to our initial focus on gastroparesis, wil evaluate opportunities to in-license or acquitber product candidates as well as
commercial products to treat patients sufferingnfforedominantly Gl disorders, seeking to identifgag of high unmet medical needs with
limited treatment options. These other product ahatds will require additional, time-consuming deypenent efforts prior to commercial sale,
including preclinical studies, extensive clinicadls and approval by the FDA and applicable fangiggulatory authorities. All product
candidates are prone to the risks of failure thairzherent in pharmaceutical product developnianhiding the possibility that the drug
candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safel/or effective for approval by regulatory autties. In addition, we cannot assure you that
any such products that are approved will be manurfed or produced economically, successfully conummézed or widely accepted in the
marketplace or be more effective than other comiayavailable alternatives.

If we engage in an acquisition, reorganization or business combination, we will incur a variety of risksthat could adversely affect our
business operations or our stockholders.

From time to time we have considered, and we wilitmue to consider in the future, strategic bussnaitiatives intended to further the
development of our business. These initiatives malpde acquiring businesses, technologies or misdar entering into a business
combination with another company. If we do pursuwehsa strategy, we could, among other things:

e  issue equity securities that would dilute our caritockholder percentage ownershi
e incur substantial debt that may place strains aroperations
e  spend substantial operational, financial and mameagé resources in integrating new businesses, téogies and products; ai

e assume substantial actual or contingent liabili

We may be unable to maintain sufficient product liability insurance.

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient praduiability insurance at an acceptable cost tdgubagainst potential product liability claims
could prevent or inhibit the commercialization obgucts we develop. We currently carry productilighinsurance covering our clinical
studies. Although we maintain such insurance, daiyncthat may be brought against us could resudt @gourt judgment or settlement in an
amount that is not covered, in whole or in partphy insurance or that is in excess of the limitewr insurance coverage. If we determine that
it is prudent to increase our product liability eoage due to the commercial launch of any produetnay be unable to obtain such increased
coverage on acceptable terms or at all. Our ingeraolicies also have various exclusions, and welmasubject to a product liability claim-
which we have no coverage. We will have to payampunts awarded by a court or negotiated in aesedtht that exceed our coverage
limitations or that are not covered by our insusggrand we may not have, or be able to obtain,Sefft capital to pay such amounts.

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property

It isdifficult and costly to protect our intellectual property rights, and we cannot ensure the protection of these rights. Any impairment of our
intellectual property rights would materially affect our business.

We place considerable importance on obtaining paertection for new technologies, products andesses because our commercial succes
will depend, in large part, on obtaining patenttpetion for new technologies, products and processeccessfully defending these patents
against third-party challenges and successfullgreirig our patents against third party competitdrsthat end, we have acquired and will file
applications for patents covering formulations edmihg or uses of EVK-001 or our proprietary pramssas well as other intellectual property
important to our business. One of our patentsedlad EVK-001 was acquired from Questcor. This métbf use patent was not written by us
or our attorneys, and we did not have control ¢kerdrafting and prosecution of these patentsheurQuestcor and other predecessors migh
not have given the same attention to the draftimy@osecution of these patents and applicatiomgeagould have if we had been the owners
of the patent and application and had control ¢lverdrafting and prosecution.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmacautompanies generally is highly uncertain angines complex legal and factual
questions for which legal principles remain unresdl In recent years patent rights have been thiesuwf significant litigation. As a result,
the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability anchmercial value of our patent rights are highlyentain. Our pending and future patent
applications may not result in patents being issmeidh protect our technology or products or whffectively prevent others from
commercializing competitive technologies and praguChanges in either the patent laws or interfiogtaf the patent laws in the United
States and other countries may diminish the valwipopatents or narrow the scope of our patertegtmn. The laws of foreign countries may
not protect our rights to the same extent as the t& the United States. Publications of discoseniethe scientific literature often lag behind
the actual discoveries, and patent applicationkerlJnited
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States and other jurisdictions are typically ndblghed until 18 months after filing, or in somesea not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certair
that we or our predecessors were the first to nfadénventions claimed in our owned and licensaémia or pending patent applications, or
that we or our predecessors were the first tdfditgpatent protection of such inventions One or enoirthese factors could possibly result in
findings of invalidity or unenforceability of one more of the patents we own.

The patent rights we own covering EVK-001 are ladito specific methods of use and formulations efatiopramide. As a result, our ability
to market EVK-001 may be limited by the lack ofgatprotection for the active ingredient itself aitder metoclopramide formulations may
be developed by competitors. The active ingredieEVK-001 is metoclopramide. No patent protecti®@available for metoclopramide itself.
As a result, competitors who develop and receigeiired regulatory approval for competing produaig the same active ingredient as EVK-
001 may market their competing products so lontieg do not infringe any of the method or formwatpatents owned by us.

Others have filed, and in the future are likel¥ik®, patent applications covering products andhtedogies that are similar, identical or
competitive to ours, or important to our busind¥g. cannot be certain that any patent applicationealby a third party will not have priority
over patent applications filed or in-licensed by arsthat we will not be involved in interferen@gposition or invalidity proceedings before
U.S. or foreign patent offices.

We have focused our intellectual property efforighee United States. To the extent that our patertfolio differs from country to country
outside the United States, this may make protedi-001 as a product outside the United States ewvere difficult and unpredictable.
Various countries maintain their own standardsiatetpretation of intellectual property law, potatly creating additional patent risk beyond
even that experienced within the United States.

We also rely on trade secrets to protect technollogyses when we believe patent protection isaspptopriate or obtainable. However, trade
secrets are difficult to protect. While we requeraployees, consultants and other contractors & artb confidentiality agreements, we may
not be able to adequately protect our trade seoraither proprietary information. Our researcHatwdrators and scientific advisors may have
rights to publish data and information in which gve rights. If we cannot maintain the confideitifadf our technology and other confiden
information in connection with our collaboratordaadvisors, our ability to receive patent protatiio protect our proprietary information may
be imperiled.

Claims by third parties that we infringe their proprietary rights may result in liability for damages or prevent or delay our developmental and
commercialization efforts.

The biotechnology industry has been characterigeddguent litigation regarding patent and otheeliectual property rights. Because patent
applications are maintained in secrecy until theliagtion is published, we may be unaware of tipadty patents that may be infringed by
commercialization of EVK-001. In addition, identifition of third party patent rights that may be&vaint to our technology is difficult because
patent searching is imperfect due to differencesiiminology among patents, incomplete databasgshendifficulty in assessing the meaning
of patent claims. Any claims of patent infringemasserted by third parties would be time consuramgjcould likely:

e resultin costly litigation

e divert the time and attention of our technical parel and managemel

e  cause development dela

e  prevent us from commercializing E\-001 until the asserted patent expires or is heldlfi invalid or not infringed in a court of la\
e require us to develop n-infringing technology; o

e  require us to enter into royalty or licensing agneats.

Although no third party has asserted a claim afmgiement against us, others may hold proprietights that could prevent EVK-001 from
being marketed. Any patent-related legal actionregaus claiming damages or seeking to enjoin coroi@leactivities relating to our product
candidate or processes could subject us to potdiabéity for damages and could require us toaibta license to continue to manufacture or
market EVK-001, or, if no such license were avdédain commercially viable terms, could require mséase manufacturing and marketing of
EVK-001. We cannot predict whether we would preiwrainy such actions or that any license requiratku any of these patents would be
made available on commercially acceptable termet, dll. In addition, we cannot be sure that weldoedesign our product candidate or
processes to avoid infringement, if necessary. Atiogly, an adverse determination in a judiciabdministrative proceeding, or the failure to
obtain necessary licenses, could prevent us froraldping and commercializing EVK-001, which coularim our business, financial condition
and operating results. Whatever the outcome, atgnpétigation would be costly and time consumioguld be distracting to our management
and could have a material adverse effect on ounbss.
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We may be subject to claims that we have wrongfully hired an employee from a competitor or that we or our employees have wrongfully used
or disclosed alleged confidential information or trade secrets of their former employers.

As is commonplace in our industry, we employ andscidt with individuals who were previously employatdbother biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competibongotential competitors. Although no claims agaims are currently pending, we may be
subject in the future to claims that our employaesonsultants are subject to a continuing obligato their former employers or clients (such
as non-competition or non-solicitation obligations)claims that our employees, our consultants@heve inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary inédion of their former employers or clients. Litigat may be necessary to defend against thes
claims. Even if we are successful in defendingregahese claims, litigation could result in subttd costs and be a distraction to
management.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foCapital
Our recurring losses from operations have raised substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern.

Our recurring losses from operations raise subisfaddubt about our ability to continue as a gategcern, and as a result, our independent
registered public accounting firm included an erplary paragraph in its report on our financiatesteents as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2014 with respect to this uncertaifitys going concern opinion could materially liroiir ability to raise additional funds
through the issuance of new debt or equity seesriir otherwise. Future reports on our financetkeshents may also include an explanatory
paragraph with respect to our ability to continseaoing concern. We have incurred significassés since our inception and have never
been profitable, and it is possible we will nevehiave profitability. We have devoted our resourttedeveloping our product candidate, but it
cannot be marketed until regulatory approvals Hmeen obtained. Based upon our currently expectel ¢ operating expenditures, we exg.
to be able to fund our operations through the dr2Da5. This period could be shortened if thereaamg significant increases in planned
spending on our EVK-001 development program or mapéd progress of our ongoing Phase 3 clinical than anticipated. There is no
assurance that other financing will be availablemwheeded to allow us to continue as a going can@ére perception that we may not be able
to continue as a going concern may cause otheisamse not to deal with us due to concerns abaualulity to meet our contractual
obligations.

We have incurred significant operating losses since inception, and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future. We may never become
profitable or, if achieved, be able to sustain profitability.

We have incurred significant operating losses simeavere founded in 2007 and expect to incur sicgmift losses for the next several years
related to completing our Phase 3 clinical trial &¥K-001, and seeking regulatory approval from BIA to manufacture and commercialize
EVK-001. Our net loss for the year ended DecemhbieRB814, was approximately $13.2 million. As of Betber 31, 2014, we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $35.9 millidkresses have resulted principally from costs iretdiin our clinical trials, research and
development programs and from our general and asimative expenses, especially since we becamdlicmmompany in September 2013. In
the future, we intend to continue to conduct resdeand development, clinical testing, regulatorsnpbiance activities and, if EVK-001 is
approved, sales and marketing activities that,ttegenith anticipated general and administrativpesses, will likely result in our incurring
further significant losses for the next severalrgea

We currently generate no revenue from sales, anchayenever be able to commercialize EYR1 or other marketable drugs. As a result, t
can be no assurance that we will ever generateoegeor achieve profitability, which could impairr@bility to sustain operations or obtain
any required additional funding. If we achieve gadfility in the future, we may not be able to suistprofitability in subsequent periods.

If wefail to obtain the capital necessary to fund our operations, we will be unable to successfully develop and commercialize EVK-001.

We will require substantial future capital in ordercomplete the remaining clinical developmentEMK-001 and to potentially commerciali
this product candidate. The amount and timing gfexpenditure needed to implement our developmetitammercialization programs will
depend on numerous factors, including:

e the progress, costs, results of and timing ofalinical development program for EVK-001, includiour ongoing Phase 3 clinical
trial;

e the need for, and the progress, costs and refulisy additional clinical trials of EVK-001 weaw initiate based on the results of our
planned and ongoing clinical trials or discussiaith the FDA, including any additional trials th®& or other regulatory agencies
may require evaluating the safety of E-001;

e the outcome, costs and timing of seeking and oisigiregulatory approvals from the FDA, and any famiegulatory agencie

e the timing and costs associated with manufactugx# -001 for clinical trials and other studies and,dpeoved, for commercial sal
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e our need and ability to hire additional managemeenelopment and scientific personr

e the cost to maintain, expand and defend the sobpar intellectual property portfolio, includirige amount and timing of any
payments we may be required to make, or that wemagive, in connection with licensing, filing, pezution, defense and
enforcement of any patents or other intellectuapprty rights;

e the timing and costs associated with establishatgssand marketing capabilitie
e market acceptance of E\-001;

e the extent to which we are required to pay milestonother payments under our Mallinckrodt assetlmse agreement and the tinr
of such payment:

e the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing duitional businesses, products, product candidatidgechnologies; ar

e  our need to implement additional internal systemsiafrastructure, including financial and repogtisystems

Some of these factors are outside of our contr@.cdhnot provide any assurance that our existipgataesources, which include the proce
from our initial public offering, will be sufficietnto enable us to fund the completion of our Ptasknical trial and remaining development

program, and, in any event, we will need to radditional capital to submit marketing applicatidosand prepare for commercialization of

EVK-001 should we receive product approval. We megd to raise additional funds in the near futareamplete development activities for
EVK-001.

We may seek additional funding through collaboratgreements and public or private financings.éxample, in November 2014 we enterec
into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, ofSéiles Agreement, with MLV & Co. LLC, or MLV, pursuiato which we may sell from tirr

to time, at our option, up to an aggregate of $6iléon of shares of our common stock through Mla#, sales agent. Sales of our common
stock made pursuant to the Sales Agreement are amadilbe NASDAQ Capital Market under our shelf région statement on Form 3filed
on November 13, 2014, which was declared effedtivehe SEC on November 25, 2014, by means of orgim@kers’ transactions at market
prices. Although sales of our common stock havenigiace pursuant to the Sales Agreement, therbean assurance that MLV will be
successful in consummating future sales basederajling market conditions or in the quantitiesabthe prices that we deem

appropriate . Under current SEC regulations, gitane during which the aggregate market valuewfammon stock held by non-affiliates,
or public float, is less than $75.0 million, the@mt we can raise through primary public offerio§securities in any twelve-month period
using shelf registration statements, includingsaleder the Sales Agreement, is limited to an aggecof one-third of our public float. As of
November 11, 2014, our public float was 2.9 millsirares, the value of which was $20.0 million bagsah the closing price of our comm
stock of $6.86 on such date. The value of one-thfirur public float calculated on the same basis $6.6 million. In addition, we will not be
able to make future sales of our common stock @unisto the Sales Agreement unless certain conditoa met, which include the accuracy of
representations and warranties made to MLV undeftiles Agreement. Furthermore, MLV is permittetetminate the Sales Agreement ir
sole discretion upon ten days’ notice, or at ametin certain circumstances, including the occureesf an event that would be reasonably
likely to have a material adverse effect on ouetssdusiness, operations, earnings, propertieslitian (financial or otherwise), prospects,
stockholders’ equity or results of operations.

Additional funding may not be available to us ocegtable terms or at all. In addition, the termarmyf financing may adversely affect the
holdings or the rights of our stockholders. In #iddi the issuance of additional shares by ushepbssibility of such issuance, may cause the
market price of our shares to decline and diluéehtbldings of our existing stockholders .

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely ba#irequired, we will be unable to complete tingoing Phase 3 clinical trial for EVK-001
and may be required to significantly curtail allanfr activities. We also could be required to sfekls through arrangements with collabora
partners or otherwise that may require us to reistgrights to our product candidate or some oftechnologies or otherwise agree to terms
unfavorable to us.

The terms of our secured debt facility require usto meet certain operating and financial covenants and place restrictions on our operating
and financial flexibility. If we raise additional capital through debt financing, the terms of any new debt could further restrict our ability to
operate our business.

We have a $4.5 million loan and security agreemettit Square 1 Bank, or Square 1, that is secureal IBn covering substantially all of our
personal property, excluding intellectual prope@y December 31, 2014, we drew the entire $4.5aniline. The credit facility contains
affirmative and negative covenants applicable tangany subsidiaries we create in the future.dffienative covenants include, among
others, covenants requiring us to maintain ourllegastence and governmental approvals, delivemgefinancial reports, maintain insurance
coverage and meet certain covenants with respestradlment and results of our Phase 3 trial foKEMO1. The negative covenants include,
among others, restrictions on transferring collteéncurring additional indebtedness, engaginmergers or acquisitions, paying dividends or
making other distributions, making investmentsatiregy liens and selling assets, in each case dubjeertain exceptions. The credit facility
also includes events of default, the occurrencecantinuation of which provide Square 1 with thghtito exercise remedies against us and th
collateral securing the term loans under the credit
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facility, including foreclosure against our propestsecuring the credit facilities, including oash. These events of default include, among
other things, our failure to pay any amounts dugeuithe credit facility, a breach of covenants urible credit facility, our insolvency, a
material adverse change, the occurrence of anyldefader certain other indebtedness in an amotaatgr than $400,000 and a final judgn
against us in an amount greater than $400,000.r8dueould declare a default upon the occurren@ngpfevent that they interpret as a mat:
adverse change as defined under the loan agreetiergby requiring us to repay the loan immediatelio attempt to reverse the declaration
of default through negotiation or litigation. Angdaration by the lender of an event of defauli@¢@ignificantly harm our business and
prospects and could cause the price of our comioak $0 decline. If we raise any additional debsficing, the terms of such additional debt
could further restrict our operating and finandiekibility.

Our ability to use net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and certain built-in losses to reduce future tax paymentsis limited by
provisions of the I nternal Revenue Code, and may be subject to further limitation asa result of the transactions completed in connection
with our initial public offering.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code€9861as amended, if a corporation undergoes anémship change”generally defined as
greater than 50% change (by value) in its equitpenship over a three year period), the corporagiaiility to use its pre-change net operating
loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax at&#to offset its post-change income may be limifesda result of our initial public offering,
our most recent private placement and other traiogsecthat have occurred over the past three yasrsnay have experienced an “ownership
change.” We may also experience ownership chamgiifuture as a result of subsequent shifts irstack ownership. As of December 31,
2014, we had federal and state net operating Exsgforwards of approximately $33.2 million and $#illion, respectively, and federal
research and development credits of approximatkly fillion which could be limited if we experienaa “ownership change.”

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
An active trading market for our common stock may not develop or be sustained.

Prior to our initial public offering in SeptembedI3, there was no public market for our commonistéa active trading market may never
develop or be sustained. If an active trading ntaitkes not develop or is not sustained, it mayifieult to sell shares of our common stock at
a price that is desirable or at all. In additiom,jmactive market may impair our ability to raispital by selling shares and may impair our
ability to acquire other companies or technolodpgsising our shares as consideration, which, in, ttould materially adversely affect our
business. Since the commencement of trading inexdimm with our initial public offering in Septemb2013 through February 23, 2015, the
sale price per share of our common stock on The DG Capital Market has ranged from a low of $4.@athigh of $14.25.

The price of the shares of our common stock could be highly volatile, and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial losses.

Our stock price is likely to be volatile and coblel subject to wide fluctuations in response toaweifactors, some of which are beyond our
control. The stock market in general and the maideiotechnology companies in particular haveezignced extreme volatility that has often
been unrelated to the operating performance ofcodait companies. As a result of this volatilitgyestors may not be able to sell their comi
stock at or above the price at which they purchéiseghares. The market price for our common steayk be influenced by many factors,
including:

e our ability to enroll patients in our ongoing Ph&sdinical trial;

e results of the clinical trial, and the results ridis of our competitors or those of other compaiiieour market secto

e regulatory developments in the United States areida countries

e variations in our financial results or those of g@mies that are perceived to be similar tc

e changes in the structure of healthcare paymen¢sysstespecially in light of current reforms to thé&. healthcare systel

e announcements by us or our competitors of signifiegquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint vees$ or capital commitment

e  market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetdgy sectors and issuance of securities an/ reports or recommendatior
e  sales of our stock by insiders and 5% stockholc

e trading volume of our common stoc

e general economic, industry and market conditiohgioévents or factors, many of which are beyondcoatrol;

e  additions or departures of key personnel;
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e intellectual property, product liability or othetigation against us

In addition, in the past, stockholders have intiatlass action lawsuits against biotechnologymramaceutical companies following periods
of volatility in the market prices of these compgiistock. Such litigation, if instituted against gould cause us to incur substantial costs anc
divert management'’s attention and resources, wtocid have a material adverse effect on our busjrifgsncial condition and results of
operations.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly.

We expect our operating results to be subject totgtly fluctuations. Our net loss and other opegatesults will be affected by numerous
factors, including:

e  variations in the level of expenses related toEMK-001 development prograr

e  addition or termination of clinical trial:

e any intellectual propertinfringement lawsuit in which we may become invaly

e regulatory developments affecting E-001; anc

e  our execution of any collaborative, licensingsonilar arrangements, and the timing of paymentsnag make or receive under these
arrangements

If our quarterly operating results fall below thgectations of investors or securities analyses pitice of our common stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly fluctaas in our operating results may, in turn, causeptiice of our stock to fluctuate substantially.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over
matters subject to stockholder approval.

As of February 23, 2015, our executive officersediors and greater than 5% stockholders, in theeg@te, owned approximately 52.05% of
our outstanding common stock. As a result, suckgres, acting together, will have the ability to tohour management and affairs and
substantially all matters submitted to our stockliod for approval, including the election and real®f directors and approval of any
significant transaction. These persons will alseehidne ability to control our management and bussredfairs. This concentration of ownership
may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preirey a change in control, impeding a merger, chaation, takeover or other business
combination involving us, or discouraging a potaigicquirer from making a tender offer or othervasiempting to obtain control of our
business, even if such a transaction would beatfér stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisionsin our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholdersto replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certifiohiecorporation and amended and restated bylawsdaky or prevent an acquisition of us
or a change in our management. These provisiohgiac

e  authorizing the issuance of “blank check” prefdrstock, the terms of which may be establishedshades of which may be issued
without stockholder approve

e limiting the removal of directors by the stockhatst

e  creating a staggered board of direct:

e  prohibiting stockholder action by written consehgreby requiring all stockholder actions to beetakt a meeting of our stockholde
e eliminating the ability of stockholders to callgesial meeting of stockholdel

° permitting our board of directors to acceleraetesting of outstanding option grants upon cettainsactions that result in a change
of control; anc

e  establishing advance notice requirements for natitns for election to the board of directorsargroposing matters that can be
acted upon at stockholder meetin

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaywae are governed by the provisions of Sectiondf@Be Delaware General Corporation
Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owgitiin excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stimckerge or combine with us. Although
we believe these provisions collectively provideda opportunity to obtain greater value for stauklbrs
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by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate witlr board of directors, they would apply even ifodier rejected by our board were consideret
beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, thesevisions may frustrate or prevent any attempgteur stockholders to replace or remove
current management by making it more difficult $tockholders to replace members of our board efctiirs, which is responsible for
appointing the members of our management.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, the ability of our stockholdersto achieve areturn on their
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividensuoirwommon stock and do not currently intend t@ddor the foreseeable future. We
currently anticipate that we will retain future eiaigs for the development, operation and expansi@ur business. In addition, our loan and
security agreement with Square 1 currently proibg from paying dividends on our equity securjtég®l any future debt financing
arrangement may contain terms prohibiting or lingtthe amount of dividends that may be declarguhat on our common stock. Any return
to stockholders will therefore be limited to thepegriation of their stock. Therefore, the succdssndnvestment in shares of our common s
will depend upon any future appreciation in theilwe. There is no guarantee that shares of our constock will appreciate in value or even
maintain the price at which our stockholders hawelpased their shares.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholdersin the public market could cause our stock priceto
fall.

Persons who were our stockholders prior to theafad@ares in our initial public offering in Septieen 2013 continue to hold a substantial
number of shares of our common stock that theyble to sell in the public market, subject in sarases to certain legal restrictions.
Significant portions of these shares are held bsnall number of stockholders. Sales of a substamiimber of shares of our common stock in
the public market, or the perception that thesessalight occur, could significantly reduce the neagkrice of our common stock and impair
ability to raise adequate capital through the sakdditional equity securities.

As of February 23, 2015, we had 6,137,091 sharesmimon stock outstanding. All of these sharedrardy tradable without restriction in the
public market, except for 3,194,128 shares thahale by directors, executive officers and othditiafes that are subject to volume limitations
under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. In addjtghares of common stock that are either subjestitstanding options or reserved for future
issuance under our employee benefit plans will bexeligible for sale in the public market to thees permitted by the provisions of various
vesting schedules and Rule 144 and Rule 701 uhdeBécurities Act. If these additional shares oficmn stock are sold, or if it is perceived
that they will be sold, in the public market, thading price of our common stock could decline.

As of February 23, 2015, the holders of 2,673,682 eas of our common stock are entitled to reaseniadst efforts registration rights with
respect to the registration of their shares unueiStecurities Act. In addition, holders of 84,08@res of common stock issuable upon the
exercise of warrants are also entitled to reasenabst efforts registration rights with respedhi registration of their shares under the
Securities Act. Registration of these shares uttdeGecurities Act would result in the shares beangrfreely tradable without restriction under
the Securities Act, except for shares held byiafék, as defined in Rule 144 under the Secut@sAny sales of securities by these
stockholders could have a material adverse efiethe trading price of our common stock.

We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting regquirements applicable to emerging growth
companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, as definededtimpstart Our Business Startups Act of 201h@dOBS Act. For as long as we
continue to be an emerging growth company, we rakg advantage of exemptions from various reporéggirements that are applicable to
other public companies that are not emerging grasthpanies, including not being required to compith the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reducedalsece obligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxyest@&nts and exemptions from the requirements ofitigpldonbinding advisory votes on
executive compensation and stockholder approvahgfgolden parachute payments not previously ajgoroWwe could be an emerging growth
company for up to five years following 2013, thewe which we completed our initial public offeginalthough circumstances could cause us
to lose that status earlier, including if the markaue of our common stock held by non-affiliateseeds $700.0 million as of any June 30
before that time or if we have total annual greseenue of $1.0 billion or more during any fiscahybefore that time, in which cases we woulc
no longer be an emerging growth company as ofdhewing December 31 or, if we issue more than $ilidn in nonconvertible debt durin
any three year period before that time, we woultkego be an emerging growth company immediatelgnB&fter we no longer qualify as an
emerging growth company, we may still qualify dsmaller reporting company” which would allow ustéke advantage of many of the same
exemptions from disclosure requirements includiogleing required to comply with the auditor atiisin requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligatiegarding executive compensation in our periceports and proxy statements. We
cannot predict if investors will find our commorek less attractive because we may rely on theseptions. If some investors find our
common stock less attractive as a result, therelmayless active trading market for our commoaokstmd our stock price may be more
volatile.
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Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies temaelay adopting new or revised accounting statgdantil such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We havedoadly elected not to avail ourselves of this exéongirom new or revised accounting
standards and, therefore, will be subject to tineesaew or revised accounting standards as othdicpudmpanies that are not emerging gro
companies. As a result, changes in rules of U.Beigdly accepted accounting principles or theieiiptetation, the adoption of new guidance o
the application of existing guidance to changesunbusiness could significantly affect our final@osition and results of operations.

We will continueto incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to
devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we have incurred and will aare to incur significant legal, accounting andestbxpenses under the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, as well as rules adopted by the SEC and Th8INAQ Stock Market. These rules impose significaguirements on public companies,
including requiring establishment and maintenarfaeffective disclosure and financial controls aih@ieges in corporate governance practices
Further, in 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refamd Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Aeis enacted. There are significant
corporate governance and executive compensatiateceprovisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that reqtiire SEC to adopt additional rules and
regulations in these areas such as “say on paypend access. Recent legislation permits sma#terérging growth companiesd implemen
many of these requirements over a longer perioduanad five years following their initial public fefring. We are taking advantage of this new
legislation but cannot guarantee that we will n@réquired to implement these requirements sobiaer hudgeted or planned and thereby incL
unexpected expenses. Stockholder activism, thewrupolitical environment and the current high lexfegovernment intervention and
regulatory reform may lead to substantial new ratjoths and disclosure obligations, which may leaddditional compliance costs and impact
the manner in which we operate our business in wysannot currently anticipate.

We expect the rules and regulations applicablautdip companies to substantially increase our lagal financial compliance costs and to
make some activities more time-consuming and colfttilese requirements divert the attention of manmagement and personnel from other
business concerns, they could have a material seheffect on our business, financial condition sesilts of operations. The increased costs
will decrease our net income or increase our rest, land may require us to reduce costs in othasarfeour business or increase the prices of
our products or services. For example, we expesethules and regulations to make it more diffiauli more expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance and we magy/required to incur substantial costs to maintaénsame or similar coverage. We cannot
predict or estimate the amount or timing of addiibcosts we may incur to respond to these reqeingsn The impact of these requirements
could also make it more difficult for us to attractd retain qualified persons to serve on our boadirectors, our board committees or as
executive officers.

If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorable research or reports about our business, our stock price and trading volume could
decline.

The trading market for our common stock depengsaith on the research and reports that securitieglastry analysts publish about us, our
business, our market or our competitors. We curératve limited research coverage by securitiesiaddstry analysts. If one or more of the
analysts who covers us downgrades our stock, oak girice would likely decline. If one or more bkse analysts ceases to cover us or fails t
regularly publish reports on us, interest in oocktcould decrease, which could cause our stode i trading volume to decline.

We could be subject to securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation difsn been brought against a company followingelide in the market price of its securities.
This risk is especially relevant for us becauseplageutical companies have experienced signifistmak price volatility in recent years. If we
face such litigation, it could result in substahtiasts and a diversion of management’s attentimhrasources, which could harm our business

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable

Item 2. Properties

We occupy approximately 2,741 square feet of offipace in Solana Beach, California under a leasené entered into in November 2013.
This facility lease expires in December 2015. Wiele that our facility is adequate to meet ourdseand that, if necessary, additional space
can be leased to accommodate any future growtloamercially reasonable terms.
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Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

We are not currently a party to any material lggakeedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market Information

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQt&ld@arket since September 25, 2013 under the syEMOK.” Prior to such time,
there was no public market for our common stocle fidilowing table sets forth the high and low sglése of our common stock, as reported
by the NASDAQ Capital Market for the period indiedt

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 201
Fourth Quarte $ 7.0C $ 4,72
Third Quartel $ 8.1 $ 4.9t
Second Quarte $ 10.2¢ $ 6.4¢
First Quarte! $ 13.4( $ 7.3€
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Fourth Quarte $ 1428 $ 6.7¢%
Third Quartel $ 12.2¢ $ 10.5¢

Holders of Common Stock

As of February 23, 2015, there were 28 holdergobrd of our common stock.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following stock performance graph illustratesaparison of the total cumulative stockholdeameton our common stock since
September 25, 2013, which is the date our comnmek dirst began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Marke two indices: the NASDAQ
Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology IndEixe graph assumes an initial investment of $108eptember 25, 2013, and that all
dividends were reinvested. The comparisons in thptgare required by the Securities and Exchangen@ssion and are not intended to
forecast or be indicative of possible future parfance of our common stock.

Comparison of 12 Month Cumulative Total Return
EVOK vs. Nasdaq Biotechnology Index vs. Nasdaq Composite Index
Assumes Initial Investment of 5100
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Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocapital stock and do not anticipate paying @sh dividends in the foreseeable
future. We expect to retain available cash to faeaongoing operations and the potential growthunfbusiness. In addition, our loan and
security agreement with Square 1 currently proibg from paying dividends on our equity securjtégsl any future debt financing
arrangement may contain terms prohibiting or lingtthe amount of dividends that may be declarquhat on our common stock. Any future
determination to pay dividends on our common stweitkbe at the discretion of our board of directared will depend upon, among other
factors, our results of operations, financial ctindi capital requirements, contractual restricidousiness prospects and other factors our
board of directors may deem relevant.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities
None.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information about our equity compensation plansdsrporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Radf this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should bedrgaconjunction with our financial statements dinel related notes thereto appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K anth@asection of this Annual Report on Form 10-Kiteed “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems.” We have derived the statements of oparatitata for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the balance sheetislaf December 31, 2014 and 2013, from our edidibancial statements appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Qtdrical results for any prior period are not resagily indicative of the results to be
expected in any future period.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013

Statement of Operations Data:

Operating Expense

Research and developmt $ 9,991,85! $ 956,98(
General and administrati 3,158,17¢ 1,644,84¢
Total operating expens 13,150,033 2,601,82!
Loss from operation (13,150,03) (2,601,829
Total other expens (97,647 (234,637)
Net loss $ (13,247,68) $ (2,836,46Y)
Net loss per common share, basic and dilute $ (2.20) $ (1.20)
Weightec-average shares used to compute basic and dilutédsseper shar 6,032,56( 2,368,00t

(1) See Note 2 to our audited financial statemerisided elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fofi¥KlIfor an explanation of the method
used to calculate the historical net loss per sheasic and diluted, and the number of shares instb@ computation of the per share
amounts

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivale $ 14,155,80' $ 24,196,69:
Working capital 13,377,08! 22,146,04
Total asset 15,301,72! 24,986,45!
Current liabilities 1,871,61 2,284,90¢
Long-term debt, net of current portic 4,241 ,44¢ 1,511,46:
Accumulated defici (35,939,149 (22,691,46)
Total stockholders' equi 9,188,66- 21,183,26:
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad together with our financial statements
and the related notes and other financial inforroatincluded elsewhere in this Annual Report on F&@¥K. Some of the information
contained in this discussion and analysis or sghfelsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10+€Juding information with respect to our
plans and strategy for our business, includes fod-looking statements that involve risks and uncettas. Our actual results may differ
materially from those anticipated in these forwdodking statements as a result of certain factorsluding, but not limited to, those set forth
under “Risk Factors” under Item 1A of Part | of hAnnual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere inAtmisual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focusethply on the development of drugs to treat Gladders and diseases. We are
developing EVK-001, a metoclopramide nasal spraytfe relief of symptoms associated with acute r@edrrent diabetic gastroparesis in
women. Diabetic gastroparesis is a Gl disordeicdifilg millions of sufferers worldwide in which tretomach takes too long to empty its
contents resulting in serious digestive system sgmp. Metoclopramide is the only product curremjyproved in the United States to treat
gastroparesis, and is currently available onlyrad and intravenous forms. EVK-001 is a novel folation of this drug, designed to provide
systemic delivery of metoclopramide through intssaladministration.

We have evaluated EVK-001 in a multicenter, randemj double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel-grodose-ranging Phase 2b clinical trial
in 287 patients with diabetic gastroparesis whé&r&B01 was observed to be effective in improving thost prevalent and clinically relevant
symptoms associated with gastroparesis in womelewkhibiting a favorable safety profile. In Ap#iD14, we commenced a Phase 3 clinical
trial of EVK-001 in female patients with symptonssaciated with acute and recurrent diabetic gaatesis. This Phase 3 clinical trial is a
multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-oalted, parallel-group study evaluating the effigagafety and population pharmacokinetics
of EVK-001 in adult female subjects with diabetastroparesis when dosed four times a day for 28.dlye Phase 3 trial is expected to enroll
200 patients at sites across the United Statesagndl February 2, 2015, we had randomized 74 stghjend we anticipate fully enrolling this
trial in the second half of 2015. We will needstaccessfully complete this trial before we are ableubmit an NDA to the FDA for EVK-001.

On February 2, 2015, we disclosed the current itacent status of the Phase 3 trial. While the gisdgrogressing according to plan at many
of the clinical trial sites with previous gastropsis study experience, overall enroliment has lsemmer than previously anticipated. As of
February 2, 2015, we had randomized 74 subjectsywananticipate fully enrolling this trial in thesond half of 2015. Although the trial sites
have been screening significant numbers of subjpatgents with diabetic gastroparesis typicallyghaymptoms that vary in timing and
severity, unpredictable gastric emptying delays, @mplex medical histories. This combinationaxftbrs creates a challenge for enrollment
into diabetic gastroparesis trials.

We commenced a thorough ECG (QT) study in Augu&tt2inhd reported positive results in December 2@4ta from the thorough ECG
(QT) study met the pre-specified primary endpdietnonstrating that EVK-001, at therapeutic and atingrapeutic doses, did not prolong the
QT/QTc interval in healthy subjects. FDA approwhthe NDA is required in order for us to commellgianarket EVK-001 in the United
States.

We are also conducting a companion clinical tridhveVK-001 in male patients with symptoms assaawith acute and recurrent diabetic
gastroparesis to assess the safety and efficagy§f001 in men. The male companion trial was initidtetay 2014 and is designed simile
to the Phase 3 trial in women. This trial was retee by the FDA, but is not required for submissibthe EVK-001 NDA for women,
however, we expect to include safety data fromfttiias in the NDA submission.

We have no products approved for sale, and we hatvgenerated any revenue from product sales er atimangements. We have primarily
funded our operations through the sale of our cuiile preferred stock, borrowings under our load aecurity agreements and the sale of
shares of our common stock on the NASDAQ Capitalkda We have incurred losses in each year sincénoaption. Our net losses were
$13.2 million and $2.8 million for the years end@ecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As oebéer 31, 2014 and 2013, we had an
accumulated deficit of $35.9 million and $22.7 ioifl, respectively. Substantially all of our opemgtiosses resulted from expenses incurred il
connection with advancing EVK-001 through developtreetivities and general and administrative cassciated with our operations. We
expect to continue to incur significant expenseasianreasing operating losses for at least the sexgral years. We may never become
profitable, or if we do, we may not be able to aursprofitability on a recurring basis.

As more fully described below, on December 31, 2@&borrowed $4.5 million from Square 1 to increasecash balance at December 31,
2014 to approximately $14.2 million. In addition,JJanuary 2015 we sold 25,000 shares of our constank pursuant to the Sales Agreemen
with MLV and received net proceeds of approxima&l$3,000, net of commissions and fees. Undetetimes of the Sales Agreement, we
may sell up to $6.6 million worth of common stockhough we have such capability, we may not be tbtaise additional capital on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. Any failure to raiapital as and when needed could
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have a material adverse effect on our results efaipns, financial condition and our ability toeexte on our business plan. In its report on
our financial statements for the year ended Dece®be2014, our independent registered public actiog firm included an explanatory
paragraph expressing substantial doubt regardingulity to continue as a going concern.

Technology Acquisition Agreement

In June 2007, we acquired all worldwide rights adatatents and other related assets associate@WiKF001 from Questcor pursuant to an
asset purchase agreement. We paid Questcor $650,88®form of an upfront payment and $500,00May 2014 as a milestone payment
based upon the initiation of the first patient a@gsin our Phase 3 clinical trial for EVK-001. Irugust 2014, Mallinckrodt acquired
Questcor. As a result of that acquisition, Questiansferred its rights included in the asset pase agreement with us to Mallinckrodt. In
addition to the payments we made to Questcor, weals®d be required to make additional milestonempents totaling up to $51.5 million.
These milestones include up to $4.5 million in pawis if EVK-001 achieves the following developmeargets:

e  $1.5 million upon the FD’s acceptance for review of an NDA for E-001; anc
e  $3 million upon the FD.’s approval of EVI-001.
The remaining $47 million in milestone paymentsetgpon EVK-001's commercial success and will ordplg if EVK-001 receives

regulatory approval. In addition, we will be reaqdrto pay to Mallinckrodt a low single digit royalin net sales of EVK1. Our obligation t
pay such royalties will terminate upon the expaatof the last patent right covering EVK-001, whislexpected to occur in 2030.

Initial Public Offering

In September 2013, we completed our initial pubfiering, or IPO, whereby we issued and sold 2,000 shares of common stock at a public
offering price of $12.00 per share. Concurrentljfvthe completion of the IPO, all outstanding skareconvertible preferred stock were
converted into 2,439,002 shares of our common staitladdition, warrants to purchase 84,000 shafesir common stock were issued to the
representative of the underwriters of our IPO agrdain of its affiliates. The warrants became eisaible at a price of $21.00 per share
beginning on September 24, 2014 and will expir&eptember 24, 2018. Finally, warrants to purcid€e000 shares of convertible preferred
stock were converted into warrants to purchase@@2sbares of our common stock. In October 20X8uttderwriters for our IPO exercised an
option to purchase 315,000 additional shares ofnsomstock at $12.00 per share. Total net prockedsthe IPO, after deducting underwri
discounts, commissions and other offering expeo&&8.9 million, were $25.1 million.

Financial Operations Overview
Research and Development Expenses
We expense all research and development expendesyaare incurred. Research and development egpgmsnarily include:

e clinical trial and regulator-related costs

e expenses incurred under agreements with CROs, tiga&ge sites and consultants that conduct owmiadi trials;

e  manufacturing and stability testing costs and eglaupplies and materials; a

e employerrelated expenses, including salaries, benefitgeti@nd stoc-based compensation exper
All of our research and development expenses ® limte been incurred in connection with EUB%. We expect our research and develop
expenses to increase for the foreseeable futune aslvance EVK-001 through clinical development|uding the conduct of our ongoing
Phase 3 clinical trial. The process of conductiingaal trials necessary to obtain regulatory appitds costly and time consuming. We are
unable to estimate with any certainty the costswilleincur in the continued development of EVK-0However, we currently estimate that the
costs to complete our Phase 3 clinical trial in vearand our companion clinical trial in men will &gproximately $16.5 million, of which,
through December 31, 2014, $7.8 million have beenrred related to those clinical activities. @al development timelines, the probability
of success and development costs can differ mlyefiam expectations. We may never succeed in@dhg marketing approval for our
product candidate.
The costs of clinical trials may vary significandyer the life of a project owing to, but not liet to, the following:

° per patient trial cost:

e the number of sites included in the trie

° the countries in which the trials are conduc
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e the length of time required to enroll eligible [gats;

e the number of patients that participate in thdgr

e the number of doses that patients rece

e the cost of comparative agents used in tr

e the droj-out or discontinuation rates of patier

e  potential additional safety monitoring or otherdiés requested by regulatory agenc
e the duration of patient follo-up; and

e the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

We do not expect EVK-001 to be commercially avddalf at all, for the next few years.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries and related benefits, including ktbased compensation. Other general and
administrative expenses include professional feeadcounting, tax, patent costs, legal servigesjrance, facility costs and costs associated
with being a publiclytraded company. We expect that general and admatiis expenses will increase in the future as ¥p&pd our operatir
activities and incur additional costs associateith Wweing a publicly-traded company and maintairdampliance with exchange listing and
Securities and Exchange Commission requiremenesé& imcreases will likely include higher consultaasts, legal fees, accounting fees,
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance premis and fees associated with investor relations.

Total Other Expense

Total other expense consists primarily of intenresbme we earn on interest-bearing accounts anceynorarket funds for cash and cash
equivalents, interest expense incurred on our adéhg debt and changes in the fair value of ourawd liability.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmeats and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanéiial condition and results of operations is basedur financial statements, which we
have prepared in accordance with generally accegstedunting principles in the United States, or GAAhe preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assomhat affect the reported amounts of assetdiahilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effitiancial statements, as well as the reportedmess and expenses during the reporting pe
We evaluate these estimates and judgments on aingnigasis. We base our estimates on historicamapce and on various other factors
we believe are reasonable under the circumstatieesesults of which form the basis for making jondmts about the carrying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Our actual results may differ mallgrirom these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are méarlty described in Note 2 to our financial staterseappearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the followaggounting policies are the most critical for fullgderstanding and evaluating our financia
condition and results of operations.

Accrued Research and Devel opment Expenses

As part of the process of preparing financial stegsts, we are required to estimate and accrue sgpethe largest of which are research and
development expenses. This process involves thanfiolg:

e communicating with our applicable personnel tniify services that have been performed on oualbend estimating the level of
service performed and the associated cost inctioretie service when we have not yet been invoarestherwise notified of actual
Ccost;

e  estimating and accruing expenses in our finarst&kments as of each balance sheet date basact®and circumstances known to
us at the time; an

e  periodically confirming the accuracy of our estismtith selected service providers and making adjersts, if necessar
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Examples of estimated research and developmenhsapehat we accrue include:
e fees paid to CROs in connection with toxicologydétg and clinical studie
e fees paid to investigative sites in connection withical studies
e fees paid to CMOs in connection with the productibrlinical study materials; ar
e professional service fees for consulting and rdlatrvices

We base our expense accruals related to clinigdlest on our estimates of the services receivecefinds expended pursuant to contracts witl
multiple research institutions and CROs that cohdad manage clinical studies on our behalf. Tharftial terms of these agreements vary
from contract to contract and may result in unepayment flows. Payments under some of these castig@pend on factors such as the
successful enroliment of patients, site initiatsord the completion of clinical study milestonesr ®ervice providers invoice us monthly in
arrears for services performed. In accruing serfées, we estimate the time period over which ses/will be performed and the level of eft

to be expended in each period. If we do not idemiifsts that we have begun to incur or if we unsterete or overestimate the level of serv
performed or the costs of these services, our bexenses could differ materially from our estiesatTo date, we have not experienced
significant changes in our estimates of accruedaeh and development expenses after a reportimgdpélowever, due to the nature of
estimates, we cannot assure you that we will ndtenchanges to our estimates in the future as wenbe@ware of additional information ab
the status or conduct of our clinical studies atteioresearch activities.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is recorded astingated fair value of the award as of the gdaé and is recognized as expense on a
straight-line basis over the employee’s requigiiise period, which is generally the vesting perd the award. Stock-based compensation
expense is based on awards ultimately expectedstp and therefore, the recorded expense includestanate of future forfeitures. Forfeitu
are to be estimated at the time of grant and rdyis@ecessary, in subsequent periods if actuéitores differ from those estimates.

Prior to the IPO, we granted stock options to pasehcommon stock to employees with exercise peigaal to the value of the underlying
stock, as determined by the board of directorsherdate the equity award was granted. The boaddeftors determined the fair value of the
underlying common stock by considering a numbdactors, including historical and projected finaaleesults, the risks we faced at the time,
the preferences of our preferred stockholders hadsick of liquidity of our common stock. Subseduerthe IPO, the exercise price of the
stock options granted to our employees and mendfersr board of directors was determined by theiolp market price of our stock on the
date the stock options were granted.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes valuatimdel using the appropriate risk-free
interest rate, expected term and volatility assimngt The expected life of options was calculatsidgithe simplified method, which calcula
the life as the average of the contractual terthefstock option and the vesting period of theamptDue to our limited historical data as a
public company, the estimated volatility is caltathbased upon our historical volatility and conasée companies whose share prices are
publicly available for a sufficient period of tim€he risk-free interest rate is based upon U.Saduey securities with remaining terms similar
to the expected term of the stock award being hlWe granted options to purchase 64,000 and 50kBfres of common stock in 2014 and
2013, respectively.

Other Information
Net Operating L oss Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2014, we had federal and Calidotax net operating loss carryforwards of apprately $33.2 million and $32.5 million,
respectively. The federal and California net laasyforwards will begin to expire in 2027 and 204&5pectively, unless previously utilized.
of December 31, 2014, we also had federal and@ald research and development tax credit carrydoae of $1.1 million and $737,000,
respectively. The federal research and developtagrdredit carryforwards will begin to expire inZ0unless previously utilized. The
California research and development tax credit @glry forward indefinitely.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Codé861las amended, if a corporation undergoes anémhip change’denerally defined as
greater than 50% change (by value) in its equitpenship over a three-year period), the corporadi@fility to use its pre-change net operating
loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax ateito offset its post-change income may be limi®d have not completed our analysis to
determine what, if any, impact any prior ownersttignge has had on our ability to utilize our nedrafing loss carryforwards.
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JOBS Act

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Spartict of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was enacted. 8edtD7 of the JOBS Act provides that
“emerging growth company” can take advantage oftttended transition period provided in Sectior)(2(¢B) of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, or the Securities Act, for complyintpwew or revised accounting standards. In othedsyan “emerging growth company” can
delay the adoption of certain accounting standandi$ those standards would otherwise apply togitevcompanies. We have irrevocably
elected not to avail ourselves of this extendedsiteon period and, as a result, we will adopt rewevised accounting standards on the
relevant dates on which adoption of such standard=juired for other public companies.

We are in the process of evaluating the benefitelgfng on other exemptions and reduced reporgggirements provided by the JOBS Act.
Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JORSE as an “emerging growth company,” we intenddly on certain of these exemptions,
including without limitation, (i) providing an audr’s attestation report on our system of intecwitrols over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Ginplying with any requirement that may be adoptgthle Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board, or PCAOB, regarding mandatory firsh rotation or a supplement to the auditor’pad providing additional information
about the audit and the financial statements, knasvithe auditor discussion and analysis. We witlai@ an “emerging growth company” until
the earliest of (a) the last day of the fiscal yieawhich we have total annual gross revenues dfiibn or more, (b) the last day of our fiscal
year following the fifth anniversary of the datetbé completion of our IPO, (c) the date on whiahlvave issued more than $1 billior
nonconvertible debt during the previous three yealsl) the date on which we are deemed to bege laccelerated filer under the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
The following table summarizes the results of querations for the fiscal years ended December 314 2nd 2013:

Year Ended December 31 Increase/

2014 2013 (Decrease’
Research and developm: $ 9,991,85! $ 956,98( $ 9,034,87!
General and administrati 3,158,17¢ 1,644,84t 1,513,33:

Other income (expense

Interest incom 10,187 7,24¢ 2,93¢
Interest expens (107,839 (159,885 (52,05))
Change in fair value of warrant liabili — (82,000 (82,000
Total other expens (97,647 (234,637 (136,99()

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses for the yead &stember 31, 2014 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2013 increased by approximately $8l@mprimarily due to research and developmeribhdties expanding subsequent to our
IPO in September 2013. Costs incurred in 2014 gelapproximately $7.1 million related to the ongpdtinical trials for EVK-001, $522,000
related to stability testing and preparation fa gnoduction of additional EVK-001, the paymen$600,000 to Questcor for achieving a
milestone associated with the acquisition of oohimlogy, and approximately $1.9 million for wagesies and employee insurance, including
$410,000 of stock-based compensation expense, addezl clinical personnel subsequent to our IPe allocation of time spent by our
executive team related to research and developauntintties in 2014 also increased compared toithe allocated in 2013 when they were
primarily preparing for our IPO. For 2013, reseaacll development costs primarily consisted of ayprately $417,000 for wages, taxes and
employee insurance, $342,000 related to the spadfour Phase 3 clinical trial and $144,000 reldtestability testing of prior manufactured
batches of EVK-001. In addition, during the firstagter of 2013, the 2012 bonus accrual was revatsedo the election by our board of
directors to not pay 2012 bonuses in order to aveseash.

Included in research and development expensesagsts of approximately $255,000 and $1,200 foy#ers ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively, for clinical trial servicesumed by a related party of one of our officers.

General and Administrative Expens€g&neral and administrative expenses for the yed@cBDecember 31, 2014 compared to the year ende
December 31, 2013 increased by approximately $lllBmprimarily due to general and administratizetivities expanding subsequent to our
IPO. Costs incurred in 2014 primarily included appmately $1.5 million for wages, taxes and empbiresurance, including $692,000 of
stock-based compensation expense as we added lgem&dministrative personnel subsequent to oOr Hhd approximately $1.4 million for
legal, accounting, directors and officers liabiltygurance and other costs associated with bepubbc company. For 2013, general and
administrative costs primarily consisted of appneiely $997,000 for wages, taxes and benefitsydicy the payment of $355,000 for
retention payments to the executive team, and appately $445,000 for legal, accounting, directansl officers liability insurance and other
costs associated with being a public company. In
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addition, during the first quarter of 2013, the 2@ibnus accrual was reversed due to the electimuboard of directors to not pay 2012
bonuses in order to conserve cash.

Other Income (Expensé)ther income (expense) for the year ended DeceBhet014 primarily related to approximately ($52D6f net
interest expense incurred related to our bank laadsthe write-off of approximately ($46,000) ofammortized debt discount costs upon the
repayment of the loan extended to us by SilicoreéyaBank. Other income (expense) for the year emdistember 31, 2013 primarily consis
of approximately $153,000 of net interest experszted to advances under our bank loan and $8208penses related to the increase in th
fair value of our outstanding warrant liability éffect prior to our IPO.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception in 2007, we have funded ouratpens primarily from the sale of equity secustend borrowings under loan and security
agreements. Prior to our IPO, we received $17.amiln net proceeds from the sale of our SerieAvertible preferred stock and advances
of $5.5 million under the loan and security agreetaeDuring 2013, we completed our IPO and raigggaimately $25.1 million, net of
offering costs and commissions. We have incurredds since inception and have negative cash fimns dperating activities. As of
December 31, 2014, we had approximately $14.2anilih cash and cash equivalents and working cagifitbproximately $13.4 million.

In June 2012, we entered into a $3 million loan sexlirity agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, orEg\¢ollateralized by our personal
property and containing only non-financial covesaiy January 2013, we had been advanced the &8timllion to fund working capital.
Interest on advances under the agreement wasxadifiterest rate equal to 4.50%. Advances urttefdan and security agreement had an
interest-only period through December 31, 2013, lzamtla 24-month payback period that commencednnaig 2014. In connection with the
loan and security agreement, we issued a warré®V&), which is immediately exercisable for an agate of 12,000 shares of our common
stock, at an exercise price of $7.50 per share.

Through May 1, 2014, we repaid approximately $608,6f principal on the SVB loan. On May 23, 2014 repaid the outstanding principal
and accrued interest of approximately $2.4 miliorSVB. With such payoff, the loan and securityesgnent with SVB and the documents
entered into in connection therewith were deemdabtterminated. SVB's security interest in subsédlgtall of our assets was also terminated.

On May 28, 2014, or the closing date, we entergglarioan and security agreement, or the credilitigavith Square 1, pursuant to which
Square 1 agreed to make term loans available torgeneral corporate and working capital purp@sesfor capital expenditures, in a princ
amount of up to $4.5 million.

In December 2014, we drew down the entire $4.5anill The credit facility bears interest at a fix@thual rate of 5.50%. We are required to
make interest-only payments through November 2852 the credit facility. The outstanding prindipalance plus interest will begin
amortizing at the end of the interest-only periodh monthly payments of principal and interestrigemade by us to Square 1 in consecutive
monthly installments following November 28, 2015ilile credit facility matures on November 28, Z0IPayments of principal and interest
for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and &@lapproximately $436,000, $2,434,000 and $20020 respectively. At our option,
we may prepay the outstanding principal balanadetredit facility before November 28, 2017 withpenalty or premium.

The credit facility includes affirmative and negaticovenants applicable to us and any subsidiagesreate in the future. The affirmative
covenants include, among others, covenants reguilsrto maintain our legal existence and governat@piprovals, deliver certain financial
reports, maintain insurance coverage and meeticedaenants with respect to enroliment and resfltsur EVK-001 Phase 3 trial. After we
receive positive results from the Phase 3 triadf #ll (which we must achieve on or prior to Segter 30, 2015), we must either maintain a
ratio of our cash at Square 1 to our cash burn thespreceding month of at least 3.00 to 1.00, ®mwst deliver evidence of a forthcoming
financing or strategic partnership arrangementgoa®e 1, in each case in an amount satisfactdBgjtmre 1. The negative covenants include,
among others, restrictions on our transferringatetal, incurring additional indebtedness, engagingergers or acquisitions, paying divide
or making other distributions, making investmentsgating liens and selling assets, in each cageaub certain exceptions.

The credit facility also includes events of defatlie occurrence and continuation of which proBdgiare 1 with the right to exercise remedie:
against us and the collateral securing the termslasmder the credit facility, including foreclos@against our properties securing the credit
facilities, including our cash. These events ofdéfinclude, among other things, our failure ty pay amounts due under the credit facility, a
breach of covenants under the credit facility, insplvency, a material adverse change, the occtgrehany default under certain other
indebtedness in an amount greater than $400,00@ &ndl judgment against us in an amount gredtzn $400,000.

In connection with the funding of the term loan, isgued to Square 1 a warrant to purchase 22,83&sbf our common stock at an exercise
price of $5.90 per share, the closing price of@mmon stock on the day of funding of the creditlfiz. The warrant will
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expire ten years from its date of issuance. Iftherant has not been exercised prior to its expimadate, it will be deemed to automatically
convert by “cashless” conversion. In the event tiatare acquired, the warrant will be exercisabldeemed automatically converted, which
shall be determined based upon whether our suacassomes the obligations of the warrant.

We expect to continue to incur significant expereses increasing operating losses for at least éix¢ several years. In the near-term, we
anticipate that our expenses will increase suhlisibnas we:

e continue our clinical trials associated with EXOR4, including our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trralvomen and the companion
clinical trial in men that we commenced in April12D

e continue the preparation of the commercial manuféug process
e maintain, expand and protect our intellectual prgpportfolio; and

e continue to fund the additional accounting, legaurance and other costs associated with beindpbcpcompany

Although our current cash and cash equivalentgxgpected to be sufficient for us to complete ougaing Phase 3 clinical trial of EVK-001 in
women and the companion trial in men, they will betsufficient to complete any additional developtrequirements requested by the FDA,
or, if applicable, to prepare for commercializatafrEVK-001 should we receive product approvalti#fis time, due to the risks inherent in the
drug development process, we are unable to estiwitteany certainty the costs we will incur in tbentinued development of EVK-001 for
potential commercialization. However, we currer$fimate the costs to complete our Phase 3 clitriehin women and our companion
clinical trial in men of EVK-001 will be approximely $16.5 million, of which, through December 30,12, $7.8 million have been incurred
related to those clinical activities. Accordinglye will continue to require substantial additionapital beyond our current cash and cash
equivalents to continue our clinical developmert patential commercialization activities. The amioand timing of our future funding
requirements will depend on many factors, includimg pace and results of our clinical developméiotts. We anticipate that we will seek to
fund our operations through public or private egjoit debt financings or other sources, such aspiatecollaboration arrangements. Our fail
to raise capital as and when needed would haveatine impact on our financial condition and oulligbto pursue our business strategies.

On November 13, 2014, we entered into the Salesdxgent with MLV, pursuant to which we may sell frime to time, at our option, up to
an aggregate of $6.6 million of shares of our commstock through MLV, as sales agent. The salehafes of our common stock made
through the ATM equity program are made in “at-tharket” offerings as defined in Rule 415 of the B#ies Act. As of December 31, 2014,
we had not issued any shares of our common stogupnt to the Sales Agreement. In January 20150bde25,000 shares of common stoc
a weighted average price per share of $6.74 pursodhe Sales Agreement and received net proagfejzproximately $163,000, net of
commissions and fees. We intend to use the neepdscto continue to fund our ongoing Phase 3 dirti@al and for general corporate
purposes. We currently have the capacity to isgpu® approximately $6.4 million of additional sheu& common stock pursuant to the Sales
Agreement.

Future sales will depend on a variety of factodduding, but not limited to, market conditions, tinading price of our common stock and our
capital needs. Although sales of our common st@sleliaken place pursuant to the Sales Agreemenmg tan be no assurance that MLV will
be successful in consummating future sales bas@demailing market conditions or in the quantitiesat the prices that we deem appropriate.
Under current SEC regulations, at any time duritdctvthe aggregate market value of our common dtetd by non-affiliates, or public float,
is less than $75.0 million, the amount we can rdiseugh primary public offerings of securitiesany twelve-month period using shelf
registration statements, including sales undeftiles Agreement, is limited to an aggregate oftbird-of our public float. As of November
11, 2014, our public float was 2.9 million shartbg value of which was $20.0 million based upondlosing price of our common stock of
$6.86 on such date. The value of one-third of anlip float calculated on the same basis was $6ll&m

In addition, we will not be able to make futureesabf our common stock pursuant to the Sales Ageaeomless certain conditions are met,
which include the accuracy of representations aadamties made to MLV under the Sales AgreementhEtmore, MLV is permitted to
terminate the Sales Agreement in its sole disanatjpon ten daysiotice, or at any time in certain circumstancesiuiting the occurrence of
event that would be reasonably likely to have aemiatadverse effect on our assets, business, tir@saearnings, properties, condition
(financial or otherwise), prospects, stockholderglity or results of operations. We have no obiigeato sell the remaining shares available for
sale pursuant to the Sales Agreement.

Our recurring losses from operations raise subisfaddubt about our ability to continue as a gategcern, and as a result, our independent
registered public accounting firm included an erplary paragraph in its report on our financiatesteents as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2014 with respect to this uncertaifitys going concern opinion could materially liroiir ability to raise additional funds
through the issuance of new debt or equity seesriir otherwise. Future reports on our financetieshents may also include an explanatory
paragraph with respect to our ability to continseaoing concern. We have incurred significassés since our inception and have never
been profitable, and it is possible we will nevehiave profitability. We have devoted our resourttedeveloping our product candidate, but it
cannot be marketed until regulatory approvals Hmeen obtained. Based upon our currently expectel ¢ operating expenditures, we exg.
to be able to fund our operations through the dr2Da5. This
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period could be shortened if there are any sigaifiéncreases in planned spending on our EVK-0O@&ldpment program or more rapid
progress of our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial thaticipated. There is ho assurance that othending will be available when needed to allow
us to continue as a going concern. The percephtiatvie may not be able to continue as a going eomoay cause others to choose not to dec
with us due to concerns about our ability to mestapntractual obligations.

The following table summarizes our cash flows f@ year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
Net cash used in operating activit $ (11,501,07) $ (3,040,27()
Net cash provided by financing activiti $ 1,460,19( $ 27,120,94!
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ (10,040,88) $ 24,080,67:

Operating ActivitiesThe primary use of our cash has been to fund oeratipns.

Financing ActivitiesDuring the year ended December 31, 2014, we repaidutstanding loan balance of $3 million to S\Bew down a $4.
million loan from Square 1 and paid approximate®8 ®00 for origination costs related to our load aacurity agreement with Square

1. During the year ended December 31, 2013, oanfimg activity consisted of the receipt of a $8iom advance on our loan and security
agreement with SVB to fund working capital requiezits and the net proceeds of approximately $28lbmfrom our IPO.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitakes of December 31, 2014, together with inteheston, will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements until December 3152However, our forecast of the period of timetlgh which our financial resources will
be adequate to support our operations is a fonlaking statement that involves risks and unceti@sén and actual results could vary
materially.

The amount and timing of our future funding requiemts will depend on many factors, including butlimoited to:

e the progress, costs, results of and timing ofalinical development program for EVK-001, includiour ongoing Phase 3 clinical
trial;

e the need for, and the progress, costs and resfulisiy additional clinical trials of EVK-001 weay initiate based on the results of
our ongoing clinical trials or discussions with fiBA, including any additional trials the FDA oihet regulatory agencies may
require evaluating the safety of E-001;

e the outcome, costs and timing of seeking and oinigiregulatory approvals from the FDA, and any &miegulatory agencie

e the timing and costs associated with manufacuExK-001 for clinical trials and other studies aifcapproved, for commercial
sale;

e our need and ability to hire additional managemeetelopment and scientific personr

e the cost to maintain, expand and defend the sabpar intellectual property portfolio, includinbe amount and timing of any
payments we may be required to make, or that weneagive, in connection with licensing, filing, pexution, defense and
enforcement of any patents or other intellectuapprty rights

e the timing and costs associated with establishithgssand marketing capabilitie
e market acceptance of E\-001;

e the extent to which we are required to pay milestor other payments under our Mallinckrodt apaethase agreement and the
timing of such payment:

e the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing dldidional businesses, products, product candidatdgechnologies; ar
e our need to implement additional internal systentiafrastructure, including financial and repogtisystems

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Through December 31, 2014, we have not enteredaimtiodid not have any relationships with unconséid entities or financial
collaborations, such as entities often referreastgtructured finance or special purpose entititbg&h would have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangater other contractually narrow or limited purpos
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our most significant clinical trial expendituregdo CROs. The contracts with CROs generally anealable, with notice, at our option and
not have any cancellation penalties.

Our long-term debt obligation consists of amoungsane obligated to repay under our loan and sgcagittement with Square 1, of which we
have drawn the full amount of $4.5 million as ofd@mber 31, 2014. We began making interest-only gaysnin January 2015. In November
2015, we will begin making the first of 24 monthggincipal and interest payments, such that the ledance will be fully repaid in November
2017. We expect to incur approximately $248,00@4$200 and $57,000 of interest charges in 20156 20 2017.

In November 2013, we entered into an operatingeléaisoffice space in Solana Beach, California. THase commenced on December 1, 201.
and will expire on December 31, 2015. Although ga¢ments did not commence until December 2013pwale possession of the facility in
November 2013 to move into the facility. The leagatains annual rent increases and we received irasntives in the form of re
abatements and a moving allowance. We recognizenum rent payments, escalation clauses and leaeatine on a straight-line basis over
the term of its operating lease. The differencevben the minimum lease payments and the straightaimount is accounted for as deferred
rent. We also pay pass through costs and utilisgscavhich are expensed as incurred.

As of December 31, 2014, future minimum lease paymr our operating lease are $93,399 for the gaded December 31, 2015.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure alout Market Risk
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents as of December 24, @ihsisted of cash and money market funds. Qunapy exposure to market risk is
interest income sensitivity, which is affected lnaoges in the general level of U.S. interest rddesvever, because of the short-term nature of
our cash and cash equivalents, a sudden changerketinterest rates would not be expected to bavaterial impact on our financial
condition and/or results of operations.

Our long-term debt bears interest at a fixed ratetherefore has minimal exposure to changes énest rates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We contract with organizations to manufacture dorafuct, active pharmaceutical ingredient, and @ioet closure system materials, and ir
future may contract with CROs and investigatioritgssin foreign countries. We may become subgéitictuations in foreign currency rates
connection with these agreements, though we dbel@ve such fluctuations will have a material irip@ our operations.

Inflation Risk

Inflation generally affects us by increasing oustaof labor and clinical trial costs. We do notibe¢ that inflation has had a material effect on
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens during the years ended December 31, 20d£2613.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our financial statements and the report of our reshelent registered public accounting firm are idetliin this report on the pages indicated in
Item 15 of Part Il of this Annual Report on For-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of DisclogiControls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresdtetiesigned to ensure that information requindektdisclosed in our Exchange Act reg
is recorded, processed, summarized and reportééhvite timelines specified in the Securities amdiange Commission’s rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and conicated to our management, including our Chief ExgewOfficer and Chief Business
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisigrgarding required disclosure. In designing
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and evaluating the disclosure controls and proesjumanagement recognized that any controls am#@uoes, no matter how well designed
and operated, can only provide reasonable assuddraahieving the desired control objectives, anceiaching a reasonable level of assuranc
management necessarily was required to applydgnent in evaluating the cost-benefit relationgifipossible controls and procedures. In
addition, the design of any system of controls @&dwased in part upon certain assumptions abeutkélihood of future events, and there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed el its stated goals under all potential futcoaditions; over time, control may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, atepeee of compliance with policies or proceduray ateteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, sté&gements due to error or fraud may occur andaaletected.

As required by Securities and Exchange Commisside R3a-15(b), as of December 31, 2014 we carnigéo evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of our magragnt, including our Chief Executive Officer andi€tBusiness Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of aseldsure controls and procedures, as of the etitegieriod covered by this report. Based on
the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and GtBeisiness Officer concluded that our disclosurmetas and procedures were effective at
the reasonable assurance level as of Decembe034, 2

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting refersthe process designed by, or under the supervigiarur Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Business Officer, and effected by our board ofadoes, management and other personnel, to proesonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaecet of financial statements for external purpogeadcordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and includes those polieied procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenahoecords that in reasonable detail
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonabdeirance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statesin accordance with generally accepted acamgiptinciples, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordanceawithorizations of our management and directord;(@phprovide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauited acquisition, use or disposition of the compsiassets that could have a material effec
on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannobyide absolute assurance of achieving financiadmépg objectives because of its inherent
limitations. Internal control over financial repioag is a process that involves human diligence@mdpliance and is subject to lapses in
judgment and breakdowns resulting from human faduinternal control over financial reporting atsm be circumvented by collusion
improper management override. Because of suchdliiits, there is a risk that material misstatemaratg not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis by internal control over financial ogfing. However, these inherent limitations arewndeatures of the financial reporting
process. Therefore, it is possible to design inogrocess safeguards to reduce, though not eliepitias risk.

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over our finahgorting, as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under thpestision and with the participation of our manageinincluding our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Business Officer, we conductedegaluation of the effectiveness of our internaitcol over financial reporting. Managem
has used the framework set forth in the reportledtiinternal Control — Integrated Framework (20r&imework)” published by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission to evaluate the effectiveness ofirdarnal control over financial
reporting. Based on its evaluation, managementbasluded that our internal control over financggorting was effective as of December
2014, the end of our most recent fiscal year.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting identified in management’s exalon pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15c
15(d) of the Exchange Act during the quarter erddedember 31, 2014 that materially affected, omraasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

Information required by this item will be containi@dour definitive proxy statement to be filed witte Securities and Exchange Commissic
connection with our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stocktesk, or the Definitive Proxy Statement, and whscaxpected to be filed not later than
120 days after the end of our fiscal year endeceBbéer 31, 2014, under the headings “Election oé®ars,” “Corporate Governance and

Other Matters,” “Executive Officers,” and “Secti@6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complian@d is incorporated herein by referer

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsEtiat applies to our officers, directors and eygés which is available on our internet
website at www.evokepharma.com. The Code of Busifimmduct and Ethics contains general guidelinesdoducting the business of our
company consistent with the highest standards sifiless ethics, and is intended to qualify as aéafcethics” within the meaning of

Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 aeth K06 of Regulation S-K. In addition, we intengptomptly disclose (1) the nature of
any amendment to our Code of Business Conduct #ridsEhat applies to our principal executive agficprincipal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller or persons perforgnsimilar functions and (2) the nature of anyweaj including an implicit waiver, from a
provision of our code of ethics that is grantede of these specified officers, the name of surhgn who is granted the waiver and the date
of the waiver on our website in the future.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item will be containiedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegdiBxecutive Compensation and Other
Information” and is incorporated herein by refer@nc

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item will be containedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegditSecurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” and is incormatdterein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactios and Director Independence

Information required by this item will be containedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegditCertain Relationships and Related
Party Transactions” and “Independence of the Boaidirectors” and is incorporated herein by refesn

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information required by this item will be containiedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegdindependent Registered Public
Accounting Firm’s Fees” and is incorporated hetwjrreference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents filed as part of this report.

1. Financial Statementd.he following financial statements of Evoke Pharina,, together with the report thereon of BDO USAP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,iackuded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimo 56
Balance Sheet 57
Statements of Operatio 58
Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and $imdeer! Equity (Deficit) 59
Statements of Cash Flo 60
Notes to Financial Statemer 61

2. Financial Statement Schedules.

None.

3. Exhibits.

A list of exhibits to this Annual Report on Form-KOs set forth on the Exhibit Index immediatelyepeding such exhibits and is
incorporated herein by reference.

(b) See Exhibit Index.

(c) See Item 15(a)(2) above.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Evoke Pharma, Inc.
Solana Beach, CA

We have audited the accompanying balance she&goe Pharma, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and @0d 3he related statements of
operations, convertible preferred stock and stoltidre’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for eachtloé two years in the period ended Decembe
31, 2014. These financial statements are the redigibity of the Company’s management. Our respdtifsilis to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hamewere we engaged to perform, an audit of tisrimal control over financial

reporting. Our audits included consideration &¢inal control over financial reporting as a bédsisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tinppse of expressing an opinion on the effectivenéshe Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nolsopinion. An audit also includes examining, aest basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemastessing the accounting principles used andfisemt estimates made by management, a
well as evaluating the overall financial statemaneisentation. We believe that our audits provideasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Evoke Pharma, Inc. at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results opisations and its cash flows for each of the teary in the period ended December 31,
2014, in conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue @silag concern. As described in Not
to the financial statements, the Company has sdfezcurring losses from operations that raisetanbial doubt about its ability to continue as

a going concern. Management's plans in regarddseimatters are also described in Note 1. Thediabstatements do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcoméehief tincertainty. Our opinion is not modified withspect to this matter.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

San Diego, CA
March 4, 2015

56




Evoke Pharma, Inc.

Balance Sheets

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Prepaid expenst
Other current asse

Total current asse

Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expet
Accrued compensatic
Other current liabilitie:
Current portion of lon-term debt
Total current liabilities
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portic
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Stockholders' equity

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; authorizedeshar 5,000,000
at December 31, 2014 and 2013; issued and adistashares —
0 at December 31, 2014 and 2(

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; authorized shar&®,000,000
at December 31, 2014 and 2013; issued and adiatashares —
6,112,091 and 6,096,752 at December 31, 2014 at®, 28spectivel

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated defici

Total stockholders' equi
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ

See accompanying notes.
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December 31

2014 2013
$ 14,155,80' $ 24,196,69
931,46° 234,26:
161,43¢ —
15,248,701 24,430,95:
53,02¢ 555,50¢
$ 15,301,72' $ 24,986,45!
$ 1,011,62¢ $ 284,91¢
697,24¢ 557,39¢
12,31¢ —
150,43 1,442 59:
1,871,61 2,284,90(
— 6,83(
4,241 448 1,511,46:
6,113,06! 3,803,19°
611 610
45,127,20: 43,874,11
(35,939,14)) (22,691,46))
9,188,66- 21,183,26.
$ 15,301,72 $ 24,986 45!




Evoke Pharma, Inc.

Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
Operating expense

Research and developmt $ 9,991,85! $ 956,98(

General and administrati 3,158,17¢ 1,644,84!
Total operating expens 13,150,03 2,601,82!
Loss from operation (13,150,039 (2,601,829
Other income (expense

Interest incomt 10,187 7,24¢

Interest expens (107,839 (159,88

Change in fair value of warrant liabili — (82,000
Total other expens (97,647 (234,637)
Net loss $ (13,247,68) $ (2,836,46!)
Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ (2.20) $ (1.20)
Weightec-average shares used to compute basic and dilutéolsseper shar 6,032,56( 2,368,00¢

See accompanying notes.
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Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stodiolders’ Equity (Deficit)

Balance at December 31, 20

Stoclk-based compensation expel
Conversion of shares of preferred stoc
to common stoc
Initial public offering of common stock
at $12.00 per share,

net of $3,859,052 of offering co
Reclassification of warrant liabilit
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Stoclk-based compensation expel
Issuance of common stock upon exerc
of warrant

Issuance of common stock upon exerc
of stock optior

Issuance of common stock from
employee stock purchase pl

Fair market value of issued warr:

Net loss

Balance of December 31, 20

Evoke Pharma, Inc.

Additional Total
Series A Convertible Paid-In Accumulated  Shareholders'
Preferred Stock Common Stock Capital Deficit Equity
Shares Amount Shares  Amount
12,195,06! $ 18,225,16( | 1,242,75( $ 124 $ 195,52¢ $(19,855,00) $(19,659,35)
— — — — 145,96¢ — 145,96¢
(12,195,06) (18,225,16) | 2,439,00; 244 18,224,92 —  18,225,16!
— — | 2,415,00( 242 25,120,70! —  25,120,94i
— — — — 187,00( — 187,00(
— — — — —  (2,836,46) (2,836,46Y)
— — | 6,096,75: 610 43,874,11' (22,691,46) 21,183,26:
— — — — 1,102,08 — 1,102,08
— — 2,79t — — — —
— — 5,25C — 1,522 — 1,52z
— — 7,294 1 41,352 — 41,35¢
— — — — 108,12: — 108,12:
— — — — — (13,247,68) (13,247,68)

6,112,09. $ 611 $45,127,20. $(35,939,14) $ 9,188,66-

See accompanying notes.
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Evoke Pharma, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Operating activities
Net loss $ (13,247,68) $ (2,836,46!)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Stocl-based compensation expel 1,102,08 145,96¢
Non-cash interes 59,98 23,261
Change in fair value of warrant liabili — 82,00(
Deferred rent expen: 5,482 6,83C
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Prepaid expenses and other as (287,507) (234,267)
Other asset (555,505
Accounts payable and accrued expet 866,56( 327,90t
Net cash used in operating activit $ (11,501,07) (3,040,27()
Financing activities
Proceeds from bank line of cre 4,500,00( 2,000,00(
Payment on bank line of cret (3,000,000 —
Costs paid in connection with loan originat (82,68%) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 42,87¢ 25,120,94!
Net cash provided by financing activiti 1,460,19( 27,120,94:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (10,040,88) 24,080,67!
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 24,196,69: 116,01:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 14,155,80' $ 24,196,69:
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paic $ 58,79C $ 128,87t
Non-cash financing activities
Issuance of Series A Convertible Preferred Stockamas — $ 49,00(
Conversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stockommon stock
at the initial public offerin — 3 18,225,16!

See accompanying notes.
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Evoke Pharma, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Evoke Pharma, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporéatetthe state of Delaware on January 29, 2007.Add¢mpany is a publicly-held specialty
pharmaceutical company focused primarily on theettyment of drugs to treat gastroenterologicalrdiss and disease.

Since its inception, the Company has devoted sntiglig all of its efforts to product developmerajsing capital and building infrastructure,
and has not realized revenues from its plannecipahoperations. The Company does not anticipeda#zing revenues for the foreseeable
future. The Company’s activities are subject tosigant risks and uncertainties, including funditgyoperations beyond the completion of its
ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial for EVK-001.

In its report on the Company’s financial statemdatghe year ended December 31, 2014, our indegrerrégistered public accounting firm
included an explanatory paragraph expressing sutietdoubt regarding our ability to continue agaeng concern, which contemplates the
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liitéds in the normal course of business. The Camgeas experienced significant losses since it
inception, including net losses of $13.2 milliordB2.8 million for the years ended December 314281d 2013, respectively. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company had an accumulafemt @f $35.9 million, approximately $14.2 millioin cash and cash equivalents, and
$4.5 million in borrowings under its bank creditifay. Substantially all the Company’s net los$@we resulted from costs incurred in
connection with its research and development progrand its general and administrative costs to@agperations. The Comparsynet losse
may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarderd year to year.

The Company expects to continue to incur net lokseat least the next several years. Over thabgethe Company will need to raise
additional debt or equity financing to fund its éilpment. If the Company is not able to secure aafegadditional funding, the Company may
be forced to make reductions in spending, exteydhpat terms with suppliers, and/or suspend or dyf@nned programs. Any of these
actions could materially harm the Company’s businessults of operations, financial condition antlife prospects.

In the quarter ended June 30, 2014, the Compaty adoptedASU No. 2014-10, Development Stage Entities (T@jig: Elimination of
Certain Financial Reporting Requirements, IncludasgAmendment to Variable Interest Entities GuidgincTopic 810, ConsolidatioRlease
refer to Note 2 for further details.

On June 13, 2013, the Company’s board of dire@ppoved an amendment to the restated certifidateorporation to effect a one-for-five
reverse stock split of the Company’s common sttio& (Reverse Stock Split".he amendment effecting the Reverse Stock Splitapasove(
by the stockholders on August 29, 2013. The parevahd the authorized shares of the common ancedilslie preferred stock were not
adjusted as a result of the Reverse Stock Spliisglied and outstanding common stock and the esioreratio of the convertible preferred
stock have been retroactively adjusted to refleistReverse Stock Split for all periods presenide Reverse Stock Split was effected on
August 30, 2013.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements have begraped in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statememsconformity with GAAP requires management to mekémates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liadsligind disclosure of contingent assets and ligsilit the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of expenses during the reygopiériod. Actual results could differ materialtpiih those estimates.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are identified as componerds ehterprise about which separate discrete finhimfbrmation is available for evaluation
by the chief operating decision-maker in makingisleos regarding resource allocation and asseggrfgrmance. The Company views its
operations and manages its business in one opgsE@mMent operating in the United States.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith an original maturity of three months or Iésam the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents includeinagladily available checking and savings accaunts
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of all financial instrumergjuding accounts payable and accrued expensdsraployee-related liabilities are
considered to be representative of their respeédiveralues because of the sht@tm nature of those instruments. Based on theotamg rate:
currently available to the Company for loans withikar terms, the Company believes that the falugaf long-term debt approximates its
carrying value.

Concentrations of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to significant credit risk consist primpiif cash and cash equivalents. The
Company maintains deposits in a federally insuneafcial institution in excess of federally insuttedits. The Company has established
guidelines designed to maintain safety and liqujdiais not experienced any losses in such accaudtbelieves the exposure to significant
to the cash balance is minimal.

The Company also relies on clinical research omgditins (“CROs”) to manage and recruit patientstioclinical trials. If these CROs are
unable to continue managing the clinical trialsagg unable to recruit the sufficient number ofgyas, the delays could adversely affect the
completion of the trials and the timing of therfdi of our new drug application with the U.S. Food &rug Administration (“FDA").

In addition, the Company relies on third-party nfaturers for the production of its drug candid#it¢he third-party manufacturers are unable
to continue manufacturing the Company’s drug caagidor if the Company loses one of its sole sosuppliers used in its manufacturing
processes, the Company may not be able to me&tatlirial supply demand for its product candidatel the development of the product
candidate could be materially and adversely aftecte

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering cost of approximately $138,000jak primarily consist of legal, accounting andhfij fees relating to the Company’s Form
S-3 filed in November 2014, have been capitalizedi @e included in other current assets as of DbeeBil, 2014 on the accompanying
balance sheet. The deferred offering costs wilbbfiget against the proceeds from the January 2€#&g described in Note 6.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stockbased compensation expense for stock option gamate€mployee stock purchase plan shares is recatdbd estimated fair value of t
award as of the grant date and is recognized anegpon a straight-line basis over the employegsisite service period. The estimation of
stock option and employee stock purchase plarvédire requires management to make estimates agchprts about, among other things,
employee exercise behavior, forfeiture rates andtiity of the Company’s common stock. The judgnsedirectly affect the amount of
compensation expense that will be recognized.

Prior to the Company’s initial public offering (“0%), the Company granted stock options to purcltasemon stock to employees with
exercise prices equal to the value of the undaglgilock, as determined by the board of directortherdate the equity award was granted. The
board of directors determined the fair value ofuhderlying common stock by considering a numbdactors, including historical and
projected financial results, the risks the Compiaogd at the time, the preferences of the Compangferred stockholders and the lack of
liquidity of the Company’s common stock. Subsequerihe IPO, the exercise price of the stock opgtigranted to employees and members of
the board of directors of the Company was deterchinethe Company’s closing market price on the tlaestock options were granted.

T he risk-free interest rate assumption was basedtewield of an applicable rate for U.S. Treasmstiuments with maturities similar to those
of the expected term of the award being valued. Wighted average expected term of options and@mplstock purchases was calculated
using the simplified method as prescribed by actingrguidance for stockased compensation. This decision was based dadkef relevan
historical data due to the Company’s limited hist@rexperience. In addition, due to the Compaligigted historical data, the estimated
volatility was calculated based upon the Compahissorical volatility, supplemented with historicadlatility of comparable companies in the
biotechnology industry whose share prices are plytdivailable for a sufficient period of time. Thesumed dividend yield was based on the
Company never paying cash dividends and having<pedation of paying cash dividends in the foreblefuture.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed adheand primarily include compensation and reldtedefits, stock-based compensation
expense, costs paid to third-party contractorsetfopm research, conduct clinical trials and depeloug materials and
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delivery devices. The Company expenses costsngladithe purchase and production of pre-approwedntories as research and developmen
expense in the period incurred until FDA approgaidceived.

The Company bases its expense accruals relatdidittabstudies on estimates of the services ramkand efforts expended pursuant to
contracts with multiple research institutions ariRI®3 that conduct and manage clinical studies dpeitalf. The financial terms of these
agreements vary from contract to contract and reaylt in uneven payment flows. Payments under safrtteese contracts depend on factors,
such as the successful enroliment of patientsjrsttation and the completion of clinical studyleastones. Service providers typically invoice
the Company monthly in arrears for services peréatnin accruing service fees, the Company estintateme period over which services
will be performed and the level of effort to be erged in each period. If the Company does notiiyecasts that have begun to be incurrec
if the Company underestimates or overestimateketred of services performed or the costs of theseices, actual expenses could differ
materially from estimates. To date, the Companyrteaexperienced significant changes in estimatesaued research and development
expenses after a reporting period. However, dikemature of estimates, no assurance can be aidehianges to the estimates will not be
made in the future as the Company becomes awa@ditional information about the status or condifatlinical studies and other research
activities.

The Company does not own or operate manufactuaaigjitfes for the production of EVK-001, nor do¢plan to develop its own
manufacturing operations in the foreseeable fufline. Company currently depends on third-party @mitmanufacturers for all of its required
raw materials, drug substance and finished profdudts preclinical research and clinical trials1eTCompany does not have any current
contractual relationships for the manufacture ehoeercial supplies of EVK-001. If EVK-001 is appravBy any regulatory agency, the
Company intends to enter into agreements with théndy contract manufacturers for the commerciabpction at that time. The Company
currently utilizes a third-party consultant, whitlengages on an as-needed, hourly basis, to matsag@nufacturing contractors.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeASC 740 /ncome TaxesUnder ASC 740, deferred tax assets and liaksliteflect
the future tax consequences of the differencesdmithe financial reporting and tax basis of asmsdsliabilities using current enacted tax
rates. The Company provides a valuation allowageénat net deferred tax assets unless, based bpavailable evidence, it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will be zedli

The Company’s policy related to accounting for utaiaty in income taxes prescribes a recognitiorghold and measurement attributed
criteria for the financial statement recognitiordaneasurement of tax positions taken or expectée taken in a tax return. For those benefits
to be recognized, a tax position must be moreylikehn not to be sustained upon examination bywtaauthorities.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividivegnet loss by the weighted-average number of comshares outstanding for the period,
without consideration for common stock equivaleanid adjusted for the weighted-average number ohommshares outstanding that are
subject to repurchase. The Company has excludé@5@nd 103,750 weighted-average shares subjesptochase from the weightederag:
number of common shares outstanding for the yedectDecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. &llaet loss per share is calculated by
dividing the net loss by the weighted-average nurobeommon share equivalents outstanding for #réod determined using the treasury-
stock method. Dilutive common stock equivalentscamaprised of warrants for the purchase of comnocks options outstanding under the
Company’s equity incentive plans and potential ehao be purchased under the Company’s employek gtwchase plan. For the periods
presented, there is no difference in the numbshafes used to calculate basic and diluted shatstanding due to the Company’s net loss
position.

The following table sets forth the outstanding ptitely dilutive securities that have been exclufiedn the calculation of diluted net loss per
share because to do so would be anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Warrants to purchase common sti 118,88! 106,00(
Common stock option 683,50( 624,75(
Employee stock purchase pl 12,621 —
Total excluded securitie 815,00¢ 730,75(
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8¢*FASB”) issued an Accounting Standards Upd&&U”) No. 2014-10,Developmer
Stage Entities (Topic 915): Elimination of Cert&iimancial Reporting Requirements, Including an Adreant to Variable Interest Entities
Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidatiofhis guidance removes the definition of a developinséage entity from FASB’s accounting standards
codification, thereby removing the financial refrogtdistinction between development stage entdigd other reporting entities from U.S.
GAAP. In addition, the guidance eliminates the iegquents for development stage entities to (1)gremception-to-date information in the
statements of income, cash flows and stockholasysity, (2) label the financial statements as trafsee development stage entity, (3) disclo
description of the development stage activitiegliich the entity is engaged, and (4) disclose @fitst year in which the entity is no longer a
development stage entity that in prior years it badn in the development stage. The guidance beceffextive in the first annual period
beginning after December 15, 2014, with an optmmefarly adoption. The Company chose to early attopistandard during the quarter endec
June 30, 2014.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 201483@ck Compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for 8Hased Payments When the Terms of an
Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Beiéwed after the Requisite Service Pel. This guidance requires that a performance
target included in a share-based payment awardhffesits vesting and that could be achieved dferéquisite service period be treated as a
performance condition. Therefore, such performdamget should not be reflected in estimating ttagdate fair value of the award. A
reporting entity should apply existing guidancd opic 718 as it relates to the award with perforogaconditions that affect vesting. That is,
compensation cost should be recognized in the gp@miavhich it becomes probable that the performammaition would be achieved and
should represent the compensation cost attributakitee period(s) for which the requisite servies hlready been rendered. If the perform
target becomes probable of being achieved beferertd of the requisite service period, the remginimrecognized compensation cost should
be recognized prospectively over the remaining istiguservice period. The total amount of compédnsatost recognized during and after the
requisite service period should reflect the nundieawards that are expected to vest and would jstadl to reflect those awards that
ultimately vest. Entities may apply the amendméntbis Update either (a) prospectively to all adgagranted or modified after the effective
date or (b) retrospectively to all awards with perfance targets that are outstanding as of theabiggj of the earliest annual period presented
in the financial statements and to all new or medifiwards thereafter. If retrospective transit®adopted, the cumulative effect of applying
this Update as of the beginning of the earliesuahperiod presented in the financial statemensilshbe recognized as an adjustment to the
opening retained earnings balance at that dateitiddadlly, if retrospective transition is adopteah entity may use hindsight in measuring and
recognizing the compensation cost. The guidaneéféstive for annual periods and interim periodghim those annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2015 with early adoption permittece Tlompany is currently evaluating the impact of tiwidance and expects to adopt the
standard for the annual reporting period ended Déee 31, 2016.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15 (Sulbt@p5-40),Presentation of Financial Statementisclosure of Uncertainties about an
Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Conceifhe guidance requires management to evaluate witbbre are conditions and events that
raise substantial doubt about the entity’s abttitgontinue as a going concern within one yearr dfie financial statements are issued (or
available to be issued when applicable). Manageméibe required to make this evaluation for batinual and interim reporting periods and
will have to make certain disclosures if it con@adhat substantial doubt exists or when its pidlesiate substantial doubt about the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Substauigaibt exists when relevant conditions and eveatssidered in the aggregate, indicate that it
is probable that the entity will be unable to migbbligations as they become due within one yé@r the date that the financial statement
issued (or available to be issued). The term prighighused consistently with its use in ASC To0 AContingenciesThe guidance is effecti
for annual periods ending after December 15, 20itbfar interim reporting periods starting in thesfiquarter 2017, with early adoption
permitted. The Company is currently evaluatingithpact of this guidance and expects to adopt #uedstrd for the annual reporting period
ended December 31, 2016.

3. Debt

In June 2012, the Company entered into a $3 milbam and security agreement with Silicon ValleywnB§'SVB"), collateralized by the
Company’s personal property. The agreement alstacmd non-financial covenants. By January 2018 Gbmpany had been advanced the
entire $3 million. Interest on advances under tire@ment was at a fixed interest rate equal to%4.3vances under the loan and security
agreement had an interest-only period through Deeeidl, 2013, and had a 24-month payback periddctdramenced in January 2014. On
May 23, 2014, the Company repaid the outstandimgimal and accrued interest of approximately $8ilion to SVB. In addition, the
Company expensed approximately $38,000 of unaneariilebt discount costs upon the repayment of tre laVith such payoff, the SVB loan
agreement and the documents entered into in caoneaberewith were deemed to be terminated. SVBGugty interest in substantially all of
the Company’s assets was also terminated.

On May 28, 2014 (the “closing date”), the Companteead into a loan and security agreement (thedicfacility”) with Square 1 Bank
(“Square 1), pursuant to which Square 1 agreadd&e term loans available to the Company for gémeraorate and working capital
purposes and for capital expenditures, in a prai@pmount of up to $4.5 million.
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In December 2014, the Company drew down the efitir® million. The credit facility bears interesteafixed annual rate of 5.50%. The
Company is required to make interest-only paym#émtsugh November 28, 2015 on the credit facilitieToutstanding principal balance plus
interest will begin amortizing at the end of theemestenly period, with monthly payments of principal anterest being made by the Comp
to Square 1 in consecutive monthly installmentkfaihg November 28, 2015 until the credit facilityatures on November 28, 2017. At the
Company’s option, it may prepay the outstandinggpial balance of the credit facility before NoveamB8, 2017 without penalty or premium.

The credit facility includes affirmative and negaticovenants applicable to the Company and anyidiahiss it creates in the future. The
affirmative covenants include, among others, comeneequiring the Company to maintain its legakexice and governmental approvals,
deliver certain financial reports, maintain inswrarcoverage and meet certain covenants with regpeatrollment and results of its EVK-001
Phase 3 trial. After the Company receives positdgelts from the Phase 3 trial, if at all, it magher maintain a ratio of its cash at Square 1 tc
its cash burn over the preceding month of at [84%1 to 1.00, or it must deliver evidence of aliodming financing or strategic partnership
arrangement to Square 1, in each case in an arsatisfiactory to Square 1. The negative covenantade, among others, restrictions on the
Company’s transferring collateral, incurring aduli@l indebtedness, engaging in mergers or acquisitipaying dividends or making other
distributions, making investments, creating liend aelling assets, in each case subject to cersaieptions.

The credit facility also includes events of defatlie occurrence and continuation of which pro\dgare 1 with the right to exercise remedie:
against the Company and the collateral securingettme loans under the credit facility, includingdolosure against the Company’s properties
securing the credit facilities, including its ca3hese events of default include, among other tittge Company'’s failure to pay any amounts
due under the credit facility, a breach of covesamtder the credit facility, the Company’s insoleygra material adverse change, the
occurrence of any default under certain other itefifiiess in an amount greater than $400,000 amdlgddgment against the Company in an
amount greater than $400,000.

In connection with the funding of the term loarg thompany issued to Square 1 a warrant to pur@881 shares of the Compasgommoi
stock at an exercise price of $5.90 per share;ld®ng price of the Company’s common stock ondég of funding of the credit facility. The
warrant expires ten years from its date of issualfi¢he warrant has not been exercised priord@xpiration date, it will be deemed to
automatically convert by “cashless” conversiontha event that the Company is acquired, the wawéhbe exercisable or deemed
automatically converted, which shall be determibasged upon whether the Company’s successor asshenelligations of the warrant.

The estimated fair value of the warrant issuedgoa®e 1 was determined on the date of issuancg tisnBlack-Scholes option-pricing
valuation model with the following assumptions:

Risk free interest rai 2.17%
Expected warrant teri 10 Years
Expected volatility of common stoc 77.19%
Expected dividend yiel 0.00%

The value determined for the warrant of $108,12216&en recorded as a debt discount, as well agittye The debt discount will be amorti:
to interest expense over the remaining term ofdhe.

The Company incurred approximately $83,000 of loagination costs related to this credit facili§uch costs have been capitalized and are
being amortized to interest expense over the 42hmenm of the credit facility.

Future maturities of long-term debt and intereginpants under the credit facility as of DecemberZi14 are set forth below:

2015 436,37:
2016 2,433,50!
2017 2,119,93!

Total minimum paymen 4,989,81!
Less amounts representing intel (489,81%)
Gross balance of outstanding d $ 4,500,00(
Less debt discour® (108,127)
Total carrying value $ 4,391,87¢
Less current portio (150,43()
Total carrying value, lor-term portion $ 4,241,44¢

(1) Represents the initial fair value of the dbtae warrants to purchase common stock issuedninection with the term debt, net of
amortization,
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Total interest incurred under the loan and secagiyeements for the years ended December 31, 201204 3 (excluding amortization of debt
discount and loan origination costs) was $47,165%l86,625, respectively.

4 . Commitments

In November 2013, the Company entered into an ¢dpgriease for office space in Solana Beach, Cailifo The lease commenced on
December 1, 2013 and will expire on December 3152@lIthough rent payments did not commence urgit&nber 2013, the Company took
possession of the facility in November 2013 to mimte the facility. The lease contains annual iaoteases and the Company received lease
incentives in the form of rent abatements and aingpallowance.

The Company recognizes minimum rent payments, &soalclauses and lease incentives on a straigatbasis over the term of its operating
lease. Prior to entering into the facility leases Company temporarily leased office space on dalmimamonth basis and recognized the
expense as incurred.

Rent expense for 2014 and 2013 was $81,086 an8&&@&spectively. The difference between the mimmease payments and the straight-
line amount is accounted for as deferred rent. Dederent expense at December 31, 2014 and 2013$1233813 and $6,830, respectively. The
Company also pays pass through costs and utilgiscavhich are expensed as incurred.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has futurénmim lease payments under its operating leaseif 20$93,399.

5. Technology Acquisition Agreement

In June 2007, the Company acquired all worldwidéts, data, patents and other related assets atsbuiith EVK-001 from Questcor
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Questcor”) pursuant to asek Purchase Agreement. The Company paid Quekgb6r000 in the form of an upfront
payment and $500,000 in May 2014 as a milestonmpaybased upon the initiation of the first pati@osing in the Company’s Phase 3
clinical trial for EVK-001. In August 2014, Mallokrodt, plc, (“Mallinckrodt”) acquired Questcor.sAa result of that acquisition, Questcor
transferred its rights included in the Asset PusehAgreement with the Company to Mallinckrodt.atidition to the payments made to
Questcor, the Company may also be required to mddé#ional milestone payments totaling up to $5tillion. These milestones include ug
$4.5 million in payments if EVK-001 achieves thddwing development targets:

e  $1.5 million upon the FD's acceptance for review of a new drug applicatmwrElVK-001; anc

e  $3 million upon the FD/'s approval of EVI-001.

The remaining $47 million in milestone paymentset@on EVK-001's commercial success and will ordpls if EVK-001 receives
regulatory approval. In addition, the Company Wwél required to pay to Mallinckrodt a low singlgitiroyalty on net sales of EVK-001. The
Company’s obligation to pay such royalties willnhénate upon the expiration of the last patent rightering EVK-001, which is expected to
occur in 2030.

6. Preferred Stock, Common Stock and Stockholder€quity
Preferred Stock

Under the Company’s amended and restated ceréfmfaincorporation, the Company is authorized $o1és5,000,000 shares of preferred stock
with a $0.0001 par value. No shares of preferredksivere outstanding as of December 31, 2014 08.201

Initial Public Offering

In September 2013, the Company completed the IP€etly it issued and sold 2,100,000 shares of constomk at a public offering price of
$12.00 per share. Concurrently with the completibthe IPO, all outstanding shares of convertilskefgrred stock were converted into
2,439,002 shares of the Company’s common stocladdfition, warrants to purchase 84,000 shareseo€tthmpany’s common stock were
issued to the representative of the underwritete@Company’s IPO and certain of its affiliatd$e warrants became exercisable at a price c
$21.00 per share beginning on September 24, 20d 4vdlnexpire on September 24, 2018. Finally, veats to purchase 110,000 shares of
convertible preferred stock were converted intoraats to purchase 22,000 shares of the Compangrisnam stock and upon this conversion
became classified as equity. In October 2013, tieowriters for the IPO exercised an option to pase 315,000 additional shares of the
Company’s common stock at $12.00 per share. Tetgbroceeds from the IPO, after deducting undéewdiscounts, commissions and other
offering expenses of $3.9 million, were $25.1 roitli
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Common Stock

As of December 31, 2014, there were 6,112,091 shafreommon stock outstanding. Each share of comstauk is entitled to one vote. The
holders of the common stock are also entitled ¢eik@ dividends whenever funds are legally avadlatrid when declared by the board of
directors of the Company. To date, no dividendsHaeen declared.

On November 13, 2014, the Company entered intotaviakket Sales Agreement (“Sales Agreement”) withW& Co. LLC (“MLV"),

pursuant to which the Company may sell from timérte, at its option, up to an aggregate of $6.6ianiof shares of common stock through
MLV, as sales agent. The sales of shares of thep@ogis common stock made through this equity pnogaee made in “at-the-market”
offerings as defined in Rule 415 of the Securifies As of December 31, 2014, the Company hads®tdd any shares of its common stock
pursuant to the Sales Agreement. In January 26&5Cbmpany sold 25,000 shares of common stockvaighted average price per share of
$6.74 pursuant to the Sales Agreement and receieproceeds of approximately $163,000, net of c@sions and fees. The Company
intends to use the net proceeds to continue toiftsrmhgoing Phase 3 clinical trial and for genexaporate purposes. The Company currently
has the capacity to issue up to approximately 86ldbn of additional shares of common stock purdua the Sales Agreement.

Future sales will depend on a variety of factoduding, but not limited to, market conditions, tinading price of the Company’s common
stock and the Company’s capital needs. Althougbssal the Company’s common stock have taken placgupnt to the Sales Agreement,
there can be no assurance that MLV will be sucaésstonsummating future sales based on prevaitiagket conditions or in the quantities
at the prices that the Company deems appropriatéetcurrent SEC regulations, at any time duringclvkthe aggregate market value of the
Company’s common stock held by non-affiliates, oblg float, is less than $75.0 million, the amotive Company can raise through primary
public offerings of securities in any twelve-motériod using shelf registration statements, ineclgdiales under the Sales Agreement, is
limited to an aggregate of one-third of the Compsupyblic float. As of November 11, 2014, the Comya public float was 2.9 million
shares, the value of which was $20.0 million bagaah the closing price of the Company’s commonlstdc$6.86 on such date. The value of
one-third of the Company’s public float calculatedthe same basis was $6.6 million.

In addition, the Company will not be able to malitufe sales of common stock pursuant to the Sajgeeent unless certain conditions are
met, which include the accuracy of representaténswarranties made to MLV under the Sales Agreénr@mthermore, MLV is permitted to
terminate the Sales Agreement in its sole disanatjpon ten daysiotice, or at any time in certain circumstancesluiting the occurrence of
event that would be reasonably likely to have aemaitadverse effect on the Company’s assets, essjoperations, earnings, properties,
condition (financial or otherwise), prospects, ktumders’ equity or results of operations. The Camphas no obligation to sell the remaining
shares available for sale pursuant to the Salesehgent.

Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purchase comstockito banks that have loaned funds to the Comewell as to representatives of
the underwriters of the Company’s initial publidesfng and certain of its affiliates. A summarytbé Company’s warrant activity is as
follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual
Shares Price Term (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 106,00 $ 18.2C 5.13
Issued 22,881 $ 5.9C 10.0C
Exercisec (10,000 $ 7.5C 3.10
Expired/Forfeitec — — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 118,88. $ 16.7¢ 5.35

Stock Options

The Company adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Rlaa“2007 Plan”) in May 2007 under which 450,00@res of common stock were
reserved for issuance to employees, nonemployeetdis and consultants of the Company. As of Deeer8b, 2014, no options were
available for future grant under this plan.

In August 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Edundgntive Award Plan (the “2013 Plan”) as a susoe$o the 2007 Plan. Under the 2013
Plan, the Company may grant stock options, stopkemiation rights, restricted stock, restrictectktonits and other awards to individuals v
are then employees, officers, non-employee direaoconsultants of the Company. A total of
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510,000 shares of common stock were initially resgifor issuance under the 2013 Plan. In additlmnumber of shares of common stock
available for issuance under the 2013 Plan withiveually increased on the first day of each figealr during the term of the 2013 Plan,
beginning with the 2014 fiscal year, by an amountas to the least of: (i) 300,000 shares; (ii) fpercent of the outstanding shares of commo
stock as of the last day of the immediately prevgdiscal year; or (iii) such other amount as tlerpany’s board of directors may determine.
As a result of such calculation, the Company ineedathe number shares reserved for issuance ura2013 Plan by 243,870 shares. As of
December 31, 2014, 188,370 options remain avaifabliture grant under the 2013 Plan. On JantaB015, the Company further increasec
the number of shares reserved for issuance und&@h3 Plan by 244,484 shares, making 432,854 reptvailable for future grant under the
2013 Plan.

Options granted under the 2007 Plan and 2013 Riae ten year terms from the date of grant and gdélyerest over a one to four year period.
The Company granted options to purchase 64,006ah@00 shares of common stock in 2014 and 20%Bentively. The exercise price of all
options granted during the years ended Decembe2@@Y and 2013 was equal to the market value e gf the Company’s common stock
on the date of grant.

A summary of the Company’s stock option activitydanthe 2007 Plan and 2013 Plan is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Shares Price Term (Years) Intrinsic  Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 624,75 $ 7.61 841 $ 869,49(
Grantec 64,000 $ 7.65 9.35 —
Exercisec (5,250 $ 0.2¢ 27C % 33,81(
Expired/Forfeitec — — — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 683,50 $ 7.67 845 $ 649,00(
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 683,50 $ 7.67 845 $ 649,00(
Exercisable at December 31, 2((1) 259,081 $ 5.47 765 % 631,23

(1) Includes awards with early exercise provisions geamit optionee to exercise unvested opti

Except for the stock options exercised, the inicinalues above represent the aggregate valueedbthl pre-tax intrinsic value based upon a
common stock price of $5.90 and $7.45 at DecembeP@14 and 2013, respectively, and the contraexmicise prices. The intrinsic value
the stock option exercise is based upon a comnoak girice of $6.73 on the date of exercise.

The 2007 Plan permits the early exercise of optibnsthe Company has the option to repurchasaiamgsted shares at the original purchase
price (the exercise price paid by the purchaseshwgny voluntary or involuntary termination (“Rephiase Option”). The shares of common
stock issued from the exercise of stock optiongestricted and vest over time or on the achievemkcertain milestones. Any unvested
shares immediately vest in the event of terminatimmeasons other than cause, and vesting acteddrathe event of a merger, sale, or other
change in control of the Company. Of the total 880,stock options exercised, 287,000 and 230,508 wested as of December 31, 2014 anc
2013, respectively.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdiseas $33,810 and $0 for the years ended Decenmb@034 and 2013, respectively. There
was one option exercised in 2014 and no optionsceseal during 2013.

The Company had the following nonvested optionseutige 2007 Plan and 2013 Plan:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

Shares Per Share
Nonvested at December 31, 2C 534,21( $ 8.84
Grantec 64,00 $ 4.76
Vested (173,79) $ 7.9€
Expired/Forfeitec — —
Nonvested at December 31, 2C 424.41¢  $ 9.02
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense includes charigésd to stock option grants and employee stockhamses under the Company’s
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The @ommmeasures stock-based compensation expensedraelgrant-date fair value of
any awards granted to its employees. Such expsnsedgnized over the period of time that employeeside service and earn rights to the
awards.

The estimated fair value of each option award gémias determined on the date of grant using thekBScholes option-pricing valuation
model with the following weighted-average assumpgitor options grants during the two years endeceDdber 31, 2014:

The weighted average grant date fair value perstiaemployee stock options granted during thesyeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013,
was $4.76 and $6.33, respectively.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
Risk free interest rai 1.66%- 1.77% 1.75%- 1.8%
Expected option terr 5.5- 6.0 years 6.0 year:
Expected volatility of common stoc 71.06%- 73.21% 70.8%- 79.4%
Expected dividend yiel 0.00% 0.00%

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 13, 2013, the Company’s board of dire@dopted the ESPP, and the Company’s stockholderswegd the ESPP on August 29,
2013. The ESPP became effective on the day prittret@ffectiveness of the IPO. The ESPP permiticgaants to purchase the Company’s
common stock at 85% of the fair market value thifopgyroll deductions of up to 20% of their eligilciempensation. A total of 30,000 shares
of common stock were initially reserved for issuanoder the ESPP. In addition, the number of shEresmmon stock available for issuance
under the ESPP is annually increased on the fagtofl each fiscal year during the term of the EBPRn amount equal to the lesser of:

(i) 30,000 shares; (ii) one percent of the outsitasnghares of common stock as of the last dayefrtimediately preceding fiscal year; or

(iiif) such other amount as the Company’s boardirgfatiors may determine. As a result, the Compansefmsed the number shares reserved fol
issuance under the ESPP by 30,000 shares on Jahu0¢4. During 2014, 7,294 shares of commorksigre issued under the ESPP. As of
December 31, 2014, 52,706 shares remain availabfeture issuance under the ESPP. On Januarylb, 20e Company further increased the
number of shares reserved for future issuance thdee SPP by 30,000 shares, making 82,706 shaadalae for future issuance under the
ESPP after that increase.

The estimated fair value of the shares to be aeduinder the ESPP was determined on the initialéoe of each six month purchase period
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing valuationdalowith the following weighted-average assumptiftmidEESPP shares to be purchased
during the year ended December 31, 2014:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
Risk free interest rai 0.05%- 0.08% —
Expected tern 6.0 months —
Expected volatility of common stoc 69.32%- 73.21% —
Expected dividend yiel 0.00% —

The Company recognized non-cash stock-based comjimmgxpense to employees and directors in itsared and development and its
general and administrative functions as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Research and developme $ 410,15C $ 39,63¢
General and administrati 691,93" 106,32¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 1,102,08 $ 145,96¢

As of December 31, 2014, there was approximate/$22000 of unrecognized compensation costs retatedtstanding employee and board
of director options, which is expected to be red¢ognh over a weighted average period of 1.32 years.

69




Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuanc

Common stock reserved for future issuance consfgtse following at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

December 31,

2014 2013
Stock options issued and outstanc 683,50( 624,75(
Authorized for future option gran 188,37( 8,50C
Warrants to purchase common sti 118,88! 106,00(
Authorized for employee stock purchase [ 52,70¢ 30,00(
Total common stock reserved for future issue 1,043,45 769,25(

7. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has established a defined contribdiidrik) plan (the Plan) for all employees who arkeast 21 years of age. Employees are
eligible to participate in the Plan beginning oe thate of employment. Under the terms of the Rlarployees may make voluntary
contributions as a percentage of compensation Cidmpany’s contributions to the Plan are discretipnand no contributions have been made
by the Company to date. For the year ended DeceBihe014, the Company adopted Safe Harbor 40t@gigions and payments of
approximately $20,000 will be contributed to the@mts of certain employees in order to maintagRkan’s compliance with Internal
Revenue Service regulations.

8. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positiorectordance with Accounting Standards Codificafiopic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC
7407"). The application of income tax law and regigins is inherently complex. Interpretations gn@lance surrounding income tax laws and
regulations change over time. As such, changesiisubjective assumptions and judgments can ralljesiffect amounts recognized in our
financial statements.

The Company'’s policy is to recognize interest angénalties related to income tax matters in inctemeexpense. The Company had no
accrual for interest and penalties on the balaheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013. The Compaupjsct to taxation in the United States
and state jurisdictions, and the Company’s taxg/baginning 2007 to date are subject to examindyotaxing authorities. The Company does
not foresee material changes to its gross uncdrtaegme tax position liability within the next twel months.

A reconciliation of the federal statutory incomg tate and the effective income tax rate is a®¥adl for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013:

December 31

2014 2013

(%) (%)
Federal statutory ra 34.C 34.C
Change in valuation allowan (1.6) (2.5)
State income taxes, net of federal efi 5.8 5.8
Research and development cre 5.0 4.3
Removal of net operating loss and other cre (41.2) (39.5)
Stock compensation and other permanent it (2.0) (2.1)
Effective income tax rat 0.0 0.0

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Secti@2sa®d 383, annual use of the Company’s net opegriiss and research and development
credit carryforwards may be limited in the everuanulative change in ownership of more than 50%ucwithin a three-year period. The
Company has not completed an IRC Section 382/38B/sin regarding the limitation of net operatingd@nd research and development cred
carryforwards. Until this analysis has been congalethe Company has removed the deferred tax dssetst operating losses of
approximately $13.2 million and a research and ldgveent credit of approximately $1.6 million gertecathrough December 31, 2014 from
its deferred tax asset schedule, and has recordedesponding decrease to its valuation allowawdgen this analysis is finalized, the
Company plans to update its unrecognized tax bsrefcordingly. The Company does not expect thidyars to be completed within the next
twelve months and, as a result, the Company doesxpect that the unrecognized tax benefits widlraie within twelve months of this
reporting date. Due to the existence of the vabmadilowance, future changes in the Company’s wugeized tax benefits will not impact the
Company'’s effective tax rate.

70




Significant components of the Company’s deferredatssets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 are aw$ollo

December 31,

2014 2013
Acquired technolog' $ 317,00C $ 147,00(
Stock compensation exper 223,00( 67,00(C
Accruals and othe 105,00( 223,00(
Total deferred tax asse 645,00( 437,00(
Less valuation allowanc (645,000) (437,000
Net deferred tax asse $ — 3 —

At December 31, 2014, the Company has federal atitb@ia net operating loss carryforwards of apgimately $33.2 million and $32.5
million, respectively. The federal and Californiss$ carryforwards begin to expire in 2027 and 2@dspectively, unless previously utilized.
The Company also has federal and California rebdasccredit carryforwards of approximately $1.1liom and $737,000, respectively. The
federal research credit carryforwards will begipierg in 2027 unless previously utilized. The @atnia research credit will carry forward
indefinitely.

9. Related Party Transactions

An officer of the Company serves on the executiemagement team of a CRO that provides clinicdl $8avices to the Company. For the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Conpaunyed an aggregate of approximately $255,0@D%in200, respectively, in fees
these services. As of December 31, 2014 and 2@t®unts payable included approximately $22,0008ndespectively.

10. Subsequent Events

For the purposes of the financial statements &@eckmber 31, 2014 and the year then ended, the &ontas evaluated subsequent events
through the date the audited annual financial statés were issued. The Company has concluded ehaibsequent event has occurred other
than what has been disclosed.

11. Summarized Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflects all p$tments, which include only normal recurring atljipents, which are, in the opinion of
management, necessary for a fair statement ofrihadial results of the interim periods. Summarigadrterly data for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

For the Quarters Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31

2014
Research and development expe $ 1,852,111t $ 287497 $ 3,088,37. $ 2,176,38¢
General and administrative expel $ 1,070,47¢ $ 616,88¢ $ 732,80 $ 738,01:
Net loss $ (2,955,48) $ (3,547,040 $ (3,82535) $ (2,919,80)
Net loss per common share, basic and dil(1) $ 049 $ (059 $ (063 $ (0.48)
Weighted average shares outstanding,
basic and dilute 6,002,93( 6,027,67. 6,054,25( 6,065,84:
2013
Research and development expe $ 110,98: $ 130,84¢ $ 78,731 $ 636,42:
General and administrative expel $ 221,04¢ $ 72,57¢ % 406,86: $ 944,35¢
Net loss $ (493,997 $ (239,87) $ (485,909 $ (1,616,69)
Net loss per common share, basic and dil() $ (0.49) $ 0.21) $ 041 $ (0.27)
Weighted average shares outstanding,

basic and dilute 1,133,37! 1,137,12! 1,190,21. 5,971,23t

(1) Net loss per share is computed independently fon e&the quarters presented. Therefore, the duhreaquarterly pe-share calculations
will not necessarily equal the annual per shareutation.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentiedregistrant has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its Hdhathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EVOKE PHARMA, INC.

Date: March 4, 201 By: /s/ David A. Gonyer

David A. Gonyel
President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisdted.

Signature Title Date
/s/ David A. Gonye President, Chief Executive Officer and Directorirfpipal executive officer) March 4, 201¢
David A. Gonyer, R.Pt
/s/ Matthew J. I'Onofrio Executive Vice President, Chief Business OffilTreasure March 4, 201¢
Matthew J. [’ Onofrio and Secretary (principal financial and accountiffgcer)
/s/ Cam L. Garne Chairman of the Board of Directa March 4, 201¢

Cam L. Garne

/sl Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.[  Director March 4, 201¢
Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.L

s/ Scott L. Glent Director March 4, 201¢
Scott L. Glenr

/s/ Malcolm R. Hill, Pharm. C  Director March 4, 201¢
Malcolm R. Hill, Pharm. D

/s/ Ann D. Rhoad Director March 4, 201¢
Ann D. Rhoad:
/s Kenneth J. Widder, M.L Director March 4, 201¢

Kenneth J. Widder, M.C
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for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgbafiict of 1934 and are not to be incorporated bgremce into any filing of Company,
whether made before or after the date hereof, déggs of any general incorporation language in $iliok.



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémdeegistration Statements Form S-3 (No. 333-26D&nd Form S-8 (No. 13B91518) o
our report dated March 4, 2015, relating to tharicial statements of Evoke Pharma, Inc. which apipethis Form 10K. Our report contair
an explanatory paragraph regarding the Companyfiyaio continue as a going concern.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

San Diego, California
March 4, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David A. Gonyer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fkcvoke Pharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or eméttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financigbréing, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registratislosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the teai$'s internal control over financial reportirtat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anltlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 201 /s/ David A. Gonyer
David A. Gonyel
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Matthew J. D’Onofrio, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fkcvoke Pharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or eméttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financigbréing, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registratislosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the teai$'s internal control over financial reportirtat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anltlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 201 /s/ Matthew J. I'Onofrio
Matthew J. [ Onofrio
Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer,
Treasurer and Secrete
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fkE@oke Pharma, Inc. (the “Company”) for the per@tted December 31, 2014 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiohe date hereof (the “Reportf),David A. Gonyer, President and Chief Executiviider
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Bect350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 od#drbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of teeusities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: March 4, 2015

/sl David A. Gonyer
David A. Gonyel
President and Chief Executive Offic

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.€35D, and is not being filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of4,3% amended, and is not to be incorporated leyene€e into any filing of the Company,
whether made before or after the date hereof, déggs of any general incorporation language in $ilioy. A signed original of this written
statement required by Section 906 has been provaitte Company and will be retained by the Compamy furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fkEwoke Pharma, Inc. (the “Company”) for the peratled December 31, 2014, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Matthew J. Didrio, Executive Vice President, Chief
Business Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of thm@2my, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 120adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knogtd

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of teeuBities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 4, 2015

/s/ Matthew J. I'Onofrio

Matthew J. [ Onofrio

Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer,
Treasurer and Secrete

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.€35D, and is not being filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of4,3% amended, and is not to be incorporated leyeete into any filing of the Company,
whether made before or after the date hereof, déggs of any general incorporation language in $ilioy. A signed original of this written
statement required by Section 906 has been provaitte Company and will be retained by the Compamy furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



